

# Electronic Thesis & Dissertation Collection

J. Oliver Buswell Jr. Library 12330 Conway Road Saint Louis, MO 63141

library.covenantseminary.edu

This document is distributed by Covenant Seminary under agreement with the author, who retains the copyright. Permission to further reproduce or distribute this document is not provided, except as permitted under fair use or other statutory exception.

The views presented in this document are solely the author's.

# Covenant Theological Seminary

# Pastors Developing Their Congregants Through Nurturing Leadership

By

# Jean-Jude Lors

A Dissertation Submitted to the Faculty of Covenant Theological Seminary in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Ministry

Saint Louis, Missouri

# Covenant Theological Seminary

# Pastors Developing Their Congregants Through Nurturing Leadership

A Dissertation Submitted to
the Faculty of Covenant Theological Seminary
in Candidacy for the Degree of
Doctor of Ministry

Ву

Jean-Jude Lors

Graduation Date

May 19, 2017

Dr. Bruce McRae, Faculty Advisor

Dr. Robbie Griggs, Second Reader

Dr. Philip D. Douglass, Director of DMin Program

#### **Abstract**

As church leaders, pastors mainly provide leadership in these stated roles: They administer church service programs; they conduct the worship service; they preach; they teach; they do marriage counseling; they resolve conflicts. However, as the literature suggests, pastors more and more spend time providing leadership in administration. With administration topping the list of pastoral duties, pastors understandably are not spending time nurturing and developing their congregants' spiritual potential. There is one area of pastoral leadership that has not been given much attention: pastoral nurturing leadership. Nurturing leadership is needed in order to develop and grow congregants spiritually. Therefore, the purpose of this research study was to investigate how senior pastors develop their congregants through nurturing leadership. Specifically, this study was to discover the nurturing skills that senior pastors use to develop spiritual renewal and gifts.

Four research questions structured and guided this study:

- 1. How do senior pastors develop their congregants in spiritual renewal?
- 2. How do senior pastors develop their congregants' spiritual gifts?
- 3. What are the challenges for senior pastors in developing their congregants through nurturing leadership?
- 4. What are the benefits of congregants developing through senior pastors' nurturing leadership?

This study utilized a qualitative design using semi-structured interview format.

The researcher interviewed eight senior ministers that are currently active in ministry and have been in the senior pastorate for at least ten years. The data was analyzed using the constant comparative method.

This study finds that pastors who develop their congregants through nurturing leadership help congregants grow spiritually and numerically. Pastors who utilize nurturing leadership also transform, renew, and develop their congregants' gifts. Finally, these pastors are more effective and become better leaders in their church.

# **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgements	viii
Chapter One Introduction	1
Problem Statement	7
Purpose Statement and Research Questions	8
Significance of the Study	9
Definition of Terms	9
Chapter Two Literature Review	11
Leadership	11
Spiritual Renewal	33
Spiritual Gifts Development	58
Biblical Theological Framework	76
Summary of Literature Review	88
Chapter Three Methodology	89
Design of the Study	89
Participant Sample Selection	91
Data Collection	92
Interview Questions	93
Data Analysis	94
Researcher Position	95
Limitations of the Study	96

Chapter Four Findings	97	
Introductions to Participants and Context		
The Findings		
How Do Senior Pastors Develop Their Congregants in Spiritual Renewal?	101	
How Do Senior Pastors Develop Their Congregants' Spiritual Gifts?	106	
What Are The Challenges for Pastors in Developing Congregants through Nurturing Leadership?	113	
What Are The Benefits of Congregants Developing through Senior Pastors' Nurturing Leadership?	119	
Summary	127	
Chapter Five Discussion and Recommendations	128	
Summary of the Study and Findings	128	
Discussion of Findings	129	
Recommendations for Practice	179	
Recommendations for Further Research	181	
Conclusion	182	
Bibliography	183	

#### Acknowledgements

First, I would like to dedicate this work to my wife who prepared the meal most of the time and picked up the kids from school during the last two months of this dissertation. Also, I dedicate this work to my two beautiful daughters who supported me with words of encouragement, always asking me "how are you doing? What page are you up to? When are you going to finish this book? I want to read this book when you are finished." They are my inspiration. I love them, and I thank them and my wife for their support.

I also want to acknowledge the wonderful professors and staff of Covenant Seminary for their encouragement and support during my three years at Covenant. I want to thank Mark Sandvig and John Patton who initially provided me with all the information that I needed to get accepted into the Doctor of Ministry program. I want to thank all the administrative staff working at the admission office, the registrar's office, and the business department. I want to thank Dr. Philip Douglass, our wonderful and excellent D.Min. Director for helping me go through the D.Min. program with his advice and encouragement. I want to thank another wonderful professor, my advisor, Dr. Bruce McRae who has been a catalyst in my passion for church renewal. I want to thank him personally for his personal words of encouragement to me. I want to thank Dr. Tasha Chapman for her help and her teaching delivery that made dissertation preparation less difficult. I also want to thank her for creating confidence in me through her positive remarks. I want to thank Dr. Mark Dalbey, the President of Covenant Seminary, for his course in leadership, and for giving me a new vision of what ministry leadership is about. In addition, I want to thank all the other Covenant Seminary professors, Dr. Jimmy Agan, Dr. Daniel Doriani, and Dr. Greg Perry, who taught me about spiritual formation, contemporary issues, evangelical theology, and church mission for the last three years. They made a difference in my learning. I want to thank the library staff, Steve Jamieson and Jim Pakala for their help and support by providing me with the information on how to access the literature sources. I want to thank Betsy Gasoske for her administrative help and support in more than one way, to Ms. Ally Henderson for her guidance and for keeping us up-to-date with our dissertation schedule and time management, and requirements. I also want to thank Leigh Ann for her great snacks during each of our week study at Covenant. Additionally, I want to thank Tim Messer for providing me with housing during my first cohort at Covenant.

I am as well indebted to all the pastors that I interviewed for this research study. I want to thank them for their time and their cooperation, and for providing me with the essential information needed to make this research findings possible. I was certainly blessed to have them be a part of this study.

I want to express a special thank you to my editor Ms. Elizabeth Hart for the excellent job that she did in the editing work of the dissertation. She was certainly the right person for this job. I believe she has been called to help me greatly in this endeavor.

In utmost consideration, I want to thank God and his Son Jesus Christ, who, through the Holy Spirit, has enabled me to go through the D.Min. program for the past three years. I praise his holy and glorious name. All honors are due unto him and unto his Son. Without him, it would have been totally impossible to complete the courses and this dissertation. He is worthy to receive all the power and the glory now and forever, Amen. Scripture taken from the New King James Version®. Copyright © 1982 by Thomas Nelson. Used by permission. All rights reserved.

## **Chapter One**

#### Introduction

It takes a special kind of pastoral leadership to shepherd congregants towards spiritual renewal and gifts development. This leadership is called nurturing leadership and is an essential element for pastors who want to develop their congregants.

Churches today are challenging their pastors to do more than lead from their vantage point or for the sole benefit of winning souls and bringing more tithes and offering in the church. Instead, pastors are increasingly expected to elevate their members to spiritual maturity and spiritual growth.

Historically, pastors have been known as leaders, shepherd, preachers, teachers, counselors, and administrators. A Pulpit & Pew research study on pastoral leadership entitled, *What Do Lay People Want in Pastors?* by Adair T. Lummis of the Hartford Institute for Religion Research for Duke University School of Religion, reported what lay and regional leaders wanted in their pastors as they lead their congregations. It states,

Lay and regional leaders also want pastors who can preach wonderful sermons, conduct inspiring worship services, competently teach, care, counsel, and console. In choosing a new pastor, search committees differ in the abilities and characteristics to which they give priority, based on their past experiences with clergy and a host of other factors and influences.<sup>1</sup>

As church leaders, pastors mainly provide leadership in these stated roles. They administer church service programs; they conduct service; they preach; they teach; they do marriage counseling; and they resolve conflicts. However, pastors tend to spend more

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Adair T. Lummis, "What Do Lay People Want in Pastors?" *Pulpit&Pew*, no. 3 (Winter 2003): 1.

time providing leadership in administration, as Edwards D. Rex, a writer for *Ministry Magazine Journal for Pastors*, states,

In Samuel Blizzard's study of ministerial roles, the ministers ranked the traditional roles of preacher, pastor, and priest as the most important and rewarding functions, while administration ranked next to last. On the other hand, when the ministers reported how much time was actually spent in the various functions, administration topped the list.<sup>2</sup>

Edwards D. Rex emphasizes—where pastors spend most of their time leading their congregants—is administratively. With administration topping the list of pastoral duties, pastors understandably are not spending time nurturing and developing their congregants' spiritual potential. Three leading scholars and seminary professors, Dr. Bob Burns, Dr. Tasha D. Chapman, and Dr. Donald C. Guthrie, explain the weight of administration and management that pastors face in their book, *Resilient Ministry*. Burns, et. al. write, "...most pastors dislike both leadership and management and would prefer delegating these responsibilities to someone else." They also state, "There is a certain weight of leadership and management that's just there all the time." Even necessary leadership and management/administration issues can create a weight in the pastors' obligation, which gives them less time to focus on nurturing the church.

Tim Woodruf, an executive pastor, talks about how much time pastors are spending with administration and how they also spend a lot of their time growing their church numerically and financially in his dissertation, *Perception of Leadership and Management Competencies Needed For Local Church Administration*. Woodruf writes,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Edwards D. Rex, "The Pastor as Church Administrator," *Ministry Internal Journal for Pastors* (November 1975): 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Bob Burns, Tasha D. Chapman and Donald C. Gutrie, *Resilient Ministry* (Downers Grove, IL: Intervarsity Press, 2013), 27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Ibid., 200.

"The growth of a church usually includes an increase in giving, congregants, professional staff members, and lay volunteer ministers." This growth, as previously stated, does not include spiritual nurturing, renewal, and gift-development. Scholar and author Donald J. MacNair, in his book, *The Practices of a Healthy Church*, writes, "In our American preoccupation with success, church growth is easily identified with increasing numbers of people sitting in the pews and participating in the programs. It would be a struggle to think otherwise."

With this American preoccupation with success, pastors are obliged to have a leadership focus on numbers instead of spiritual nurture and development. Jackson W. Carroll of Duke School of Divinity, a leading scholar in the area of pastoral leadership, described the expectations his members and church officials have for him as their pastor. He states,

I led in the worship and preached each Sunday morning and evening. I taught; I visited and provided pastoral care; I presided over weddings and funerals; and I attended meetings and did the necessary administrative tasks of the church. This was what my lay members and denominational officials expected of me. It was, however, a very pastor-centered model of the church, and it was essentially the model of ministry that I was taught in seminary.<sup>7</sup>

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Tim Woodruf, "Executive Pastors' Perception of Leadership and Management Competencies Needed for Local Church Administration," www.xpastor.org, December 2012, accessed August 31, 2016, https://www.xpastor.org/new-xp/church-business/executive-pastors-perception-of-leadership-and-management-competencies-needed-for-local-church-administration/.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Donald J. MacNair, *The Practices of a Healthy Church: Biblical Strategies for Vibrant Church Life and Ministry* (Phillipsburg, NJ: P&R Publishing, 1999), 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Jackson W. Carroll, "'The More Things Change...'": Pastoral Leadership for the 21<sup>st</sup> Century, www.pulpitandpew.org., accessed August 31, 2016, http://pulpitandpew.org/sites/all/themes/pulpitandpew/files/Claremont.pdf.

This pastor model of ministry that emphasizes administrative leadership is not uncommon, but it comes with a lot of challenges. Carroll describes what he was taught his primary ecclesiology was in his lecture through an article shares,

Not much positive was said about the visible church or the larger body of members; nothing much that helped me to understand ministry as the work of the whole rather than of the pastor; nothing much that taught me how to help lay members discover their spiritual gifts or empower them to use their gifts in ministry; nothing about the importance of understanding a congregation's distinctive culture and context...<sup>8</sup>

In other words, pastors cannot lead the church only administratively without spiritual nurture and care.

Pastors face a leadership challenge: to understand that congregants should discover and develop their spiritual gifts as a way of empowering them for ministry. Describing the calling and the responsibilities of pastors, Woodruf writes,

Pastors are called upon regularly to preach, visit, counsel, console, and provide spiritual leadership. Pastors are also expected to set the vision for the church, develop the strategy, communicate clearly the purpose and direction of the local congregation, manage and lead change, build and maintain the team of lay leaders, and shepherd people in the church including the ministry staff, and lead.<sup>9</sup>

Despite all of this responsibility, there is one area of pastoral leadership that has not been given much attention: pastoral nurturing leadership. Jon Coutts, from *Ministry Magazine*, explains this lack of pastoral nurturing leadership as he describes today's cultural understanding of pastoral leadership. In, "A Theological Approach to Pastoral Leadership Today," he writes,

In this culture, built upon the gospel of self-fulfillment and the latent ideals of consumerism, the tendency is to define churches and pastors by the standards of

-

<sup>8</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Woodruf, "Executive Pastors' Perception of Leadership and Management Competencies Needed for Local Church Administration."

the business world. Among other things, servant leadership has been confused with customer service, "shepherding the flock" has melded with corporate strategizing, stewardship of spiritual gifts has been turned into a pursuit of self-fulfillment, and preaching has become motivational speech. <sup>10</sup>

Coutts' description expresses the need for true pastoral, nurturing leadership in the church. Coutts states further,

Leadership is not something separate from spirituality, as if one can get the spiritual batteries charged, go about pasturing, and then come back to the recharger every once in a while for a pick me up. Pastoral leadership is "participation in God's work of transforming the community of faith until it is 'blameless' at the coming of Christ" and a perpetually "unfinished business." <sup>11</sup>

Scholars Lawrence O. Richards and Clyde Hoeldtke, in their book, *A Theology of Church Leadership*, write, "The responsibility of leaders is the care and nurture of believers." Pastoral leadership, as Coutts, Richards, and Hoeldtke stated, has to be more than administrative. Pastors must not separate leadership from spirituality, nurturing, and gifts-development when it comes to leading the churches and their congregants. It is clear that pastors as leaders have the responsibility to care and nurture the congregants over which they are given responsibility to lead.

Donald McNair further emphasizes that need, regarding the nurturing and caring of the congregants by pastors, when he writes, "Caring, loving, equipping – these words express the essence of Christ's lesson about shepherding. A good shepherd is one whose care for the sheep drives him to equip them for doing what sheep do best, even at the cost

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Jon Coutts, "A Theological Approach to Pastoral Leadership Today," www.ministrymagazine.org, November 2008, accessed September 1, 2017, https://www.ministrymagazine.org/archive/2008/11/a-theological-approach-to-pastoral-leadership-today.html.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Lawrence O. Richards and Clyde Hoeldtke, *A Theology of Church Leadership* (Grand Rapids, MI: Zondervan Publishing House, 1980), 92.

of his own life." <sup>13</sup> MacNair is describing a leadership that shows and provides the spiritual nurturing and care for the congregants that can help pastors reduce their administrative duties, and focus more on the spiritual needs of the congregants. It is a nurturing leadership through spiritual renewal and spiritual-gifts development: a leadership that cares, renews, and develops people's ability to become better Christians and better spiritual leaders.

Scholar John C. Maxwell, in his book, *How Successful People Lead*, expresses that idea for pastors as he writes, "What's better than excellence at your work and high productivity from your team? Developing people so that they can lead with you. Great leaders measure themselves by what they get done through others." That requires developing people in a leadership culture.

Robert G. Duch, a scholar in the Catholic milieu, in his book, *Successful Parish Leadership*, beautifully summarizes, "Pastors must be spiritual leaders of community worship and prayer, and must promote renewed spirituality." Promoting renewed spirituality within the congregants can be one of the most effective ways for pastors to nurture the church in their leadership.

Carroll conducted a survey on how clergy spend their time at work, and he inquired about three tasks that need improvement for pastors. He reported,

When we asked about the three tasks most needing improvement, there was also remarkable consensus: Several tasks relating to administration topped the list, followed by training others for ministry, and pastoral care and counseling.

John C. Maxwell, How Successful People Lead (New York: Centre Street, Hachette Book Group, Inc. 2013), 94.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> MacNair, The Practices of a Healthy Church, 139.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Robert G. Duch, *Successful Parish Leadership: Nurturing the Animated Parish* (Kansas City: Sheed & Ward, 1990), 2.

Evangelism ran a close fourth for all groups. All this is to say that, despite considerable differences in denominational tradition and size of congregation, clergy of all denominational stripes gave surprisingly similar answers about how they spend their time and what they consider their strengths and weaknesses. <sup>16</sup>

These scholars have identified a need for pastors to change their ways of administering the church. There is certainly a need to train and equip congregants for ministry through spiritual gifts development; there is also a need for pastors to nurture and care more for their congregants. A nurturing, pastoral leadership is one that is surrounded and supported by a group of trained team leaders, which include elders and other members of the church. It is also one that promotes spirituality through spiritual renewal and spiritual gifts development.

A survey conducted by Lummis regarding what congregations need of pastors states,

Regional leaders interviewed across denominations cited the pastor's ability to show members of the congregation that he or she loves and will care for them, as an almost essential clergy quality that search committees try to find when choosing a new pastor. Regional leaders from five denominations explain: Congregations want to be loved and cared for, loved and lifted up. If that is done, the congregation is happy.<sup>17</sup>

However, in order for pastors to show love and care, they must exercise a leadership that nurtures and develops the congregants to spiritual renewal and spiritual gifts development.

### **Problem Statement**

Pastors have enormous responsibilities to lead and nurture their congregants for spiritual and administrative effectiveness. While good pastoral, administrative leadership skills are necessary for pastors to have in order to conduct meetings, run church services and programs, and deal with conflicts, they do not help pastors nurture their congregants

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Carroll, "'The More Things Change...'": Pastoral Leadership for the 21<sup>st</sup> Century,.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Lummis, "What Do Lay People Want in Pastors?" 13.

for spiritual renewal and spiritual-gift development. Much can be learned about pastors nurturing leadership skills that develop their congregants in these ways towards maturity in Christ.

#### **Purpose Statement and Research Questions**

The purpose of this study is to investigate how senior pastors develop their congregants through nurturing leadership. This study will help the researcher find out of how pastors nurture their congregants toward spiritual renewal and spiritual gifts development. This study seeks to discover how different pastors use different nurturing leadership skills to develop their congregants. The following research questions will structure and guide this study:

- 1. How do senior pastors develop their congregants in spiritual renewal?
- 2. How do senior pastors develop their congregants' spiritual gifts?
- 3. What are the challenges for senior pastors in developing their congregants through nurturing leadership?
- 4. What are the benefits of congregants developing through senior pastors' nurturing leadership?

#### **Significance of This Study**

This study has significance for the many congregants that are affected by a pastoral leadership that is more administrative than nurturing. The researcher hopes that the results of this study would persuade pastors and church leaders to provide congregants with more nurturing leadership in order to develop them in spiritual maturity and growth. It also hoped that the results of this study would help pastors discover new ways to renew their congregants for spiritual transformation. When it comes to spiritual gifts, it is hoped that this study would provide pastors with more leadership ability to develop their congregants' spiritual gifts for the benefit of the church and the

advancement of the gospel of Jesus Christ. This study has further significance where congregants will benefit with a pastoral nurturing leadership style whereby pastors nurture, care, renew, and train them to become better disciples of Christ and better leaders in the church. It is the researcher's hope that at the conclusion of this qualitative study, pastors will be provided with tools to better nurture their congregants. Last, it is the hope of the researcher to find better strategies and skills that will help pastors of different denominations move from a leadership that is mostly administrative-focused to a more nurturing-focused leadership.

#### **Definition of Terms**

<u>Leadership</u> – The power or the ability to lead and empower people. Leadership is also caring more about the cause and the people in a company than about one's own personal pain and success. Leadership is the art of serving others by equipping them with training, tools, and developing their gifts so they can achieve their full potential.

Nurturing — The participle form of the verb nurture. It means to care for and encourage the growth or development of. It also means to bring up, train, educate, feed, and protect.

Nurturing Leadership — A leadership that cares, feeds, protects, trains, educates, and develops those they lead. In nurturing leaders are focused on developing individuals personally, professionally, and spiritually. They care about the individual's development.

Administrative — Adjective, pertaining to administration or relating to the running or management of a business, school, or other organization.

<u>Administrative Leadership</u> – A leadership that deals with communicating, managing information, performing specific tasks, and ensuring people are effective in their task.

An administrative leader leads a team of people that perform these roles in administration.

Spiritual – Relating to or affecting the human spirit or soul as opposed to material or physical things. Concerned with religious values, relating to or involving spiritualism.

Renewal – The state of being made new, fresh, or strong again: the state of being renewed or the act or process of renewing. It is also a process of improving, repairing, or making something more successful.

<u>Spiritual Renewal</u> – The process of growth and transformation into the image of God. It is the process of being made new, reinvigorated spiritually, feeling fresh and reawakened and having a galvanized sense of mission and practice through spiritual renewal and spiritual gifts development.

Spiritual gifts – A notable capacity, talent, or endowment given by God. It is a special ability given by God with some power, quality, or attribute in order to do service for him.

Development – The act, or process of growing or causing something to grow or become larger or more advanced; or result of developing. The state of being developed.

#### **Chapter Two**

#### Literature Review

The purpose of this study is to investigate how senior pastors develop their congregants through nurturing leadership. In order to investigate, for a theoretical framework to be established, and to place its findings in the context of current scholarly debates, four different literature areas will be reviewed: leadership, spiritual renewal, spiritual gifts-development, and the biblical-theological framework.

The literature review provides the foundation, a theoretical framework of the knowledge base on the topic or problem being investigated in this study via qualitative research. This review provides a point of reference for the contribution that the current study will make to the knowledge base. The varying degrees that the topic is addressed in the literature review will help in presenting the discussed topic in greater detail.

#### Leadership

What is leadership? According to Puccio, Mance, and Murdock, who wrote about creativity in leadership in their book *Creative Leadership*, state, "More than a century ago, it was widely believed that leadership was an innate quality – a set of traits possessed a rare few since birth that predisposed these individual to achieve greatness." Contrary to this definition, according to the literature, leadership today has different definitions and has taken new meanings. John Zechariah, a well-known author, in his book, *In Search of Christian Leadership Character*, defines leadership as, "a process of

11

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Gerard J. Puccio, Marie Mance, and Mary C. Murdock, *Creative Leadership: Skills That Drive Change* (Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc., 2011), 6.

influencing people to accomplish a task or a goal... Leadership is a process of getting things done through people." Two leading scholars and contributors to *Harvard Business Review*, Nohria and Khurana, in their book, *Handbook of Leadership Theory and Practice*, state, "Leadership is essentially about the relationship between the leader and his or her follower." Another author, Brittney Helmrich, from *Business News Daily*, provides thirty-three ways that experts have defined leadership; two of them pertain to the current study. Helmrich writes, "Leadership is caring more about the cause and the people in your company than about own personal pain and success (Jarie Bolander)." The other definition is "Leadership is the ability to help people achieve things they don't think are possible. Leaders are coaches with a passion for developing people...(Randy Stocklin)." These definitions point to how leadership nurtures and cares for people under a leader's authority: developing their skills, their talents, and their gifts to their full potential.

In talking about the need for leadership, Amy C. Edmondson, a Harvard Business School Professor, in her book, *Teaming: How Organizations Learn, Innovate, and Compete in the Knowledge Economy*, writes, "Leadership is now more needed than ever before in today's complex, constantly changing landscape." Edmondson classifies this

John Zachariah I

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> John Zechariah, *In Search of Christian Leadership Character* (Kashmere Gate, Delhi: Saurabh Printers, 2014), 1:7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Nitin Nohria and Rakesh Khurana, *Handbook of Leadership Theory and Practice* (Boston: Harvard Business Press, 2010), 417.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Brittney Helmrich, "33 Ways to Define Leaderhship," *Business News Daily*, April 2016, accessed October 3, 2016, http://www.businessnewsdaily.com/3647-leadership-definition.htmlwww.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Amy C. Edmonson, *Teaming: How Organizations Learn, Innovate, and Compete, in the Knowledge Economy* (San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 2012), 4.

kind of leadership in two forms when she writes, "the first is formal leadership...leadership with a large L...generally includes high-level executives and involves decisions and activities that influence everyone in the organization."<sup>24</sup> This leadership is the kind of administrative leadership that some pastors use to lead their congregants without much congregant involvement. However, Edmondson talks about a second kind of leadership when she writes,

What's needed is what I call leadership with a small l. This type of leadership is exercised by people throughout the organization, not just at the top, and especially by those at the front lines where crucial work affecting customer experiences is carried out. This kind of leadership is about developing others' skills and shaping effective processes.<sup>25</sup>

As Puccio, Mance, and Murdock explain, leaders can learn leadership skills "Although it's true that some people are born with greater natural gifts than others, the ability to lead is really a collection of skills, nearly all of which can be learned and improved".

# Nurturing Leadership

While there are several types of leadership, this paper focuses on nurturing leadership. Nurturing leadership focuses leaders' attention on caring more about the people led than about their own personal gain and success. Nurturing leadership is one that cares, feeds, protects, trains, educates, and develops those they lead, developing individuals personally, professionally and spiritually. Nurturing leaders prioritize the individual's development, connection, and relationships. Kouzes and Posner, leading scholars in leadership and authors of *The Leadership Challenge*, define nurturing

<sup>25</sup> Ibid

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Puccio, Mance, and Murdock, Creative Leadership, 7.

leadership this way, "Leadership is a relationship between those who aspire to lead and those who choose to follow."<sup>27</sup> In order for people to follow a leader, the leader must establish a nurturing relationship with the followers.

Comparing his past administrative management leadership style with his now caring professional relationships, Paul W. Abramowitz, of the AM J Health System Pharmacy, states,

In my earlier days as a pharmacy manager, I believed that hard work, clear objectives, technical skill, expertise, and a no-nonsense management style were necessary to achieve goals and enhance the practice of pharmacy. Over time I realized that, while these attributes are important, the most motivated and productive members of my staff were often those who had strong relationships with others with whom or for whom they worked. This was true not only within a department but across departments and institutions. As I matured as a manager, I realized that my time spent developing, maintaining, and cultivating these relationships was time well spent.<sup>28</sup>

However, nurturing leadership does not only focus about caring and forming relationship, Nurturing leadership is also the art of serving others by equipping them with training and tools. Nurturing leaders develop the gifts of those in their care so they can achieve their full potential. Author and editor, James Berkley, in the book, *Leadership Handbook of Management and Administration*, explains,

Servant leaders find joy in encouraging and supporting staff and team members. They enable others to develop their spiritual gifts in the context of ministry, and they publicly recognize the growth and the contribution of others. As a result, the congregation functions as a body where every person is valued, not as an audience that feeds the leader's ego.<sup>29</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> James M. Kouzes and Barry Z. Posner, *The Leadership Challenge: How to Make Extraordinary Things Happen in Organizations*, 5<sup>th</sup> Edition (San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 2012), 30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Paul W. Abramowitz, "Nurturing relationships: An essential ingredient of leadership," *American Journal of Health-Syst Pharm* 58 (March 2001): accessed October 25, 2016, http://www.ajhp.org/content/58/6/479.full.pdf+html.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> James D. Berkley, *Leadership Handbook of Management and Administration* (Grand Rapids, MI: Baker Books), 185.

People tend to love and appreciate a leader who gets them involved in developing their gifts and in doing ministry. Congregants that are nurtured and developed feel that they are valuable members of their congregations.

Nohria and Khurana, theorize about followers' expectation, saying, "Since leading is all about the relationship between leaders and followers, ...followers want to identify psychologically with the leader. The more they want is emotional connection, the more attracted they may be to a leader who relies strongly on charisma as source of his or her influence." Establishing an emotional connection with the congregants is vital for pastors to develop their congregants. Relationship is a nurturing way for pastors to renew and develop their congregants. Berkley theorizes on that connectivity and building up workers or followers when he writes,

Workers who are led well and who enjoy fruitfulness and fulfillment can join together to form a strong, smoothly functioning work team. But just like an individual, the team needs to be led. It needs to be encouraged and motivated, it needs to be informed and educated; it needs to have its vision renewed...<sup>31</sup>

As nurturing leaders, pastors are to lead their congregants to become productive in their respective talents and gifts. Pastors are to spiritually encourage and motivate their congregants and constantly renew them for ministry in order for them to enjoy and be fruitful in their ministry role. In order for pastors to have a nurturing impact on the congregants' spiritual growth and gifts development, there must be interactions between the pastors and the congregants.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Nohria and Khurana, *Handbook of Leadership Theory and Practice*, 422.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Berkley, Leadership Handbook of Management and Administration, 281.

Based on organizational leadership theories, Nohria and Khurana, define leadership this way,

Leadership is an interaction between two or more members of a group that often involves structuring or restructuring of the situation and the perceptions and expectations of the members. Leaders are agents of change-persons whose acts affect other people more than other people's acts affect them. Leadership occurs when one group member modifies the motivation or competencies of others in the group.<sup>32</sup>

Similar to Berkley's understanding of the leader's leadership influence on the congregants, according to Nohria and Khurana, the principal agent of change to have the best impact and effect on the members of a group or organization is the leader. The leader is the one that motivates others that in turn motivate one another. The leader is understood to have a leadership interaction with his members through a nurturing relationship. True leadership can only happen when there are mutual interactions between leaders and members and members to members.

In order for them to have interactions, leaders have to see the members of the organization the same, treat them the same, value them the same and care for them the same. By doing so, those under leadership will know that they matter. In their book, Everybody Matters, The Extraordinary Power of Caring for your people like Family, two business men and leading scholars, Bob Chapman and Raj Sisodia state,

Our people matter... rare are the leaders of organizations who will tell you that their people don't matter. However, there is a big difference between understanding the value of the people inside an organization and actually making decisions that consider their needs... when we say our people matter but we don't actually care for them, it can shatter trust and create a culture of paranoia, cynicism, and self-interest.<sup>33</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Nohria and Khurana, *Handbook of Leadership Theory and Practice*, 121.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Bob Chapman and Raj Sisodia, *Everybody Matters: The Extraordinary Power of Caring for Your People like Family* (New York: Portfolio/Penguin, 2015), ix.

Chapman and Sisodia emphasize that when leaders care, they make decisions that nurture the needs of the people. These leaders do not just value the people, but they do things to show that they care. Nurturing leaders care and provide for the needs of their people. These leaders show that the people in their organization matter to them. Chapman and Sisodia further state, "We [leaders] just need to engage our heads and our hearts in an approach to leadership that validates the worth of every individual, an approach in which everybody matters."

John C. Maxwell explains what nurturing leaders do in order to meet the needs of the people that they care for and to show them that they matter when he writes,

People who rely on position often mistakenly believe that it is the responsibility of the people to come to them for what they need and want. Good leaders understand that it is their responsibility to move toward their people. Leaders are initiators...if you want to move to level 2 in your leadership...you must make it your responsibility to learn who they are, find out what they need, and help them.<sup>35</sup>

According to Maxwell, true leaders take the lead and people follow. True and caring leaders meet the people where they are and attend to their needs. They take time to nurture and learn whom their people are and what their needs are. They know it is their responsibility to help them to meet their everyday needs.

Maxwell also emphasizes the need for relationship and liking people when he writes,

Relationships are a major key to success...Building relationships develops a foundation for effectively leading others. The more... relationships deepen, the broader the foundation for leading people becomes. When people feel liked, cared

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Ibid., 68.

<sup>35</sup> Maxwell, How Successful People Lead, 41.

for, included, valued, and trusted, they begin to work together with their leader and each other.<sup>36</sup>

For Maxwell, leaders cannot have success in their leadership if there are no relationships built—if they do not value, like, and care for the people they lead. By definition Maxwell understands that there is a need for nurturing leadership at all leadership levels, including the church and its congregants.

Chapman and Sisodia agree and explain the need for caring and nurturing leadership, "The greatest gift, the greatest charity we can give back to society is to be truly human leaders who treat the people under our leadership with profound respect and care and not objects for our success and worth." These authors express how a nurturing characteristic toward the people is the greatest gifts. Instead of undermining people, leaders elevate their people. Chapman and Sisodia emphasize this nurturing leadership even more as they compare it to parenting and state, "Good leadership and good parenting are both about taking care of the people entrusted to you...We (leaders) should feel the same way about all those we are privileged to lead." They continue, "It is a mutually respectful and nurturing relationship that sees the well-being and development of the person being led as the leader's paramount obligation." This research explores the importance of pastoral leadership nurturing those under its care.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> Ibid., 46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> Chapman and Sisodia, *Everybody Matters*, 71.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> Ibid., 72.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Ibid

### Pastoral Nurturing Leadership

Pastoral leadership is a challenge. Nonetheless, Lovett H. Weems, Jr., an educator, an author, and a distinguished professor of church leadership, states, "It is in this current, challenging situation that the church calls its pastors to exercise effective leadership." He continues, "The failure... to take charge and give active leadership... can be as devastating to an organization as frankly autocratic leadership." There is definitely a challenge to pastoral leadership, and it is that of pastoral nurturing leadership. In the context of pastoral leadership, Richard Rardin, a religious author who has experience with Fortune 500 companies, in his book, *The Servant's Guide to Leadership*, defines this leadership as "a spiritual gift conferred by the Holy Spirit upon those called to lead."

Weems' third observation of leadership states, "Leadership is spiritual.

Leadership and the spirit are closely related. Leadership is a spiritual experience and endeavor." In his second edition, Weems states, "Our calling from God represents the essence of our spiritual identity." As spiritual leaders, pastors are called by God to lead his spiritual people.

Author Dan Kohn, in *The Resilient Pastor*, describes this calling beautifully, "By choice, not by chance, Conception brings to be Another human being; Designed – His

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Lovett H. Weems, Jr., *Church Leadership: Vision, Team Culture and Integrity* (Nashville: Abingdon Press, 1993), 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Ibid., 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Richard Rardin, *The Servant's Guide To Leadership* (Winnipeg: Selah Publishing, 2001), 40.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Weems, *Church Leadership*, 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> Ibid., 8.

holy plan. Mantled in His image, encoded with a cause, God modes another vessel for purpose in His plan."<sup>45</sup> Kohn clarifies how pastors' calling to leadership is not by chance, or their own decision, but it is God's choice. In his book, *360-Degree Leadership*, Michael J. Quick, a professor of preaching and communication at Northern Seminary in Chicago, reports, "A 2003 survey (by George Barna), of pastors and congregants discovered that 92 percents of pastors considered themselves as leaders and 94 percent of the congregants agreed."<sup>46</sup> Timothy Z. Witmer, professor of Practical Theology at The Reformed Theological Seminary, in his book, *The Shepherd Leader*, supports this calling of God as he emphasizes, "that it is clearly understood that leaders have both the right and responsibility to exercise shepherding care."<sup>47</sup> This shepherding care is called nurturing leadership. Nurturing leadership is caring leadership. Pastors that are called to lead are also called to contextualize their leadership based on the needs of the congregation.

Barbara J. Bloodgett, a well-known author and a faculty member at Lexington Theological Seminary, writes, "effective congregations are led by effective ministers, and those who joyously commit themselves to doing better work and learning to be better tend to see an effect upon their congregations." As spiritual leaders, pastors must make

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> Dan Kohn, *The Resilient Pastor: Maintaining "Bounce" through Balance & Boundaries in Faithful Ministry and Marriage* (New York: W W Press 2003), 151.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> Michael J. Quick, *360-Degree Leadership: Preaching to Transform Congregations* (Grand Rapids, MI: BakerBooks, 2006), 34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> Timothy Z. Witmer, *The Shepherd Leader: Achieving Effective Shepherding in Your Church* (Philipsburg, NJ: P&R Publishing), 75.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> Barbara J. Bloodgett, *Becoming The Pastor You Hope to Be: Four Practices for Improving Ministry* (Herndon, VA: Rowman & Littlefield, 2011), 3.

a commitment to lead their congregants for effective ministry through nurturing, spiritual renewal, and spiritual gifts development.

In addition, many authors note that pastors need a vision. Michael Quick defines vision as "a clear, shared and compelling pictures of the preferred future to which God is calling the congregation." Keith Lamdin, in the book *Finding your Leadership Style*, states, "it is the leader's task to craft the vision and explains it and keep it ever before the minds of those with whom the leader works." Pastors need to have a nurturing leadership vision for their congregants in order to renew and develop them.

What kind of nurturing leadership do pastors need to provide to their congregants? Michael J. Quick, a pastor, was asked about his pastoral role and he answered, "I see myself as a shepherd to my people, he said. My main job is to feed the flock and care for them rather than to be their CEO." According to Quick, pastors are called to nurture, care, protect, feed, train, educate, and develop the congregants that they are called to lead.

In describing spiritual gifts and pastoral calling, Rardin says, "the spiritual gift of leadership involves standing before others diligently, providing care, direction, protection, and support...the welfare of those led is primary importance to the leader." Rardin emphasizes the utmost obligation for pastors to provide nurturing leadership to their congregants. Similarly, Weems says, "Both administration and management are

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> Quick, 360-Degree Leadership, 69.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> Keith Lamdin, *Finding Your Leadership Style: A Guide For Ministers* (London: Society For Promoting Christian Knowledge, 2012), 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> Quick, 360-Degree Leadership, 16.

<sup>52</sup> Rardin, The Servant's Guide To Leadership, 41.

required for effective leadership. However, administration and management alone do not equal leadership. One can administer and manage without vision and values. It is impossible to lead without vision and values."<sup>53</sup>

In order to nurture congregants, pastors must embody certain values. Author and retired minister, Peter White, in his book, *The Effective Pastor, Get the Tools to Upgrade Your Ministry*, states, "The work of caring springs out of three underlying values, our knowledge of our people, our love for them and the kingdom of God." It is almost impossible to nurture and care for people that pastors do not know and love. When it comes to knowing their people, White provides this advice for pastors:

He will take an interest in each person. He will particularly watch out for change in people. He will keep notes so as to remember the important things about them. He will build the kind of information system that enables him to show care on special occasions such as the anniversary, especially the first anniversary, of serious bereavement <sup>55</sup>

White describes the necessity for pastors to show that they know the congregants that they are nurturing, which is vital in establishing relationship with them. The second value is "our love for our people." Peter White asks,

The question for us to ask ourselves (pastors) is how greatly people weigh with us, whether we have them so much on our hearts as to lead to care in action. Our Lord made the point in the story of the Good Samaritan. He who would care must do so in a thousand particulars; if we are not taking care of people, we do not care for them.<sup>57</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Weems, *Church Leadership*, 34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Peter White, *The Effective Pastor: Get the Tools to Upgrade Your Ministry* (London: Christian Focus Publications, 2002), 97.

<sup>55</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Ibid., 98.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> Ibid

According to White, love must motivate pastors and every act of kindness to their congregants.

White's third value is the "kingdom of God." Citing Ezekiel 34, White writes, "God makes clear what a good pastor is working for: that Christ shall be people's king and shepherd."<sup>59</sup> It could not be clearer that pastors' motivation to nurture, love, and care for people should be for Christ and by Christ. Similarly, Tom Berlin and Lovett H. Weems Jr., in their book, *High Yield*, write, "There is nothing more important in the lives of Christian leaders than their love of God practiced in tangible ways that keep the relationship alive over time." Witmer agrees and says, "In leading the flock shepherd must be motivated by love for the Lord and for the well-being of the sheep."61 It is this love that causes the pastors to care and nurture others for God's kingdom purpose.

In order to fully nurture congregants, pastors must fulfill their leadership responsibilities. Different authors offer differing views of what those responsibilities are. Witmer says, "The general description of the responsibilities of shepherds/pastors must begin, therefore, with dynamic of knowing the sheep/congregants... Personal interaction with sheep is fundamental to this element of shepherding."62 In order to provide proper attention and care, pastors must know each of their congregants. Witmer emphasizes that, shepherds (pastors), "must know the identification of the sheep, (and), the importance

58 Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> Tom Berlin and Lovett H. Weems Jr., *High Yield: Seven Disciplines of the Fruitful Leader* (Nashville: Abingdon Press, 2014), 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> Witmer. The Shepherd Leader. 156.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> Ibid., 109.

of... mutual relationship."<sup>63</sup> On the other hand, White writes about the responsibilities of pastors, stating,

The first such responsibilities is Spiritual Nourishment...It cannot be emphasized too strongly that bringing the Scriptures to bear on living human situations is the primary task of pastoral care in biblical Christianity...but also every situation where the Word of God is introduced, explored and relevantly applied.<sup>64</sup>

Witmer believes the first responsibility of pastors is to "feed the Sheep." Referring to the pastors, he says, "They... guide his (Jesus) sheep to the green pasture of His Word and feed them spiritual food. The Word of God is that which satisfies the souls of the people of God... Meeting the need for God's truth is a key to the health and growth of the people."

Both Witmer and White emphasize the responsibility and the need for pastors to nourish and feed their congregants spiritual food using the word of God. Michael J. Quick agrees, "Through his Word God speaks contemporaneously to lead his people." He adds, "by doing business together, preaching and leading will transform local churches." Witmer adds, "feeding (macro-feeding) is the leaders' responsibility to oversee the public ministry of the Word of God. This not only includes the preaching of

<sup>64</sup> White, *The Effective Pastor*, 99.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> Ibid., 109-110.

<sup>65</sup> Witmer, The Shepherd Leader, 139.

<sup>66</sup> Ibid., 140.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> Quick, 360-Degree Leadership, 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> Ibid., 24.

the Word from the pulpit but the ministry of the Word in education classes as well as in small group ministry."<sup>69</sup>

Witmer continues, "A fundamental responsibility of any and every shepherd /pastor(s) is to assure that the sheep are well nourished." The nurturing pastors will make sure that their congregants are well fed and nourished and have a balanced spiritual diet. White agrees that feeding the sheep is important,

The second (task of pastoral nurturing) is to collect and keep it together: to herd it. ...It is to nourish a sense of the church, especially the church at worship, as the heartfelt desire and priority of every Christian and to encourage the responsible, accountable and sacrificial commitment to the life of the congregation as the life and gifts of each member allow.<sup>71</sup>

These authors emphasize making sure that congregants have their spiritual priority straight, ensuring spiritual desires are being met, and spiritual gifts are being encouraged.

White also provides a third responsibility of caring (nurturing) pastors as he writes.

The third part of a shepherd's job in a land of wild animals is to protect his sheep. ...It is not just that in time of persecution or plague the Christian leader should be active in protecting his people physically; in addition, peace with God loses us peace with world, the flesh and the devil. These dangers to our salvation call the minister to protective skill of a special order. <sup>72</sup>

White clarifies that the safety of the congregants' spiritual liveliness is of great importance and should be protected by the pastors who have charged over them.

Like White, Witmer also emphasizes that protection is one of the main responsibilities of shepherds/pastors. He writes,

<sup>71</sup> White, *The Effective Pastor*, 100-101.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> Witmer, The Shepherd Leader, 141.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> Ibid., 101.

Shepherds protect the sheep... Christ's undershepherds are called upon to protect his sheep. Shepherds needs to be aware not only of the vulnerability and weaknesses of the individual sheep but also of the wolves that threaten their well being... The shepherd must be vigilant to see that not only are the sheep well fed, but that they themselves do not become food for wolves.<sup>73</sup>

Witmer stresses the importance and the need for pastors to keep wolves away from their sheep/congregants by providing them with adequate spiritual food, spiritual tools, and spiritual resources.

White gives pastors another responsibility that is worth noting: healing.<sup>74</sup> White says, "The good leader will defend the afflicted and save the children of the needy. A distinctive of pastoral care is that it follows up distress with practical mercy and kindness...Guilt and guilt feelings are very painful; happy the congregation whose pastor heals and builds faith." White stresses the need for pastors to give particular attention to the congregants that are wounded, hurt, afflicted, and in need of healing. This is in fact a fundamental responsibility of nurturing pastors. On helping others, John Zachariah states, "A Christian leader helps others in need, shows his passion and love for the Lord, and is humble in all things."

In addition to these responsibilities, White and Witmer give another very important nurturing responsibility of pastors. White writes,

The fifth service that caring renders is to lead. A spiritual shepherd leads them out... The responsibility to include leading as part of pastoral care (nurturing) is present whenever scripture covers the subject. The pastor gives a lead whether he

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> Witmer, *The Shepherd Leader*, 169-171.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> White, *The Effective Pastor*, 102.

<sup>75</sup> Ibid

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> Zachariah, In Search of Christian Leadership Character, 41.

likes it or not. The mind-set and progress of a congregation is more influenced by the leadership than by any other single factor.<sup>77</sup>

Witmer also says,

Shepherds lead the sheep. Leading the flock is a key responsibility of the shepherd...characteristic of this leadership is that it is motivated by the well-being of the flock, not for the leaders' gain...In leading the flock shepherds must be motivated by love for the Lord and for the well-being of the sheep.<sup>78</sup>

Both authors emphasize the importance of pastors providing true leadership and a leadership of love to the congregants. Leading with love, care, and compassion are what God requires pastors to provide to their congregants in their nurturing role. However, this leadership must also be extended to the elders and the congregants in their leadership role, which is part of church leadership.

## Church Leadership

Lawrence O. Richards and Clyde Hoeldtke state, "The church is an organism. ...

The church is not our church it belongs to Jesus." Since it is an organism and it belongs to Jesus, it must have leadership. Church leadership involves both the pastor and the congregants. Richard Patterson, a clinical psychologist and a published poet, defines church leadership in his book, *Effectively Leading: A Guide for All Church Leaders*, as "all those who exercise influence, guidance, and direction to those in the church toward fulfilling the church's goals." Patterson continues, "in order to be effective, each leader needs to be: a person of vision, action, steadfastness, servanthood, and dependence.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> White, *The Effective Pastor*, 102.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> Witmer, *The Shepherd Leader*, 155-156.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> Richards and Hoeldtke, *A Theology of Church Leadership*, 76-77.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> Richard Patterson, *Effectively Leading: A Guide For All Church Leaders* (Wheaton, IL: Evangelical Training Association, 1992), 8.

Effective church leaders are not born – they are developed... to be an effective leader requires that these God-given leadership characteristics be developed." <sup>81</sup>Patterson emphasizes the need to develop church leaders within their respective ability and Godgiven gifts potential.

Bruce P. Powers, an editor and a Professor at Campbell University Divinity
School, in his book, *Christian Education Handbook*, says, "God has entrusted to the
church an awesome responsibility for the guidance and spiritual welfare of persons."
Both Patterson and Powers emphasize the need for inclusive leadership, a leadership that
develops effective leaders with God-given leadership ability. Like pastoral leadership, all
church leadership must also be nurturing leadership. In other words, all leaders in the
church including, pastors, elders, and staff must exercise a nurturing leadership to the
congregants over which they have charge.

## **Church Nurturing Leadership**

When it comes to church nurturing leadership, Powers says, "The early church nurtured and taught its converts." Patterson defines church nurturing as, "that aspect of church ministry which focuses upon developing individual believers to discover, claim, and be all that their Creator designed His people to be." Patterson also talks about the leaders nurturing responsibility in their leadership role when he writes, "All church leaders have the biblical responsibility for nurturing and equipping church members to

<sup>82</sup> Bruce C. Powers, *Christian Education Handbook* (Nashville: Broadman & Holman Publishers, 1996), 251.

<sup>81</sup> Ibid.

<sup>83</sup> Ibid., 252.

<sup>84</sup> Patterson, Effectively Leading, 53.

minister in their world."<sup>85</sup> In addition to their responsibility, Witmer says the congregation must know that the leadership of the elders is exercised for the good of the people and not for the benefit of the leaders.<sup>86</sup> Weems says, "Leadership is always for people and group purpose."<sup>87</sup>

Weems and Witmer believe that all leaders in the church are responsible for nurturing others toward leadership in the congregation. Peter White writes, "Leadership in the church should be marked by plurality." Church nurturing leadership is first demonstrated by pastors and then by the leadership circle of the pastors.

On the plurality of leading, Witmer provides three biblical purposes of macroleading when he writes, "The church is called to serve God in three ways: To serve him directly in worship; to serve the saints in nurture; and to serve the world in witness." McNair also provides four foundations for the church's mission when he states, "The church's purpose and mission must be expressed in the four basic functions of worship, nurture, mercy, and outreach." Both Witmer and McNair expressed similar views when it comes to the purpose and mission of the church, including the nurturing of the saints/congregants, which is biblically fundamental.

Witmer also outlines the church's biblical and spiritual purposes. He begins with "Worship: the church is called to be a people gathered to give praise to the Lord for who

,

<sup>85</sup> Ibid., 52.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> Witmer, *The Shepherd Leader*, 186.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> Weems, Church Leadership, 22.

<sup>88</sup> White, The Effective Pastor, 178.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> Witmer, *The Shepherd Leader*, 157.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> MacNair, The Practices of a Healthy Church, 38.

he is and for what he has done." Witmer emphasizes the importance of worship in nurturing a congregation's spiritual hunger for God.

Witmer's second biblical and spiritual purpose is "Education: leading the people to grow in their understanding and application of biblical truth." Education means teaching the congregation so that they can have the knowledge of the word and living in accordance to the practical aspect of it. Describing the importance of nurturing the congregants through teaching, Powers writes,

Nurture is implicit in the admonition to maintain a level of understanding that will not allow a believer to be turned to false doctrine or religious fads. Rather, the body of believers, the church, is most effective when it is healthy and directed by the head, which is Christ. Each believer must maintain an intimate attachment to Christ. Teaching is important, but is must be accompanied by the nurture in love. 93

Powers emphasizes the need for teaching and educating the congregants in the word, and doing it in a nurturing, loving way in order that they may love the loving Christ.

Witmer's third biblical and spiritual purpose is, "Fellowship: leading the people to grow in the understanding and use of their gifts in order to minister lovingly to one another as the body of Christ." This means that congregants need to develop their spiritual gifts given by God in order to minister collectively to one another for the effectiveness of the saints, and in leading the church to reach its full spiritual potential.

Witmer's fourth biblical and spiritual purpose is, "Evangelism: leading the people and equipping them to share the gospel of Jesus-Christ with their friends and neighbors as

<sup>93</sup> Powers, Christian Education Handbook, 253.

<sup>91</sup> Witmer, The Shepherd Leader, 157.

<sup>92</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> Witmer, *The Shepherd Leader*, 157.

well as supporting the cause of the advancement of his kingdom in the world."95 Witmer emphasizes the need for discipleship making and giving congregants the necessary tools to be effective witnesses in their community.

In his four foundations, McNair also says, "Worship, must in all circumstances be preserved and continually deepened."96 Similar to Witmer, McNair see worship as a central part of congregants' spiritual growth. Patterson agrees and says, "Worship is a relationship with God."97 He continues, "Worshipping is looking from ourselves to God. focusing on Him and presenting praise, adoration, love, submission, - worthship - from the believer to God...the benefits of worship... are the very means for developing true believers."98 As clearly explained by these authors, the congregants are to be nurtured by the church and its leaders through the church highest priority: worship.

McNair's second foundation is nurture, and "includes fellowship, instructions, the regular celebration of the sacraments, discipling, discipline, and shepherding."99 Nurture, according to Bruce C. Powers, is "to encompass the idea of educating or training any person." Congregants can be spiritually connected and elevated through good pastoral relationship, spiritual fellowship, teaching, and discipleship/spiritual gifts development.

95 Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> MacNair, The Practices of a Healthy Church, 39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> Patterson, Effectively Leading, 46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup> Ibid., 46-47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> MacNair, The Practices of a Healthy Church, 40.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> Powers, Christian Education Handbook, 252.

McNair's third foundation is mercy. McNair states, "Ministry of mercy should address the physical need of the immediate church family." McNair links the need to provide for and attend to congregants' needs with their spiritual growth and care.

Regarding this ministry of mercy and compassion, Tom Berlin and Lovett Jr. Weems write, "Humility, compassion, empathy, and gratitude are all part of what people are looking for in great leaders. A key to demonstrating these qualities is to care for the people in their times of need." Both authors clearly express similar beliefs when it comes to the caring, compassionate, and loving characteristics that are to be demonstrated by a caring nurturing leader.

For McNair, the fourth foundation is outreach. He says, "Outreach includes evangelism, missions, and... being salty – leading righteous lives that are tasty to the world around us." Patterson says, "Outreach takes many forms. It can be visitation, small group study, tract distribution, caring for the disadvantaged, and a host of other activities." Nurturing congregants through outreach will make them feel more valuable in their Christian calling and in the utilization of their spiritual gifts to the glory of God.

Robert G. Duch states, "We must form the future of our parishes (churches) by dreaming of what can be, by revitalizing our own spirit, by empowering each person to help develop workable plans of action for on-going reorganization development and continuing self renewal." According to Duch's statement, the need for nurturing

<sup>101</sup> MacNair, The Practices of a Healthy Church, 41.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> Berlin and Weems, *High Yield*, 6-7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup> Ibid., 42.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> Patterson, Effectively Leading, 47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> Duch, Successful Parish Leadership, 2.

leadership, for spiritual renewal, and for gifts development has been an ongoing effort in pastoral leadership. Duch emphasized this even more when he writes, "Pastors must be spiritual leaders of community worship and prayer, and must promote renewed spirituality." When the pastors are renewed, the parishioners/congregants are also renewed spiritually.

## **Spiritual Renewal**

Regarding spiritual renewal, Weems says, "Leadership is... helping God's people taking the next faithful step." Spiritual renewal is an utmost important leadership responsibility for pastors who want to lead their congregants to the next spiritual developmental level in their journey with God. Daniel P. Smith and Mary K. Sallon, clergy in the United Methodist Church and coaches for congregational renewal and leadership development, state, "As spiritual leaders of the congregation, pastors often initiate renewal and are among the first to sense God's longings for the people." 108

Spiritual renewal requires renewal leadership ability. Weems writes, "Clearly the church needs far greater renewal...Renewal will come, as it always does, in a rediscovery of the church's rich heritage, identity, and mission." Surely, whatever the form it takes, churches are always in need of spiritual renewal. As Weems states, renewal is what gives the church its identity and helps it to develop. However, for spiritual renewal to happen, it requires renewal leadership from pastors. Regarding this Weems states, "Leadership for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> Ibid., 2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> Weems, Church Leadership, 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> Daniel P. Smith and Mary K. Sallon, *The Pathway to Renewal: Practical Steps For Congregations* (Herndon, VA: The Alban Institute), 84.

<sup>109</sup> Weems, Church Leadership, 132.

renewal will be characterized by a passion that can come only from a compelling message and an essential mission-that treasure passed on to us in clay jars...Leaders with a passion for renewal will put bells back in the steeples and ring out a clear and sure message of faith and hope."<sup>110</sup> Indeed, Weems emphasizes the need for pastors to think about spiritual renewal in order to have the church focus on its spiritual mandate.

Daniel P. Smith and Mary K. Sallon, ask, "What is renewal?" They answered, "Congregational renewal...means a renewal of the people's ability to notice and experience God in their midst, a renewal of the congregation's desire to partner with God in achieving God's aim for the world." No renewal takes place without a true experience of God's presence and the will to do God's will. Richard F. Lovelace, a well-known author and professor emeritus of church history at Gordon-Conwell Theological Seminary, describes God's presence as a "preconditions of Renewal: Awareness of the holiness of God; Awareness of the depth of sin." Timothy Keller, an American pastor, theologian, and apologist, writes about personal renewal and corporate renewal. He states, "Personal gospel renewal means the gospel doctrines of sin and grace are actually experienced, not just known intellectually... corporate gospel renewal also called a 'revival,' a season in which a whole body of believers experience personal gospel renewal together." Dr. Bruce McRae, professor and pastor, writes, "The gospel of

1

<sup>110</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> Smith and Sallon, The Pathway to Renewal, 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> Ibid., 7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> Richard F. Lovelace, *Dynamics of Spiritual Life: An Evangelical Theology of Renewal* (Downers Grove, IL: Intervarsity, 1979), 75.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> Timothy Keller, *Center Church: Doing Balanced, Gospel-Centered Ministry in Your City* (Grand Rapids, MI: Zondervan, 2012), 54.

grace is the basis for individual renewal. The gospel is about Jesus who died on the cross and the Spirit according to Galatians 3:1-14 and 5:13-26. Dr. McRae also writes, with gospel resources, we fight the battle against...the flesh (Colossians 3:5-17), the world (I John 2:15-17), and the devil (Ephesians 6:10-20)."

These scholars agree that renewal means removing any ungodly spiritual conditions in order to satisfy the hunger for God's holiness. It also means experiencing the gospel of grace of Jesus to fight against the desire of the flesh and world, and to cultivate affections for God.

Speaking of love and affections and a strong desire after God holiness, Jonathan Edwards, a reformed theologian of the 1800s and a critical player in the first Great Awakening, writes,

Love is an affection, but will any Christian say, men ought not to love God and Jesus-Christ in a high degree? And will any say, we ought not to have a very great hatred of sin, and a very deep sorrow for it? Or that we ought not to exercise a high degree of gratitude to God for the mercies we receive of him, and the great things he has done for the salvation of fallen men? Or that we should not have very great and strong desires after God holiness? Is there any who will profess, that his affections in religion are great enough? 116

Jonathan Edwards additionally writes, "Those affections that are truly holy, are primarily founded on the loveliness of the moral excellency of divine things." He emphasizes the importance of having love for God and the Lord Jesus-Christ. This will help believers to hate sin and have desires and affections for the holiness of God.

John Calvin, a major player in the protestant Reformation, a pastor, and a theologian, states his own view of God's requirement of holiness for his children, "With

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> Bruce McRae, "Church Revitalization: Individual and Corporate Renewal" (PowerPoint Presentation, Covenant Theological Seminary, St. Louis, July 31, 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> Jonathan Edwards, A Treatise Concerning Religious Affections (n.p.: ReadaClassic.com, 2011), 39.

<sup>117</sup> Ibid

what better foundation can it begin than by reminding us that we must be holy, because 'God is holy'? (Lev 19:1; 1 Pet 1:16)." Lovelace, McRae, Edwards, and Calvin, all emphasize the need to have an awareness and hatred of sin and to love God's holiness as part of personal holiness.

Tom Ehrich, a writer, church consultant, and Episcopal priest, writes, "Jesus said God was 'making all things new.' Eventually, that becomes personal: one's own life is being transformed." The call to renewal is a call to transformation. Christopher J. H. Wright, an Anglican clergy and an Old Testament Scholar, writes, "The Gospel is Ethical Transformation. Repent and believe the gospel. Radical change of life goes along with faith in the good news.... The gospel involves putting off the filthy clothes of the old humanity and putting on the clothes that bear the aroma of Christlikeness." Wright shares similar view with the other scholars when it comes to the role of the gospel for a life of transformation for both the individual and the church as the ultimate objective of renewal. Michael Slaughter, lead pastor at Ginghamsburg Church since 1979, states "Church renewal consists of people in community with one another, dreaming God's vision, believing Christ's victory, and living out the Spirit's work. The evidence of renewal will be seen in transformed lives." Gregg Ogden, pastor of discipleship at

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> John Calvin, *Institutes of The Christian Religion* (Peabody, MA: Hendrickson Publishers Marketing, 2008), 446.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> Tom Ehrich, *Church Wellness: The Best Practice Guide to Nurturing Healthy Congregations* (New York: Church Publishing, 2008), 35.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> Christopher J. H. Wright, *The Mission of God's People: A Biblical Theology of the Churches Mission* (Grand Rapids, MI: Zondervan, 2010), 194.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup>Michael Slaughter, *Spiritual Entrepreneurs*: 6 Principles For Risking Renewal (Nashville: Abingdon Press, 1995), 19.

Christ Church in Oak Brook, Illinois, and ex-director of Doctor of Ministry Program at Fuller Theological Seminary, also defines that call to transformation when he writes,

When we respond to Christ, we enter a lifelong process of change... the call to transformation is a call to inward development. We are to overcome those obstacles in ourselves which hold us back and keep us from growing up into the full stature of Christ...The general call to Christ, community, and transformation places a priority on the inner life of being that undergirds and gives direction to the outer life of doing. 122

When congregants are renewed, they are transformed and endowed with gifts as growing and maturing Christians to serve both the church and the community.

On pastoral renewal, Jim Herrington, R. Robert Creech and Trisha Taylor, state, "To the degree that we are personally being transformed, we are able to lead the way as our congregations change, so that they will be available to God for the transformation of their community." Pastors, as head leaders, start the transformation. When they lead the way, people follow. Herrington, et. al., express the very essence of spiritual renewal: total transformation of the believers and the church in its mission focus.

Describing the state of renewal in the church of Jesus-Christ, Gregg Ogden states, "The very foundation of the church of Jesus-Christ is rumbling with renewal. God is raising up at the grass roots a Spirit-filled people who see themselves as ministers, spiritually gifted ecumenists who see worship as the center." This signifies that at the center of renewal is the process of raising leaders with Spirit-lead and God-given spiritual gifts, and finding pleasure in serving and worshiping God. In addition, both Smith and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> Gregg Ogden, *The New Reformation: Returning the Ministry to The People of God* (Grand Rapids, MI: Zondervan, 1990), 193-195.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> Jim Herrington, R. Robert Creech, and Trisha Taylor, *The Leader's Journey: Accepting the Call to Personal and Congregational Transformation* (San Francisco: Josey-Bass, 2003), 14-15.

<sup>124</sup> Ogden, The New Reformation, 25.

Sallon state, "Congregational renewal is a renewal of the people's understanding of their relationship with God, their relationship with their community, and their calling." The goal is to have the believers understand their relationship with God, their community, and their calling in order for renewal to happen.

A study conducted by three scholars, David Hung, Der-Thanq Victor Chen, and Thiam Seng Koh, on "*The Process for nurturing a community of practice/CoP*," provides four principles for growing, developing, and sustaining communities and the fourth principle is of great importance for spiritual renewal. Hung, et. al.'s fourth principle states, "there has to be a growth and renewal process of new members with past and present persons within the community." Pastors without a growth and renewal process for their congregants are pastors with a lack of spiritual nurturing leadership. Spiritual renewal is necessary for growing congregants in Christ. It must include everyone.

It is important, however, for pastor-leaders to inspire congregants' desire so they want to experience renewal. John Zachariah writes, "A Christian leaders is one who inspires others to live in a Christ-like manner and lives with integrity." This Christ-like manner of living is one that requires constant renewal. Richard F. Lovelace writes about two primary "essential elements of renewal, which stand out immediately as critically important elements in the history of church renewal: Justification and sanctification...

Justification: You are accepted; Sanctification: You are free from bondage of sin." 128

<sup>125</sup> Smith and Sallon, The Pathway to Renewal, 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> David Hung, Der-Thanq 'Victor' Chen, and Thiam Seng Koh, "The Process of Nurturing a Community of Practice," *Educational Media International* 43, no. 4 (December 2006): 269-270.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup> Zechariah. In Search of Christian Leadership Character, 41.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup> Lovelace, Dynamics of Spiritual Life, 74-75.

Justification and sanctification, Lovelace believes, are always part of renewal for any church, movements, or individuals. He states two other primary elements, which are, "The indwelling Spirit: You are not alone; Authority in spiritual conflict: You have authority." Keller adds, "The first visible sign of renewal is when nominal church members become converted... experienced new birth, or entered a living relationship with Christ by grace." These elements are necessary for a true renewal to be. They are equally important in reflecting a Christ-like manner transformation.

Paul in Romans writes, "And do not be conformed to this world, but be transformed by the renewing of your mind, that you may prove what is that good, and acceptable, and perfect, will of God." In his book, *The Imitation of Christ in the Gospel of Luke*, Jimmy Agan also writes about that life of transformation when he states, "We must therefore, turn away from false standards which so often shape our identity, values, and goals, instead allowing God and his purposes to define the things that are most important to us and about us." According these writers, having a Christ-like manner means put away the old nature and being willing to do things in a new way.

There are also new spiritual disciplines that must be practiced. Dr. Philip Douglas, professor and director of the Doctor of Ministry program at Covenant Theological Seminary, provides four steps for individual and corporate church renewal in his lecture PowerPoint Presentation on *Emmanuel's Church Renewal*, which are:

<sup>129</sup> Ibid., 75.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> Keller, Center Church, 79.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> Romans 12:2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup> Jimmy Agan, *The Imitation of Christ in the Gospel of Luke: Growing in Christlike Love for God and Neighbor* (Phillipsburg, NJ: P&R Publishing Company), 144.

- 1. Personal Renewal: Ps. 23:2-3. Look for patterns in the way the Lord has brought renewal in your life.
- 2. Church Renewal: Is. 40:31. Look for patterns in the way the Lord has brought renewal into the life of your church over her history.
- 3. Lead Your Key Leaders through Renewal: Eph. 2:10. By Divine Design Discovery.
- 4. Lead the Church through renewal: Acts 2:42. Discover your church specific mission. 133

Douglas looks at renewal in the church for both individually and corporately. These steps are important if pastors really want to achieve complete renewal in their church.

Slaughter, on the other hand, provides six principles of renewal. Slaughter states,

During every period of renewal, the church has been universally committed to six theologically principles: 1. The Lordship Principle: a clear focus on Jesus Christ as the object of faith; 2. The Biblical Principle: scriptural truth as the primary source for what we believe and do; 3: The Liturgical Principle: discovery of new worship forms; 4. The Covenant Principle: commitment to the integrity of membership; 5. The Priesthood Principle: equipping the laity for ministry; 6. The Leadership Principle: spiritual entrepreneurship. 134

In order for these principles to be recognized and applied during the renewal process, the church has to have strong and effective leaders, pastors who believe in renewal as an important element for church growth and development. Slaughter says, "The church must have Christ-Centered pastors and leaders. They must be spiritual entrepreneurs who are committed to these theological principles." These principles are very relevant in the congregants' developmental process.

Different scholars have written on these principles on varying ways. Regardless of their format, it is important for congregants and churches to practice renewal principles

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup> Philip Douglass, "Emmanuel's Renewal" (PowerPoint Presentation, Covenant Theological Seminary, St. Louis, July, 2014).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>134</sup> Slaughter, Spiritual Entrepreneurs, 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>135</sup> Ibid., 18-19.

that are in harmony with the biblical principles that can provide true transformation and renewal. When beginning a renewal process in the church, Smith and Sellon say, "Congregational renewal seeks to set new norms and ultimately to break the old patterns and the pattern-dependency of the congregational system." They believe that it is important in the beginning phase of renewal to form "initial leaders" that they called,

A germination group. The germination group serves as the initial container for nurturing renewal. Its aim is to initiate new patterns of thinking, working, and relating. This group... of interested people come together to learn and talk with each other about renewal, to dream about what might be possible for their congregation... A germination group brings together interested people to have initial conversations about a different way of being and doing church. <sup>138</sup>

These initial leaders, or germination group, are part of Slaughter's leadership principles of spiritual entrepreneurship where he writes,

God uses leaders to shape the dreams of leaders...I have found one of the best ways to see a burning bush is to find others who have seen one. Vision is contagious... Throughout church history, leaders of renewal have been able to see beyond the immediate barriers of culture-bound tradition, to sense God's intent for purpose and direction. <sup>139</sup>

Smith and Sellon state, "Renewal begins simply, with two or three people having conversations about what might be possible." They add, "Renewal, with its aim of realigning the life and work of a congregation, cannot take hold without the support of a congregation's formal leaders, clergy and lay." 141

<sup>138</sup> Ibid., 57-58.

<sup>136</sup> Smith and Sallon, The Pathway to Renewal, 57.

<sup>137</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>139</sup> Ibid., 107-109.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>140</sup> Ibid., 59.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>141</sup> Ibid., 65.

Merton P. Strommen, a research psychologist, and the founder of President of Search Institute, in his book, *The Innovative Church: Seven Steps to positive change in your Congregation*, agrees and elaborates,

A pastor's attitude, words, and actions establish an atmosphere in a congregation that is conducive to or resistant to effecting needed change. The relationship you establish with your members is all-important...When a pastor's style of leadership includes a commitment to needed change, an affirming attitude toward members, and an openness to experimentation and nee ideas, the atmosphere is warmed and becomes freeing. 142

According to these scholars, spiritual renewal cannot take place in a vacuum. It requires effective pastoral leadership, and it also requires pastors to have the right people with them who caught in the vision of renewal. Besides forming initial leaders in the renewal process, Smith and Sellon state, it is important to have a "renewal task force." This process, they say, is necessary and must be voted by the board "if renewal is to become an effort owned by the congregation and led by its leaders." The specific task of the renewal task force is very important in the initial renewal process and it is to:

Educate itself about congregational renewal; Anchor itself in a biblical and denominational understanding of the purpose and aim of the church and congregation; assess the current state of the congregation and its impact on its members and the surrounding community in relation to that purpose and aim; and bring to the board an assessment of the congregation's current trajectory and a recommendation about the congregation's future. 145

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup>Merton P. Strommen, *The Innovative Church: Seven Steps to Positive Change in Your Congregation* (Minneapolis: Augburg Fortress, 1997), 61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>143</sup> Smith and Sallon, *The Pathway to Renewal*, 66.

<sup>144</sup> Ibid

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>145</sup> Ibid., 69.

Strommen also support the ideas of a task force, when he writes, "Establishing task forces is a significant innovation." He also says,

First, establish in people's minds the need for a change, and then present this innovation as an approach that will enhance the mission of the congregation. Tie the innovation to the congregation's mission, and meaningfully involve all whose support is sought for the innovation. <sup>147</sup>

This step in the renewal process is necessary and part of the pastors' and church leaders' effective leadership ability. Whatever the renewal need is, it must first be assessed at the beginning phase. The congregants are to know why if it is to bring true change and transformation.

In the process of renewal, Smith and Sellon provide the following in the next process of renewal:

The opportunity for the entire congregation to build up neglected or never-formed faith muscles and invites members to join the leaders in thinking missionally and exploring the why of existence. People reflect on who they are as a congregation ...the congregation participates in discerning the new future to which God is calling it. 148

This step in Slaughter's six universal principles will be the priesthood principle, where the congregation is part of the process and is called to exercise a ministry according to the gifts that they have been given. Slaughter says, "Equipping laity for ministry is crucial in renewal. Helping people identify God's call." Slaughter also adds, "The church in renewal rediscovers this important New Testament principle- the priesthood all believers... All those who name Jesus as Lord are priests. All of us called to be co-

<sup>148</sup> Smith and Sallon. *The Pathway to Renewal*, 83.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>146</sup> Strommen, *The Innovative Church*, 54.

<sup>147</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>149</sup> Slaughter, Spiritual Entrepreneurs, 81.

laborers in his mission in the world. This principle lies at the heart of every renewal movement throughout the history of the church."<sup>150</sup> It is important that spiritual renewal in the church involves the ministry of all the believers and not just a few. Renewal in the church should be both individual and corporate according to each believer's calling and church mission.

Different scholars also strongly believe in the biblical and liturgical principle as means of spiritual disciplines for renewal. Tom Ehrich states, "Whether they say it or not, ...most people come to churches on a spiritual quest... the heart of their quest... is a hunger for God." There is no doubt that they come for spiritual nourishment, and transformation. Their spiritual hunt can only be satisfied in a church where renewal is constant in the church's biblical and liturgical practices. Through biblical and liturgical principles, congregants can practice different spiritual disciplines that can make congregational transformation possible. Dallas Willard, was an American philosopher, professor and author, in his book, *The Spirit of the Disciplines: Understanding How God Changes Lives*, writes,

So what is needed, then, is a theology of the disciplines for the spiritual life. We need a foundation, a practical, workable theology of them. We must understand why the disciplines are integral to meaningful life in Christ. We must be clear about the essential part they play in the full and effective presentation of the gospel and the truth about life in God's kingdom.<sup>152</sup>

A church or a believer's life without spiritual disciplines is a life doomed to failure. The disciplines, generally, are the part of the spiritual formation of the believers. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>150</sup> Ibid., 82-84.

<sup>151</sup> Ehrich, Church Wellness, 83.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup> Dallas Willard, *The Spirit of the Disciplines: Understanding How God Changes Lives* (New York: Harper Collins Publishers, 1988), 26.

believers must be taught about the meaning of the disciplines and why they are important.

There cannot be any continuous renewal in the congregants' life without spiritual disciplines.

When it comes to the practice of the biblical principle by the congregants, pastors have an enormous responsibility to teach to their congregants the meaning and the importance of spiritual renewal through the biblical knowledge and practice. They have an obligation to make it part of their church's renewal process for trans- formation and spiritual growth, and making sure that congregants understand and are part of the process. Lovelace says, "The beginning place for personal renewal in most congregations is a preaching and teaching ministry which emphasizes primary elements of spiritual dynamics: depth proclamation of the gospel." Lovelace emphasizes the preaching of law and grace based on needs to help with the process of individual and congregational renewal." <sup>154</sup> In the biblical principle Slaughter states, "Scriptural truth is the primary source for what we believe and do. Biblical preaching, speaking with the authority of the Word of God, for transformation and (not) information only." Slaughter shows the need for the relevance of scripture as God-given authority through preaching and teaching in the renewal and transformation of the congregants. Regarding this principle Slaughter also says, "Renewal grows out of rediscovery of biblical truth...People are longing for a word from God... our people yearn for a message from God."156

<sup>153</sup> Lovelace, Dynamics of Spiritual Life, 210.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>154</sup> Ibid., 210-211.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>155</sup> Slaughter, Spiritual Entrepreneurs, 46.

<sup>156</sup> Ibid., 48, 50.

Charles R. Swindoll, an evangelical pastor, author, educator, and radio preacher, in his book, *The Church Awakening, An Urgent Call for Renewal*, expresses similar views on the need to practice the biblical principles when he writes, "A contagious church has a number of individuals living out clear, biblical principles with the result that people pause in the midst of their busy lives. They realize this is a place worth their coming and participating." Both writers agree that there are congregants that are hungry and cannot wait to be transformed and renewed through the preaching of the word of God.

Swindoll also provides four biblical essentials of the biblical principles that are important for congregants to grow and be renewed spiritually. Swindoll states,

Many congregations... have experienced phenomenal growth. Unbelievable growth. But upon closer examination, you discover that they have not committed themselves to the four biblical essentials for a church as prescribed in the book of Acts: Teaching, fellowship, breaking of break, and prayer, (Acts 2:42). 158

He also added, "One of the worst things we can do in our churches is to take our eyes off the essentials." Swindoll clearly shares Slaughter's view when it comes to the biblical principle as an essential element of spiritual renewal. Like Slaughter, Swindoll also emphasizes on the importance of preaching with regard to Paul's admonition to the young Timothy in Timothy chapter 4:1-4, where he comments and says, "The command is clear: 'Preach the word' – followed by an explanation of when and how to do it. But there is also a why, a reason to proclaim boldly the Bible on a consistent basis." These

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup> Charles R. Swindoll, *The Church Awakening: An Urgent Call for Renewal* (New York: FaithWords Hachette Book Group), 71.

<sup>158</sup> Ibid.

<sup>159</sup> Ibid., 76.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>160</sup> Ibid., 72.

scholars understanding how critical preaching is to the congregants when it comes to their renewal and growth.

Sharing his personal experience about church renewal, Slaughter says, "Renewal broke out at our church when the people began to actively do what we had been reading in God's Word." This is to mean that the people had become the doers of the word instead of the hearers of the word; and this is critical when it comes to the biblical principle for renewal. In addition to preaching, the writers have also emphasized teaching through bible study to bring change and renewal to the congregants.

Larry Kreider, the founder and international director of DOVE Christian
Fellowship International and author of more than 38 books, in his book, *Authentic Spiritual Mentoring*, states, "It's not only new believers who are spiritual babies in the church today. Older Christians who lack spiritual maturity are adults in age but babies in spiritual growth." This means all believers in the church new and old are in need of spiritual transformation. Kreider says, "Good spiritual parents focus on teaching the early lessons of Christian faith and moving their children on to new horizons." Pastors as spiritual fathers are responsible to teach the believers for spiritual transformation. For that to happen Kreider says, "Teach them the Word of God either one on one or in a small-group setting where everyone is learning the same basic foundational teachings...Get the new believer involved with other believers in both a small group and larger group settings

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>161</sup> Slaughter, Spiritual Entrepreneurs, 56.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>162</sup> Larry Kreider, Authentic Spiritual Spiritual Mentoring: Nurturing Younger Believers Toward Spiritual Maturity (Ventura, CA: Regal), 55.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>163</sup> Ibid., 56.

so that they do not become emotionally dependent on their mentors." <sup>164</sup> Gregg Ogden agrees and adds,

The Written Word that points to Jesus-Christ is central to both formal and informal gatherings of God's people. Formally, it is right to make provision for people to "sit under" the teaching and proclamation of the Word. God has gifted and set apart prophets whose passion for truth energizes the body to faithfulness. Prophetic preachers keep a community of believers stirred up, having to confront truth in the context of the spirit of the times. There must also be formal structures for teachers to explain and fill in the whys and wherefores of the breadth of the biblical message. <sup>165</sup>

Robert Schnase serves as a bishop in the Missouri Conference of the United Methodist Church, and in his book, *Five Practices of Fruitful Congregations*, states, "We learn the life of Christ and will of God by studying God's Word and through experience with other people of faith." Krieder, Ogden, Schnase have put great emphasis on preaching and teaching the Bible to congregants as necessary elements for growth and renewal the knowledge of God through Christ. As stated in Slaughter's discipline, "It is the business of the church to enable people to come to this point of biblical understanding, where transformation results. Renewal depends upon the local church rediscovering the vital unique truth that God has given us in this book." <sup>167</sup>

The liturgical principle is another important principle for spiritual renewal. James Hinkle, elder and former minister at the Burns Church and college professor, in his book, *Developing Church Leaders, Understanding and Nurturing Leadership in the Local* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>164</sup> Ibid., 55-56.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>165</sup> Ogden, The New Reformation, 112-113.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>166</sup> Robert Schnase, Five Practices of Fruitful Congregations (Nashville: Abingdon Press, 2007), 65.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>167</sup> Slaughter, *Spiritual Entrepreneurs*, 57.

Congregation, writes, "We get our modern word 'liturgy' from this Greek word (leitourgos), translated by others as worshipping." 168

C. John Miller founded New Life Presbyterian Church and taught at Westminster Theological Seminary. From his book, *Outgrowing the Ingrown Church*, he outlines the first of four steps for renewal as, "Develop an openness to God's vision for the local church." He elaborates,

It is an important step forward in the local church whenever the pastor or other leaders begin to ask questions about the routine of worship. Questions that need to be asked include: How does God see us as we worship together?...Does our worship reveal a growing consciousness among us of the darkness from which we redeemed.<sup>169</sup>

This implies that congregational worship must have a reason. It must connect congregants to their spiritual state of being. According to theologian, authors, and professor D. A. Carson, "Worship is the proper response of all moral, sentient beings to God, ascribing all honor and worth to their Creator-God precisely because He is worthy, delightfully so... What we must strive for is growing knowledge of God delight in Him – not delight in worship per se, but delight in God." What would worship be if the ultimate goal were not a growing knowledge of the creator and a delight in him? Regarding liturgical principle, Slaughter states,

Renewal gives birth to new worship forms... We were created to worship. Worship is that place where we get in touch with God's presence and discover anew who we are. Through worship, our spirits are energized and our priorities realigned... Worship is one of the most important experiences together as a community of faith. It must be vital and relevant to people in the context of their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>168</sup> James Hinkle, *Developing Church Leaders: Understanding and Nurturing Leadership in the Local Congregation* (Grand Rapids, MI: Zondervan, 201), 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>169</sup> C. John Miller, *Outgrowing the Ingrown Church* (Grand Rapids, MI: Zondervan, 1999), 72-73.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>170</sup> D. A. Carson, Worship by the Book (Grand Rapids, MI: Zondervan, 2002), 30, 32.

life situation. We need to work hard at not letting it become drab, routine, or boring. <sup>171</sup>

Slaughter believes that pastors must change the way that their churches worship if they want renewal. In return, renewal must propel and bring new ways of worshipping. Slaughter shared his experience at a church where he pastured when he writes,

We assemble worship team comprised of people who play synthesizers, guitars, flutes, horns, cellos, drums, and a variety of other instruments. Not only does this better reflect the music of our contemporary culture, but it gives many more people an opportunity to participate in worship in by using their gifts and talents.<sup>172</sup>

Ogden says,

There is found in many places today as people alive in Christ who come together ready to pour out their hearts to God. It matters little whether the worship is highly structured or spontaneous. The difference is that people are prepared to give of themselves in song, prayer, praise, and response to the Word of God. <sup>173</sup>

Slaughter and Ogden agree on the importance of pastors including different people, if not everyone, in worship. Worship must be done in a way where everyone feels included, is nourished, and experiences God's true presence and holiness. Worship is to be a renewal experience.

To do so, pastors may have to engage people's assumptions and expectations. Gregg Ogden writes, "Often worship is viewed by God's people as an opportunity to escape from the pressures of real life. People want the sermon to be simply a positive

<sup>172</sup> Ibid., 63

<sup>173</sup> Ogden, The New Reformation, 24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup> Ibid., 59-63

word in the midst of a world that beats on them throughout the week. An equipping pastor will want to leave people with power and substance of the Word of God."<sup>174</sup>

Swindoll states, "Because God seeks our worship, it stands to reason that the church is to represent both a place of worship... and a place that cultivates its worshipers." Robert Schnase says,

God uses worship to transform lives, heal wounded souls, renew hope, shape decisions, provoke change, inspire compassion, and bind people to one another. God through Christ actively seeks relationship to us through worship...God in Christ changes people's lives through Passionate Worship. Worship stirs people's souls, inspires them, and strengthens them. They find such help and courage and belonging and care that they cannot help but talk about the sermons, ideas, stories, music, and prayers during the week. 176

Pastors, as the primary leaders of worship and renewal, have the responsibility of ensuring that believers—new and old—have a true worship experience in their churches. Pastors and church leaders must cultivate their worshipers for a true spiritual transformation.

Along with worship, scholars also encourage churches to consider the role of membership and renewal. In his covenant principle, Slaughter states,

Renewal involves commitment to the integrity of membership... When a church gets serious about renewal, it begins to ask new questions about the responsibilities of membership... It costs something to be a follower of Jesus Christ. In times of renewal, the Church rediscovers this important principle. The integrity of membership cannot be divorced from the cost of discipleship. <sup>177</sup>

Slaughter emphasizes that congregants must know that they are part of the covenant principle. Membership requires them to be committed disciples of Christ and as disciples

175 Swindoll, *The Church Awakening*, 117.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>174</sup> Ibid., 132-133.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>176</sup> Schnase, Five Practices of Fruitful Congregations, 34, 53.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>177</sup> Slaughter, *Spiritual Entrepreneurs*, 69, 71-80.

they have a duty and a mission to do. Smith and Sellon says, "Phase 2 (of the renewal process) provides the opportunity for the entire congregation to build up neglected or never-formed faith muscles and invites members to join the leaders in thinking missionally and exploring the 'why' of existence. People reflect on who they are as a congregation." Smith and Selon talk about the why of existence for congregants as committed members and mission-minded disciples of Christ.

Renewal also includes mission. Michael W. Goheen, professor of missiology at Calvin Theological Seminary, in *Introducing Christian Mission Today*, says, "Mission is the whole task of the church to witness to the whole gospel in the whole world. It involves the whole life of the people of God…"<sup>179</sup> Doing mission is what defines the renewal and development stage of congregants. Goheen agrees and writes,

Throughout the biblical story to this point the mission of God through his people has been centripetal: the people of God are to be attractive so those outside will come, drawn by the salvation visible in Israel...However, with Antioch the mission of God through his people takes a centrifugal direction: the people of God go out to the nations. <sup>180</sup>

Another way to describe this attractiveness is renewal; a group of people seen by others as being transformed members of God's kingdom. It is this renewal attractiveness that also compels congregants to do mission in order to reach their community and the world.

As the church pursues mission, it proclaims Jesus as Lord. Regarding his lordship principle, Slaughter states, "Renewal happens as the church moves from a vague theism to a clear faith in Jesus-Christ. The focus of the church is not church, but Jesus! God is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>178</sup> Smith and Sallon, *The Pathway to Renewal*, 83.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> Michael W. Goheen, *Introducing Christian Mission Today: Scripture, History and Issues* (Downers Grove, IL: Inter Varsity Press, 2014), 402.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>180</sup> Ibid., 66.

made known to us in Christ. Faith comes alive in Christ. Lives are transformed and empowered through Christ." In doing spiritual renewal, pastors should not lose the main focus: recognizing the supreme authority of Christ as Lord and through whom lives can be transformed and changed. Writing about the role Christ plays, C. John Miller outlines his third step to renewal, "Personalize your relationship with Christ." <sup>182</sup> He continues, "So, in my serving for His glory, I must always trust that I am cooperating with Christ, the primary Worker." <sup>183</sup> Christ is and should always be premier in all of spiritual endeavors. Slaughter adds, "The key for renewal is a clear focus on Jesus Christ as the object of faith and the cause of truth... When Jesus becomes the focus of the life of the local church, new life comes to dry bones, and people begin to stand up and become a vital army." <sup>184</sup> All the other principles revolve around this important principle of knowing who God is and who Jesus is. Having the proper and correct understanding of who Jesus is will give believers reason to worship, pray, fast, meditate, live Christ-like lives, and minister for him in their community. The lordship principle must be well understood and accepted by the congregants if they are to renew their spiritual life in accordance to the will of God.

Tom Ehrich writes of St. Augustine who stated, "Lord you have made us for Yourself, and our soul are restless until they find their rest in you." <sup>185</sup> In other words, knowing who God is and finding spiritual rest in him leads to spiritual rest. Ehrich

<sup>181</sup> Slaughter, Spiritual Entrepreneurs, 32.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup> Miller, Outgrowing the Ingrown Church, 75.

<sup>183</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>184</sup> Slaughter, *Spiritual Entrepreneurs*, 35, 45.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup> Ehrich, Church Wellness, 84.

continues, "Responding to that spiritual quest is a tricky business...the best practice for responding to this delicate situation is to provide ...instruction in the classical spiritual disciplines (such as prayer, meditation, fasting and service)."186 Lovelace classifies some of these disciplines in the renewal phase as secondary elements of renewal and "are necessary for continual growth and renewal." These spiritual disciplines should accompany the congregants' continual spiritual formation for renewal. Ehrich includes study and meditation on the word as a spiritual discipline whereby he writes, "As a spiritual discipline, study means activities such as sitting with a verse from Scripture and allowing it to speak, writing an essay or story that takes one deeper into a thought about God and/or life."188 For Ehrich, one does not just read and study the Bible, but also meditate in order to allow scripture to do its work of life, transforming and renewing.

The spiritual discipline of prayer is also a necessary element for congregants' renewal. Ehrich says, "Prayer means talking to God in whatever language or form one can manage." 189 Lovelace writes, "The Third Awakening... consisted mainly of groups of lay people meeting together to pray for the outpouring of the Holy Spirit." <sup>190</sup> Lovelace makes the case for prayer as an important discipline for renewal, transformation, revival, and awakening, without which none can happen. Lovelace strongly conveys that message when he states,

<sup>186</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>187</sup> Lovelace, Dynamics of Spiritual Life, 144-147.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>188</sup> Ehrich, Church Wellness, 87.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>189</sup> Ibid., 85.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>190</sup> Lovelace, Dynamics of Spiritual Life, 152.

The act of prayer is one of the closest approaches to the experience of redemption we can have before the eternal state...If all regenerate church members in Western Christendom were to intercede daily simply for the most obvious spiritual concerns visible in their homes, their workplaces, their local churches and denominations...the transformation which would result would be incalculable <sup>191</sup>

According to Lovelace, prayer is very important in the process of renewal. It brings about spiritual transformation. Prayer is like faith. Without faith, there is no Christianity. Without prayer, there can be no spiritual transformation and renewal. On the importance of prayer, Dr. Kenneth Boa, the President of Reflection Ministries and author of several books, writes,

Prayer is personal communion and dialogue with the living God. Seen from a biblical perspective, prayer is an opportunity and a privilege rather than a burden or a duty. It is the meeting place where we draw near to God to receive his grace, to release our burdens and fears, and to be honest with the Lord. 192

Believers should be taught that prayer is a means of God's grace, a gift to commune with him and be connected with the divine. Prayer is an importunity given by God to men to come and cast their burden at his feet. Andrew Murray, a South African writer, teacher, and pastor, in his book, With Christ in the School of Prayer, also writes,

Nothing delights Him more than to find those whom he can take with Him into the Father's presence, whom He can clothe with power to pray down God's blessing on those around them, whom He can train to be His fellow workers in the intercession by which the kingdom is to be revealed on earth. . . What think you, my beloved fellow-disciples! Would it not be just what we need, to ask the Master for a month to give us a course of special lessons on the art of prayer?<sup>193</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>191</sup> Ibid., 158-160.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>192</sup> Kenneth Boa, Conformed to His Image: Biblical and Practical Approach to Spiritual Formation (Grand Rapids, MI: Zondervan 2001), 83-84.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>193</sup> Andrew Murray, With Christ in the School of Prayer (Middletown, DE: Merchant Books, 2013), 5.

Murray emphasizes the importance of prayer. Contrary to what most people think of prayer, Murray wants effective pastors to teach their congregations about prayer and how delightful it is. Prayer is vital for congregational spiritual transformation, revival, and renewal.

Another discipline of spiritual renewal is fasting. Ehrich says, "Fasting needs to be chosen, not compelled; sought for positive reasons, not grudgingly adopted for negative reasons. It can have several meanings, but generally needs to go deeper than a child's Lenten promise to give up, say, chocolate." Ehrich emphasizes fasting as a necessary discipline to help believers go deeper into their spiritual life for change and transformation. Similarly, Murray says,

And prayer needs fasting for its full growth...Prayer is the one hand with which we grasp the invisible; fasting, the other, with which we let loose and cast away the visible...fasting helps to express, to deepen, and to confirm the resolution that we are ready to sacrifice anything, to sacrifice ourselves, to attain what we seek for the kingdom of God. 195

Renewal requires a lot of sacrifices giving up of the self and the will to change old habits to new ones. Fasting, as a spiritual renewal discipline, will help congregants do just that. Ehrich says, "This most ancient spiritual discipline is rarely practiced, but can be a life-changing experience." This is a summary of renewal: a life transformation.

The other necessary spiritual discipline for renewal is service/mission. Ehrich states, "Also known as mission and servanthood, 'service' means giving one's life for the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>194</sup> Ehrich, Church Wellness, 88.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>195</sup> Murray, With Christ in the School of Prayer, 84-85.

<sup>196</sup> Ehrich, Church Wellness, 88.

good of another person. It is the acting out of 'love your neighbor.'" Swindoll adds, "Christian service means invading a battleground, not a playground, and you and I are the weapons God uses to attack and defeat the enemy." Service and mission require true discipleship and when believers serve others, they fulfill the mission of love to their neighbor. Ogden says, "All service is honorable to the Lord." Ehrich adds,

Service includes giving away one's wealth, but it shouldn't stop there, as often happens in church mission. Service should also mean "getting your hands dirty." Doing work, making sacrifices, joining hands with others to build a house or did a trench or fight for justice. The personal dimension of service its what truly transforms both giver and receiver... Mission work matters. 200

Service/mission is where congregants learn to exercise love for fellow believers, their neighbor, and their community. The purpose of mission is transformation. Lovelace says,

All... dimensions of renewal are related and reinforce one another. Mission cannot be effectively pursued without prayer... Realities and effective prayer can only grow out of a community oriented toward mission. Genuine Christian community takes part of its motivation from shared consciousness of mission...<sup>201</sup>

Lovelace states, counseling as another discipline for local congregation renewal when he writes.

A fully developed counseling ministry is normally essential to the renewal of the local congregation...Therefore, counseling which brings spiritual release and renewal explore (the full armor of justifying and sanctifying righteousness and with vital dependence on the Spirit) with great sensitivity to determine whether or not a vigorous response of faith is appropriating each of these benefits of union with Christ.<sup>202</sup>

<sup>198</sup> Swindoll, *The Church Awakening*, 103.

<sup>201</sup> Lovelace, *Dynamics of Spiritual Life*, 146.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>197</sup> Ibid., 89.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>199</sup> Ogden, The New Reformation, 178.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>200</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>202</sup> Ibid

When it comes to the spiritual disciplines for renewal—whether its prayer, fasting, , meditation, service/mission, or counseling—they are all spiritually connected. When believers are spiritually renewed and transformed, they are ready to express it in good deeds by doing mission outreach in their community and abroad in order to share God's love and Christ fellowship to others in need. Congregants that go through spiritual renewal are in a state of readiness to be trained, and equipped in order to utilize their God-given potential through spiritual gifts.

## **Spiritual Gifts-development**

In writing about leadership and gifts the author, author Brian Hall states, "Leadership, as we shall use the term, denotes the exercise of a particular set of gifts where a person finds him or herself called to a position of influence over a community of persons."

It is to be understood that any leadership that does not show and encourage the exercise of a particular set of gifts is not a true and effective leadership. Hall also says, "The Christian traditions have always been aware that the spiritual life is a journey—it is a developmental process from conversion to the higher experience of living day to day in conscious awareness of our Lord."

Hall implies how both the leaders (the pastors) and those being trained (the congregants) are becoming leaders. Developing congregants' gifts is a process that involves their spiritual journey and their spiritual experiences.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>203</sup> Brian Hall, "Leadership Development and Spiritual Growth," *Anglican Theological Review* 66 (June 9, 1984): 100.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>204</sup> Ibid.

Professors Bob Burns, Tasha D. Chapman, and Donald C. Guthrie, in their book, Resilient Ministry, state,

when ministry leaders fail to develop others and then turn responsibility over to them, they actually harm their own effectiveness. They also curtail the growth and maturity of their system by making everything depend upon them...It's important to recognize the gifts of others and enjoy seeing others exercise their gifts rather than being threatened by them.<sup>205</sup>

Pastors must develop and encourage the gifts of their congregants. In turn, pastors become more effective and their congregants to grow and mature spiritually. Pastors who want to be effective in their leadership and nurturing ministry must prioritize congregants' gifts. Their effectiveness depends on how they train, equip, and delegate responsibilities according to their members' gifts. Berlin and Weems Jr. state, "The ability to delegate tasks while retaining responsibility is critical to fruitful leadership ...Delegation is more than just assigning work. You maintain a role as leader, but it is no longer to do everything yourself. You continue to give oversight because you cannot shed the ultimate responsibility." 206

Pastoral willingness to delegate responsibility is paramount for congregants' gifts to develop. Berlin and Weems also state,

There are many benefits to effective delegation. You maximize your time for the tasks only you can do. You can utilize the gifts of those with knowledge you do not have. You help others develop new skills and knowledge. You motivate others as you trust them with important tasks. You increase chances for success through more involvement.<sup>207</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>205</sup> Burns, Chapman, and Guthrie, Resilient Ministry, 240.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>206</sup> Berlin and Weems, *High Yield*, 88-89.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>207</sup> Ibid., 89.

Berlin and Weems continue, "It is critical to take time to cultivate key leaders, individuals without whom the vision cannot be realized...Key leaders have to possess spiritual depth and hold a faithful and sound theology if they are to serve the church."<sup>208</sup>

These scholars intertwine nurturing with gifts development. The goal of delegation is to better others by developing their skills and knowledge. Leaders trust them with more responsibilities, and in doing so, congregants become key leaders in their respective role and exercise their gifts that will lead and move the church forward.

John Zechariah, in his book, In Search of Christian Leadership Character, states, "A great leader inspires his/her followers to reach higher levels of excellence." Pastors develop their key leaders for effectiveness and excellence for the ministry for which they are called.

When it comes to developing the people's spiritual gifts two authors, Chapman and Sisodia understand it as nurturing and caring for the people when they write,

Our responsibility as leaders, be it business, the military, in government, or in education, is to create an environment where people can discover their gifts, develop their gifts, share their gifts, and be recognized and appreciated for doing so-which creates an opportunity for them to have a more meaningful life, a life of purpose.<sup>210</sup>

According to Chapman and Sisodia, leaders must understand their calling and purpose by allowing people space and opportunity to develop their gifts and talents. If leaders say they care, they must develop their people's potential to a meaningful purpose. Chapman and Sisodia also say, "People come into this world with gifts and talents, full of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>208</sup> Ibid., 78.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>209</sup> Zechariah. In Search of Christian Leadership Character, 27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>210</sup> Chapman and Sisodia. Everybody Matters, 68.

possibilities and unrealized potential. Our responsibility as leaders is to help them realize those possibilities by looking for the talents and goodness that exist in them and inspiring them to become what they are meant to be."<sup>211</sup>Leaders must ensure that the gifts and talents of their people are developed to their full potential. It is a noble and awesome responsibility.

In explaining how leaders develop people to their potential for growth, Lovett H. Weems Jr. in *Church Leadership*, states,

The leader needs to be strong and active, but in an interactive relationship with others in the organization. The developer model asks the leader to see every situation that arises as an opportunity to achieve two purposes: the accomplishment of the task and the growth and development of other people in the organization. <sup>212</sup>

Leaders who want to develop their employees or their followers must use every given opportunity in order to grow them to their full potential. Pastors are not exempt, and they, too, are required to have interactive relationship with their congregants, which will create success at the church leadership level.

A study on leadership development by Jason M. Newcomer, Sandra Kolberg, and Jon M. Corey, from Walden School of School of Management, found, "The top 5 percent of companies with effective leadership practices dedicate twice as much effort as other businesses to leadership development, a clear indication that the latter is a factor in organizational success." This study shows the importance of leaders developing their

<sup>212</sup> Weems, *Church Leadership*, 72.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>211</sup> Ibid., 68.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>213</sup> Jason M. Newcomer, Sandra Kolberg, and Jon M. Corey, "Leadership Development," *Air & Space Power Journal* 28, no. 5 (September 1, 2014): 74.

staff for effectiveness. Pastors can benefit if they also take time to develop the gifts of their congregants for effectiveness.

Educational research can teach pastors about nurturing practices and developing spiritual gifts. David Hung, Der-Thanq 'Victor' Chen, and Thiam Seng Koh propose four principles for growing, developing, and sustaining communities. The second principle states, "the community has, over time, to develop a repertoire of artefacts for mutual enterprise. These artefacts represent the knowledge and skills of the members in that community." Churches can learn from this principle as they develop congregants' spiritual gifts. When the church has congregants whose gifts are identified, developed, and recognized those gifts can be utilized to edify the saints and grow the congregation. This will help congregants become stable in practicing their spiritual gifts. Kouzes and Posner in their book, *Christian Reflections on Leadership Challenge*, say,

Developing is called talent radar... As a leader, learn what areas of strength each person on your team possesses. Everybody is good at something. Become a talent expert. Be on the lookout for clues by the way people respond to a situation. They are giving you information about what they're good at...Do whatever it takes to get educated in spotting individual strengths in others: take classes, read books, attend seminars.<sup>215</sup>

Both scholars understand that when leaders are developing others, it is important for them to know the area of their strength, which will facilitate the growth and the development process.

John Hall, contributor, co-founder, and CEO of Influence & Co., states, "If you nurture your employees' individual abilities to communicate the essence of your brand,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>214</sup> Hung, Chen, and Koh, "The Process of Nurturing a Community of Practice," 269-270.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>215</sup> James M. Kouzes and Barry Z. Posner, *Christian Reflections on Leadership Challenge* (San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 2004), 93.

their voices will come together in a harmonious way."<sup>216</sup> Similarly, if pastors nurture their congregants' God-given abilities in their spiritual gifts, they will communicate the essence of the gospel of Jesus-Christ effectively and harmoniously as one body. Pastors must do this by matching their members' gifts according to their strengths.

Albert Winseman, Donald Clifton, and Curt Liesveld, partners and leaders of the Faith-Based Organizations of the Gallup Organization, explain, "The fundamental building block of any strength is talent. When you enhance a talent by adding the right skills and useful knowledge, you have created a strength. Again, to live your strengths, you must first identity your talents" Pastors cannot develop congregants without knowing what their gifts or talents are. Looking at the early church's development of new believers' gifts, the authors state, "Early believers were encouraged to find their place in the new community and to discover their gifts in order to be truly fulfilled as followers of Jesus." For these new believers, they write, "By living in community with others who had discovered this truth, they found opportunities to 'build each other up' – to encourage one another to discover their talents, build strengths, and maximize their gifts." A community of believers needs to encouragement to develop their talents, gifts, and full potential. Everyone can encourage one another. Winseman, Clifton, and Liesveld

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>216</sup> John Hall, "Don't Silence Your Team: Nurture Your Employees to Become Thought Leaders, Forbes/Entrepreneurs," www.forbes.com, September 2015, accessed October 25, 2016, http://www.forbes.com/sites/johnhall/2015/09/27/dont-silence-your-team-nurture-your-employees-to-become-thought-leaders/#7410130f497c.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>217</sup> Albert Winseman, Donald Clifton, and Curt Liesveld, *Living Your Strength: Discover Your God-Given Talents and Inspire Your Community* (New York: Gallup Press, 2004), 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>218</sup> Ibid., 195.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>219</sup> Ibid., 194.

furthermore say, "When people serve in roles that fit their talents and gifts, God does marvelous things." <sup>220</sup>

Pastors must encourage the development and the use of talents and the gifts and also have people serve in the area of their gifts according to their strength. Tom Rath, an American consultant on employee engagement, strengths, and well-being says, "Carefully avoid supporting someone who is consistently struggling in his or her role. In such instances, the most developmental action you can take is to encourage him or her to find a different role – a role that fits." Paul W. Abramowitz, in his article, "Nurturing Relationships: An Essential Ingredient of Leadership," states,

It has been my experience in all types of labor markets that an effective leader must work very hard to match workers' strengths with appropriate job responsibilities. We all know that this is an imperfect world and that everyone has positive and negative characteristics. In a tight labor market, it becomes imperative to capitalize on a person's positives and minimize the impact of his or her negatives. <sup>222</sup>

Like other scholars, Abramowitz stresses matching people's strengths to their roles, whether in church or in a particular organization.

Winseman, Clifton, and Liesveld also say, pastors should recognize and celebrate the congregants' talents and gifts. They reference Paul's letter to the Corinthians when they state,

If the Church was to be true to the purpose for which God intended it, Paul asserted, then individual talents and gifts needed to not only recognized, but celebrated... When we recognize, celebrate, and develop the diversity of talents

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>220</sup> Ibid., 199.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>221</sup> Tom Rath, Strengths Finder 2.0 (New York: Gallup Press, 2007), 91.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>222</sup> Paul W. Abramowitz, "Nurturing Relationships: An Essential Ingredient of Leadership," 482.

that live among us, we are fulfilling God's purpose not just for our individual lives, but also for the church.<sup>223</sup>

Winseman, Clifton, and Liesveld add, "Understanding your talents and strengths, and those of the people you work, can dramatically improve your effectiveness and accomplishments." They further explain, "A good coach can help people see talents and strengths that they often cannot see for themselves."

To those who coach and develop others for growth, Rath states, "Seek roles in which your primary responsibilities include facilitating growth. Teaching, coaching, or managing roles might prove satisfying for you." Pastors need to recognize and acknowledge members with talents and to coach and develop them accordingly. In addition, to "naturally look for the best in people."

Winseman, Clifton, and Liesveld believe that a leader must include everyone when they write, "Stretch the circle wider. This is the philosophy around which you orient your life. You want to include people and make them feel part of the group. You hate the sight of someone on the outside looking in. You can draw them in so that they can feel the warmth of the group." Winseman, Clifton, and Liesveld emphasize the need for leaders and pastors to include everyone who is not yet part of their circle. The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>223</sup> Winseman, Clifton, and Liesveld, *Living Your Strength*, 201, 203.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>224</sup> Ibid., 181.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>225</sup> Ibid., 210.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>226</sup> Rath, Strengths Finder 2.0, 90.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>227</sup> Ibid., 151.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>228</sup> Ibid., 63.

need is to make everyone feel a sense of belonging and to involve them in the inner circle activity. In a more specific way, they say,

If you are particularly talented in Includer (the leader), you are accepting of others. You show awareness of those feel left out, and you made an effort to include them... For you, the Church is never an exclusive club for the chosen few. It is always an inclusive community where everyone is welcome. <sup>229</sup>

These scholars understand how crucial it is to make everyone, and not just a few, feel a sense of belonging and that they are valuable. Including everyone and helping everyone discover their spiritual potential and their God-given talent is true pastoral nurturing leadership.

Richard Patterson says, "Nurture is that aspect of church ministry which focuses upon developing individual believers to discover, claim, and be all that their Creator designed His people to be." Bruce P. Powers agrees and expounds upon the idea. He provides some ways to develop people and leaders in the church,

Teachers and leaders in a local church require an effective Christian education program of training... Teachers need content knowledge in the areas in which they provide instructions, and process skills to teach work with person in small-and large group situations. Other church leaders need content and skills to make them productive in fulfilling their offices as well.<sup>231</sup>

It is necessary for members to be trained so that they can train others. Powers states that the spiritual leader of the church—the pastor—should oversee this process,

A minister is expected to be a spiritual leader (etc)... Another major responsibility is that providing training for the laity. A minister can multiply outreach and ministry by investing time and effort in instructing members of the teaching staff... The pastor should encourage, support, and strengthen the education of the teaching staff. The content of teacher training...must be balanced with knowledge

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>229</sup> Ibid., 150.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>230</sup> Patterson, *Effectively Leading*, 53.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>231</sup> Powers, Christian Education Handbook, 225.

of subject matter in theology, biblical foundations, missions, music, evangelism, and an understanding of Christian education in the church. 232

For Powers, if pastors are serious about developing their congregants to their full potential, then pastors must encourage their congregants and provide them with the necessary training to be effective leaders. Powers adds, "A primary purpose for a church training is to equip leaders for effective service." One of the ways to recognize lay-leaders, Tom Ehrich writes is to "engage clergy directly in the leadership development process, with a direct role in identifying promising leaders, recruiting them and training them. Require all leaders to participate in training programs that are appropriate to their duties and to their level of responsibility."

Daniel P. Smith and Mary K. Sallon state,

In a healthy congregation clergy and laity exercise leadership jointly. Both take responsibility for developing individuals as disciples of Christ and the organization as the Body of Christ...The continual surfacing and development of new leaders is key to the ongoing transformation of the congregation.<sup>235</sup>

Smith and Sallon state that developing congregants, whether their gifts, talents, or skills, is part of their spiritual renewal, transformation, and growth. It is incumbent upon pastors to make sure this important process continues to take place in the life of their congregants through training and developmental programs. Powers says, "Each program has the responsibility for tasks that give shape to some aspect of Christian growth and development."

1014., 251.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>232</sup> Ibid., 226-227.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>233</sup> Ibid., 231.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>234</sup> Ehrich, Church Wellness, 42.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>235</sup> Smith and Sallon, *The Pathway to Renewal*, 130-131.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>236</sup> Powers, Christian Education Handbook, 275.

Pastors train for individual growth and collective growth. A qualitative study by Meghan M. Fitzgerald and Rachel Theilheimer entitled, *Teams in the Workplace*, examined three Head Start Centers on leadership training for their staff development. The study found,

A climate of trust, respect, open communication, and clear organization emerged as important for the risk taking necessary for teachers to learn together. This climate depended on leadership that was willing to take on challenges, innovate, and make room for teacher autonomy. Teamwork thrived in a program that purposely built relationships among staff through opportunities for communication, the development of a shared philosophy, and the possibility of being known and feeling known by colleagues and supervisors. When administrators solicited and used teachers' feedback about professional development, the teachers felt themselves a valued part of the teaching community.<sup>237</sup>

This study shows the importance of involving everyone in the development process and making them feel a part of the community of learning and development.

C. Peter Wagner, an apostle, theologian, missiologist, writer, teacher, and church growth specialist, researches what the spiritual gifts are, people's attitude towards them, and how to develop them in his book, *Your Spiritual Gifs: Can Help Your Church Grow*. Wagner writes, "Most (churches) affirm at least in theory that laypeople should be empowered to discover their spiritual gifts and through them participate in the authentic ministry of the church." According to Robert G. Duch, in his book *Successful Parish Ministry*,

Empowering means love= knowing, caring, respecting, and responding. When people are being given a share in power, they no longer feel powerless. When parish leaders use the miracle of empowering their parishioners, they invite others

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>237</sup> Meghan M. Fitzgerald and Rachel Theilheimer, "Moving Toward Team Work Through Professional Development Activities," *Early Childhood Educational Journal* 41, no. 2 (March 2013): 103-113.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>238</sup> C. Peter Wagner, *Your Spiritual Gifts Can Help Your Church Grow* (Ventura, CA: Regal Books From Gospel Light, 2005), 17.

to help by reaching out to others and ask them to participate in the shared enterprise of the parish. It means that others are learning leadership skills and processes. They will feel confident that their contributions in successful ventures will encourage their leaders to ask them again to share their talents (gifts). <sup>239</sup>

Wagner and Duch agree as they advocate for empowering congregants to participate fully in the church's ministry through the development of their spiritual gifts and talents. When pastors help congregants develop their gifts, they are empowering them, and making them more effective for the ministry. Wagner shares, "Ignorance of spiritual gifts may be a chief cause of retarded church growth today. It also may be at the root of much of the discouragement, insecurity, frustration and guilt that plague many Christians and curtail their total effectiveness for God." Wagner understands the value of members understanding their spiritual gifts.

Wagner also provides the most basic step for congregants to identify their spiritual gifts for God's service,

Other things being equal, however, you may soon come to experience a liberating, invigorating and uplifting encounter with God's Holy Spirit as you discover what I consider to be the most basic step that you as a Christian need to take in order to define God's will for your life – knowing your spiritual gift.<sup>241</sup>

God's will and spiritual gifts are intertwined. Wagner elaborates, "Your purpose in the Body is determined by your spiritual gift or combination of spiritual gifts." So for Wagner, it is imperative for congregants to find their gifts in order to determine their purpose in the body of Christ. Wagner confirms that every believer has a gift when he writes, "But every Christian person who is committed to Jesus and truly a member of His

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>239</sup> Duch, Successful Parish Ministry, 106-108.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>240</sup> Wagner, Your Spiritual Gifts, 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>241</sup> Ibid., 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>242</sup> Ibid., 26.

Body has at least one gift, or quite possibly more. The Bible says that every Christian has receive a gift (see 1 Pet. 4:10)." Greg Ogden, in his book, *The New Reformation*, also confirms that every congregant has a gift when he writes, "In God's design all the people in the church are gifted for ministry."

Donald J. McNair does not just recognize that everyone has a gift, but also says, "The church must treat individual members' spiritual gifts with integrity. God wants each one of us to take all individual gifts of the Spirit seriously... no gift is superfluous or redundant; every believer matters" Peter White expresses the same view about the gifts when he writes, "No gifts is better or less useful than another. All are equally valuable and equally essential, they are up front or behind the scenes, impressive or less so." McNair and White want leaders to treat believers equally when it comes to the use of their God-given gifts.

Peter Wagner defines spiritual gifs this way, "A spiritual gift is a special attribute given by the Holy Spirit to every member of the Body of Christ, according to God's grace, for use within the context of the Body. The Holy Spirit, as Wagner and the Bible say, is the one who gives gifts. Wagner also identifies and provides a list of what the spiritual gifts are based on the three books of the New Testament when he writes, "The great majority of the spiritual gifts mentioned in the Bible are found in three key

<sup>243</sup> Ibid., 30.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>244</sup> Ogden, The New Reformation, 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>245</sup> MacNair, The Practices of a Healthy Church, 12, 109.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>246</sup> White, *The Effective Pastor*, 129.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>247</sup> Wagner, Your Spiritual Gifts, 33.

chapters: Romans 12, 1 Corinthians 12 and Ephesians 4."<sup>248</sup> In his master list of gifts, Wagner says,

Romans 12 mentions the following Spiritual gifts: Prophecy (preaching, inspired utterance), Service (ministry), Teaching, Exhortation (stimulating faith, encouraging), Giving (contributing, generosity, sharing), Leadership (authority, ruling), Mercy (sympathy, comfort to the sorrowing, showing kindness). First Corinthians adds, Wisdom (wise advice, wise speech), knowledge (studying, speaking with knowledge), Faith, Healing, Miracles, (doing great deeds), Discerning of spirits, Tongues... Interpretation of tongues, Apostle, Helps, Administration (governments, getting others to work together. Ephesians 4 adds, Evangelist, Pastor (care for God's people).<sup>249</sup>

Wagner also adds other gifts to this biblical list, but acknowledges, "Christian churches today vary considerably about which offices are recognized."<sup>250</sup> He also highlights, "The main purpose of discussing the differences here is to point that regardless of what the office is named, the person who is called, ordained, commissioned or licensed to fill that office should qualify for it on the basis of the particular spiritual gift-mix God has given to him or her."<sup>251</sup> Wagner also states, "none of the lists is complete in itself. None of them is intended to be a complete catalog of the gifts that God gives."<sup>252</sup> For Wagner, "at least five other gifts are mentioned in the New Testament: Celibacy, Voluntary poverty, Martyrdom, Hospitality, Missionary."<sup>253</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>248</sup> Ibid., 53.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>249</sup> Ibid., 53-54.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>250</sup> Ibid., 55.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>251</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>252</sup> Ibid., 57.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>253</sup> Ibid.

Wagner also adds three other gifts not mentioned in the Bible but based on his "empirical observation of church life and ministry."<sup>254</sup> These include, "Intercession, Deliverance (exorcism), Leading worship."<sup>255</sup> God is always adding more gifts to his church by the Holy Spirit for the perfection of the saints. Wagner lists other gifts, which he believes are useful for the ministry of the church. Wagner's list also adds up to a total of twenty-eight spiritual gifts. Wagner confirms the working of God through Jesus-Christ by adding more gifts, as he sees fits, by the Holy Spirit, to grow and develop the saints for his kingdom on earth. This is to say that there are other gifts that have been developed and exercised in the church that are not listed in the master list above.

However, despite the gifts that God has given to the church, most congregants are not using their spiritual gifts. Dr. Philip Douglass, in a lecture for Advanced Ministry Cohort, stated, "20% of the people in the church are doing 80% ministry and 80% of the people are doing 20 % ministry." These numbers show that many of congregants are not properly trained to use their spiritual gifts, and they are not discovering their gifts effectively for ministry. In order to help members discover and use their gifts, Wagner provides the following steps,

Read extensively. Read... books as well. List the points where authors agree on the definition of a particular spiritual gift; Get to know gifted people. Seek out and talk to Christian people who have discovered and developed and are now using their spiritual gifts. Find out how they articulate what their gifts are and how they interpret their ministry through gifts; Make gifts a conversation piece. Share openly with each other what our gifts are and what they are not. This will help us...know what the optimum possibilities are for our ministry. Experiment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>254</sup> Ibid., 69.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>255</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>256</sup> Philip Douglas, "Training Lay-leaders" (PowerPoint Presentation, Covenant Theological Seminary, St. Louis, August, 2014).

with as many gifts as you can. Some gifts are like that, the majority are not. You do as much experiment as possible. You discover your gifts just like you discover your natural talents.<sup>257</sup>

In addition, Wagner provides steps on how to begin practice the gifts when he writes,

A starting point is to look around and see what needs you can identify. Then try to do something to meet a need. Look for the need of other people. Look for the needs of the church. Find out where you can be useful in any way, and do it. Be available for any job around the church that you might be asked to do... undertaken it in prayer. While you are experimenting with the gifts, it is just as important to answer the question, Which gifts don't I have? As it is to answer the opposite question, Which gifts do I have? Every gift that you find you do not have reduces the number of options you need to work at for getting the positive answer. Also, use the gifts inventories, the Wagner-Modified Houts Questionnaire, to determine which gifts to experiment with first. Examine your feelings. God does, in fact, match our spiritual gifts to our temperament so that we will enjoy using them.<sup>258</sup>

Wagner has provided above some concrete steps for congregants to discover their gifts as they search and pray for God's leading in discovering their God-given spiritual abilities for the church. To Wagner's understanding, pastors have an enormous responsibility of unwrapping the spiritual gifts of their congregants. Wagner exhorts pastors to

motivate the congregation from the pulpit, study the biblical teaching on gifts, help adults discover their gifts, set a schedule for accountability and continue the experience indefinitely, meaning, the experience should be a permanent part of the lifestyle of the congregation. It needs to be stimulated with books, sermons, (Bible study) lessons, and task-oriented groups that help people put their gifts to use.<sup>259</sup>

Wagner shares similar views with other leading scholars on the steps provided for pastors to motivate the congregants to find and develop their spiritual gifts according to their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>257</sup> Wagner, Your Spiritual Gifts, 116-117.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>258</sup> Ibid., 117-122.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>259</sup> Ibid., 241-242.

God-given spiritual potential. Wagner and other scholars like Peter White provide the steps to help congregants discover their gifts, and also provide the benefits of congregants discovering their spiritual gifts.

John C. Maxwell, a leading scholar in developing leaders and people, also provides the following important steps in helping people maturing their gifts and be developed into strong leaders, "prepare them for leadership by equipping them, (meaning) preparing an unskilled person to scale a tall mountain peak. Training: generally focused on specific job tasks...a part of the equipping process that prepares a person for leadership." Maxwell supports the need to equip and train the congregants for leadership. In a more specific and detailed way, Maxwell also provides a five-step process of training people to perform the specific of the job they are to do and they are:

Model: The process begins with (the leader) doing the tasks while the person being trained watches. Mentor: (The leader) continues to perform the task but the person (in) training comes alongside and assists in the process. Monitor: (The leader) exchanges places with the person trainee. The trainee performs the task and (the leader) assists and corrects. Be positive and encouraging. Motivate: (The leader) takes himself out the task and let the trainee go. The leader's task is to make sure (the trainee) knows how to do it without help and keep encouraging him. Multiply: Once the new leaders do the job well, it becomes their turn to teach others how to do it.<sup>261</sup>

While Wagner provides the steps to discover the gifts, Maxwell provides concrete steps on how leaders help people develop their gifts in order to mature and develop.

In addition to these steps, Maxwell advises leaders to complete the development process with three final steps. Maxwell says,

Give them the big three: responsibility, authority, and accountability. The one quality, he says, that all successful people have...is the ability to take on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>260</sup> Maxwell, *How Successful People Lead*, 83-84.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>261</sup> Ibid., 97-98.

responsibility. Responsibility must go with authority. When we first give authority to new leaders, we are actually giving them permission to have authority rather than giving them authority itself. We must give our people permission to develop authority. Once responsibility and authority have been given to people, they are empowered to make things happen. Accountability: True responsibility includes a willingness to be held accountable. The leader's part of accountability involves taking the time to review the new leader's work and give honest, constructive criticism. <sup>262</sup>

These three elements as Maxwell points out are essential if pastors truly want to develop congregants to their full potential, regardless of the area of their gifts development. All gifts and all people are to be given full access and full rights in order to be properly developed. Last, he says,

Giving responsibility without resources is ridiculous... It is important to provide developmental tools. Spend time mentoring people in specific areas of need. Be willing to spend money on things like books, tapes, seminars, and professional conferences. Be creative in providing tools. It will keep your people growing and equip to do the job well.<sup>263</sup>

Equipping, training, growing, and developing is the ultimate goal. While it is important to help congregants discover and develop their gifts, it is equally important for them to know that there are benefits in developing their gifts. White states some of these benefits when he writes, "The gifts and their expression will reflect and further the Lord Jesus-Christ. (White adds), They are to be used for the good of the Christian church, a profitable contribution...to the body life for the common good." Reflecting Christ and reaching the common good of others are great spiritual benefits. Wagner also shares some of the benefits for developing the spiritual gifts. The first benefit is how

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>262</sup> Ibid., 98-100.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>263</sup> Ibid., 101.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>264</sup> White, *The Effective Pastor*, 129.

The individual grows, which means, you will be a better Christian and better able to allow God to make your life count for Him. People who know their gifts have a handle on their spiritual job description. They find their place in the church with more ease. (They) tend to develop healthy self-esteem. They learn that no matter what their gifts may be, they are important to the Body of Christ.<sup>265</sup>

Wagner wants congregants to know the spiritual outcome of developing their gifts. They are not just developing their gifts, but they are benefits that are attached to it. It is a spiritual endeavor that is to be desired for the sake of God's church and their spiritual growth. The second and third benefits Wagner says are,

The whole Body grows. Not only does knowing about spiritual gifts help individual Christians, but it also helps the Church as a whole. Ephesians 4 tells us that when spiritual gifts are in operation, the whole Body matures. It helps the Body to gain "the measure of the stature of the fullness of Christ" (v. 13). When the church matures, predictably it grows. When the Body is functioning well and "each separate part works as it should, the whole body grows" (Eph. 4:16, TEV). Clearly, a biblical relationship between spiritual gifts and church growth exists. The third benefit is that God is glorified as first Peter 4:10-11 advises.

White and Wagner point out the ultimate objective of congregants developing their spiritual gifts through pastors' nurturing leadership: to grow spiritually and grow in the knowledge of God the Father and the Lord Jesus-Christ. White and Wagner clearly emphasizes that spiritual gifts should produce spiritual growth to the body of Christ, the congregants, as they develop to full and mature believers.

### **Biblical Theological Framework**

Lawrence O. Richards and Clyde Hoeldtke, in their book, *A Theology of Church Leadership*, state, "a leader's spiritual power to motivate heart changes is rooted in his incarnation of the Word that he teaches."<sup>267</sup> This theological framework will emphasize

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>265</sup> Wagner, Your Spiritual Gifts, 41-42.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>266</sup> Ibid., 43-44.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>267</sup> Richards and Hoeldtke, A Theology of Church Leadership, 117.

exegesis and application of the text. Daniel M. Doriani, professor and vice president of strategic academic projects at Covenant Theological Seminary, in his book, *Putting the Truth to Work: The Theory and Practice of Biblical Application*, states, "sound application cannot occur without correct exegesis; there is a line between exegesis and relevance." For Doriani, the explanation and interpretation of the scriptural text is very important for any biblical theological framework to be established. It is equally important to ensure the scripture passages address the topic discussed. It is paramount in the current study of nurturing and developing congregants in the areas of spiritual renewal and spiritual gifts development that good exegesis and sound application are correctly applied.

Howard Marshall, a Scottish New Testament scholar and Professor Emeritus of New Testament Exegesis at the University of Aberdeen, Scottland, writes,

At the level of exegesis of the text, evangelical scholars are playing an important role in the development and the application methods of study. Work of this kind is based on the axiom that all interpretation of the text must begin with the attempt to understand it as clearly as possible in terms of its original setting. Evangelicals (like other Christians) are examining afresh the ways in which we can appropriate the message of Scripture for ourselves, or better, to find out how we can discern what God is telling us through Scripture to believe and do.<sup>269</sup>

Both Doriani and Marshall emphasize the need for pastors, like theologians, to apply the message of scripture to the need of the congregants. The correct interpretation of scripture is important to its proper application in order to know what God is telling his people through his word.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>268</sup> Daniel M. Doriani, *Putting the Truth to Work: The Theory and Practice of Biblical Application* (Phillipsburg, NJ: P&R Publishing Company, 2001), 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>269</sup> Howard Marshall, *Beyond the Bible: Moving From Scripture to Theology* (Grand Rapids, MI: Baker Academic Publishing Group, 2004), 25, 30.

# Theological/Biblical Understanding of Leadership

Biblical theologians have presented their varying views and theological understanding on the issues of leadership, nurturing, renewal, and spiritual gifts development. Paul, in 2 Timothy 3: 16-17 says, "All Scripture is given by inspiration of God, and is profitable for doctrine, for reproof, for correction, for instruction in righteousness, that the man of God may be complete, thoroughly equipped for every good work." Regarding this verse Michael Slaughter states, "This a lantern unto a Christian feet, and a light in all his paths. This alone he receives as his rule of right or wrong, of whatever is really good or evil." Slaughter elaborates, "The Christian rule of right and wrong is the Word of God, the writing of the Old and the New Testament." Whatever Christians or pastors want to do, they must do it according to biblical and spiritual leadership principles.

Richard Rardin states, "God wrote the book on leadership development."<sup>273</sup>
Lovett H. Weems Jr. writes, "Leadership... is a gift from God."<sup>274</sup> Paul writes in 1
Corinthians 3:5-6a, "'Not that we are competent of ourselves to claim anything as coming from us; our competence is from God, who has made us competent to be ministers of a new covenant.'"<sup>275</sup> Without a scriptural mandate, spiritual leadership is meaningless, and if God does not chose leaders, their leadership has no validation. Rardin reflects upon

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>270</sup> 2 Timothy 3:16-17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>271</sup> Slaughter, *Spiritual Entrepreneurs*, 49.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>272</sup> Ibid., 48.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>273</sup> Rardin, The Servant's Guide To Leadership, 75.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>274</sup> Weems, *Church Leadership*, 131.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>275</sup> 1 Corinthians 3:5-6a.

God's ways of developing leaders, "even though His processes are well documented, no one ever has come close to developing leaders more totally or more effectively." In comparing the leaders that God chose, Rardin says, "Through all of history, few if any people rise to the level of these leaders, except one, Jesus-the Son of God." 277

Witmer makes first observations regarding leadership and authority. His first point says, "All human authority is derived." He continues, "Then Jesus came to them and said, 'All authority in heaven and on earth has been given to me' (Matt. 28:18 NIV). Ultimately, all authority is the Lord's. All authority in the Church belongs to Christ." Witmer adds, "The authority of the elder (s) is from above as well. Paul reminded the Ephesians' elders that the 'Holy Spirit has made you overseer' (Acts 20:28)." Peter White agrees, "The authority of the ordained minister... is rooted in Jesus-Christ who has inherited it from the Father (Matt. 28:18), and Who confers it by the Holy Spirit." 281

Paul, expounding upon how Christ chooses leaders, says, "And he Himself gave some to be Apostles, some prophets, some evangelist, and some pastors and teachers; For the equipping of the saints for the work of the ministry, for the edifying of the body of Christ." Both biblical scholars and Paul confirm that authority comes from God the Father to the Son and from the Son to the leaders of the church by the Holy Spirit.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>276</sup> Rardin, *The Servant's Guide To Leadership*, 75.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>277</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>278</sup> Witmer, The Shepherd Leader, 88.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>279</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>280</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>281</sup> White, *The Effective Pastor*, 168.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>282</sup> Ephesians 4:11-12.

Spiritual Renewal and Spiritual Gifts Development Through Nurturing

Prophet Jeremiah says, "I will give you shepherds after my own heart, who will lead you with knowledge and understanding." God establishes church leaders as shepherds to lead his congregants. Jesus says, "I am the good Shepherd, the good Shepherd gives life for His sheep." Matthew and Mark also picture the nurturing and caring ministry of Jesus as the good shepherd. Matthew states, "When He saw the crowds, he had compassion on them, because they were harassed and helpless, like sheep without a shepherd." Mark says, "Jesus looked at him and loved him." Both gospels recorded the caring characteristic that is found in Jesus as the good shepherd.

David expounds a key responsibility for both the Lord and the shepherds, "He leadeth me besides the Still Water. He restores my soul. He leadeth me in the paths of righteousness for His name's sake."<sup>287</sup> In this text the shepherds'/ pastors' ability to lead is stated twice. This repetition represents importance as the psalmist emphasizes the dual leadership responsibility of pastors as shepherds.

The shepherd imagery includes leadership that nurtures and cares for the well-being of the sheep, who are the beloved congregants. Witmer says, "Peter describes this leadership as 'not lording it over those allotted to your charge, but proving to be examples to the flock' (1 Peter 1:3)." Witmer describes this characteristic of leadership

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>283</sup> Jeremiah 3:15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>284</sup> John 10:10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>285</sup> Matthew 9:36.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>286</sup> Mark 10:21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>287</sup> Psalms 23:3-4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>288</sup> Witmer, *The Shepherd Leader*, 156.

as one that "is motivated by the well being of the flock, not for the leader's gain."<sup>289</sup> In 1 Timothy 3:5 Paul writes, "if a man does not know how to rule his own house, how will he take care of the church of God?"<sup>290</sup> Paul's admonishes those who lead Christ's church to have a nurturing leadership. Such a leadership cares for and grows those who follow.

Scriptural and Christ-like leadership must be, as Peter White states, "spiritual, pastoral, and biblical."<sup>291</sup> White cites 1 Thessalonians 5:12, "The task of 'those who are over you in the Lord' is in large measure their efforts for the eternal salvation of the believers. Its methods will be spiritual...its power is spiritual."<sup>292</sup> If the objective of pastoral leadership is not to bring congregants to their highest spiritual potential, then pastoral leadership will be in vain and non-effective.

Peter White explores pastoral leadership using the Greek verb proistemi, found eight times in the New Testament. White says, "in most cases it seems to have the sense of 'to lead, preside, direct, govern'; but the context shows in each case that one must take into account the sense 'to care for, to assist'."<sup>293</sup> Biblically, a leadership that is pastoral must include nurturing and care; it must help those in need. White continues, "Pastoral care... comes alive and stays alive when exercised theologically: when we remember what it is that we are doing."<sup>294</sup> White writes, "Christ-like leadership is biblical. Not man's wisdom, nor denominational tradition, nor convenience but agreement with

<sup>289</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>290</sup> 1 Timothy 3:5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>291</sup> White, *The Effective Pastor*, 177-178.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>292</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>293</sup> Ibid

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>294</sup> Ibid., 95.

biblical principle is the way to honor God in our leading." <sup>295</sup> All true leadership must be Christ-like and must be biblical. It must follow the biblical mandate that comes from the sovereign Lord of the universe, who leads and commands all things by his supreme authority in heaven, on earth, and in the church.

## Spiritual Renewal

Judges 2: 7, 10 reads,

And the people served the LORD all the days of Joshua, and all the days of the elders who outlived Joshua, who had seen all the great work which the LORD had done for Israel... And all that generation also were gathered to their fathers; and there arose another generation after them, who did not know the LORD or the work which he had done for Israel.<sup>296</sup>

Regarding this spiritual pattern, Richard Lovelace writes,

Under the Old Covenant the cyclical pattern of apostasy and spiritual renewal is one of the most obvious characteristics of the people of God... In the New Testament... the framework of the book of acts presents a pattern of continuous success for the infant Christian movement... both the cyclical experience of Israel and the experience of continuous renewal in Acts are coherent with one, and that both patterns are latent in the entire biblical witness.<sup>297</sup>

Lovelace interprets this cycle of renewal, "The cycle of renewal can be interpreted both as an act of sovereign mercy and as a divine response to the inarticulate heart cry of defeated Israel." For support, Lovelace quotes Judges 2:18, "For the LORD was moved to pity by their groaning because of those who afflicted and oppressed them."

<sup>296</sup> Judges 2:7, 10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>295</sup> Ibid., 178.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>297</sup> Lovelace, *Dynamics of Spiritual Life*, 61-62.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>298</sup> Ibid., 63.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>299</sup> Ibid., 62.

Psalm 85: 4 and 6 says, "Restore (turn) us again, O God of our salvation... Wilt thou not revive us again, that thy people may rejoice in thee?" Lovelace comments, "Even the prayers for revival of leaders and people are stirred up by God's Spirit... God is primary in the renewal of his kingdom..." Lovelace clarifies how God always leads spiritual renewal, and God's people follow his spiritual direction. In the New Testament, under the new covenant, spiritual renewal is to be continuous and constant in the life of the Christian church. Michael Slaughter states,

Throughout church history, there has been no example of renewal without a leader functioning as the catalyst. God has always used a human instrument as the agent for change... Israel went through cycles of obedience, disobedience, repentance, and renewal. God would use judges like Deborah, reforming kings like Hezekiah or Josiah, and prophets as the instruments for renewal.<sup>302</sup>

Referencing Israel's renewal under Josiah's leadership as the king of Judah, Slaughter says,

But a voice of reformation cried out from the ashes. Josiah, who became the boy king of Judah at the age of eight, would be God's agent for renewal. He then quotes, He did what was right in the sight of the LORD, and walked in the ways of his ancestor David; he did not turn aside to the right or to the left. For in the eight year of his reign, while he was still a boy, he began to seek the God of his ancestor David. (2 Chron. 34:2-3).

Today again, just like Josiah, God is using pastors as his main instruments to renew his people. Pastors have an enormous responsibility to nurture their congregants through the constant cycle of spiritual renewal. In addition, pastors exercise nurturing leadership to develop their congregants' spirituality.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>300</sup> Psalm 85:4 6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>301</sup> Lovelace, *Dynamics of Spiritual Life*, 67.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>302</sup> Slaughter, Spiritual Entrepreneurs, 101.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>303</sup> Ibid., 47.

On the theology of church renewal, Slaughter writes,

an identifiable renewal theology has been universal to every revitalization throughout the history of the church. In Ezekiel 37, the prophet is led by the Spirit of God into a valley of dry bones-bones that represented life from another time. A very significant question is asked: "Can these bones live?" (Ezek. 37:3) Can there be life again, where there is now death and decay? Is total transformation possible? Can dry institution be transformed into vital movements?<sup>304</sup>

Slaughter answered these questions with Lord's words in Ezekiel 37: 5-6, 10,

Thus says the LORD GOD to these bones: I will cause breath to enter you, and you shall live. I will lay sinews on you, and will cause flesh to come upon you, and cover you with skin, and put breath in you, and you shall live..." I prophesied as he commanded me, and the breath came into, and they lived, and stood on their feet, a vast multitude. 305

Slaughter further comments, "The prophetic message from God opens God's people to the Spirit of revitalization. It is a transforming work of the Spirit that turns dry bones into the living body of Christ and mobilizes a vast army of reformers. Renewal is Godbreathed, not program planned." According to Slaughter, spiritual renewal of the church and the congregants is theological and biblical. It is God's doing through the practice of his word by his people.

In Romans 12:2, Paul directly commands total transformation to the Romans, "And do not be conformed to this world, but be transformed by the renewing of your mind, that you may prove what is that good, and acceptable, and perfect, will of God." In the book of the Revelation, John exhorts the believers at Ephesus to pursue repentance and renewal, "Nevertheless I have this against you, that you have left your first love.

<sup>305</sup> Ibid., 17-18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>304</sup> Ibid., 17.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>306</sup> Ibid., 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>307</sup> Romans 12:2.

Remember therefore from where you have fallen; repent and do the first works." Slaughter states, "The messenger of the Lord was calling them to repent and return to their first love... The call was to remember first principles. The principles of renewal." Both biblical authors and Michael Slaughter have emphasized on the importance of renewal as a spiritual necessity.

# Spiritual Gifts

Spiritual gifts are a hallmark of the Christian faith, and God gives these gifts. Peter White, in his book, *The Effective Pastor*, states, "The New Testament word for these gifts, Charismata, indicates that they are given by God's mere kindness." In the book of Ephesians, Paul confirms this when he states, regarding Christ, "Therefore He says: 'When He ascended on high, He led captivity captive, and gave gifts to men." Also, Paul, in his epistle to the Corinthians, writes, "Now concerning spiritual gifts, brethren, I do not want you to be ignorant." Peter White says, "Pneumatikoi (v.1) indicates that such gifts are breathed into us by God's Spirit." According to White, Paul recognizes that God through Christ by the Spirit has given gifts to the church. Paul is equally emphasizing that the knowledge of the believers about spiritual gifts and their possession of them is paramount. C. John Miller, in his book *Outgrowing The Ingrown* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>308</sup> Revelation 2:4-5a.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>309</sup> Slaughter, Spiritual Entrepreneurs, 18.

<sup>310</sup> White, The Effective Pastor, 128.

<sup>311</sup> Ephesians 4:8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>312</sup> 1 Corinthians 12:1.

<sup>313</sup> White, The Effective Pastor, 128.

*Church*, writes, "who it is who offers gifts to men. It is Christ. The sole Head and Owner of the Church." <sup>314</sup>

McNair describes the first of two biblical directives about spiritual gifts, saying, "the church is a group of believers, each of whom should be exercising his or her gifts for the spiritual good of the group." He then quotes 1 Corinthians where Paul says, "To each one the manifestation of the Spirit is given for the common good." McNair, like Paul, acknowledges the gifts that God has bestowed upon believers through the Holy Spirit. Paul wants believers to know what these gifts are and gives a detailed description of them in three of his epistles. In Ephesians, Paul writes, "And He Himself gave some to be apostles, some prophets, some evangelists, and some pastors and teachers, for the equipping of the saints for the work of ministry, for the edifying of the body of Christ." Paul clarifies what the gifts are and also states the reason why the gifts are given—to equip or develop the saints/the congregants for ministry. Miller says, "the people of God are the primary workers in building up the body. The pastors-teachers are preparers and equippers (developers) of this work. The pastor's roles is an honored but limited one: to equip the people for their work."

Further, Paul encourages believers to develop their gifts. Paul says to Timothy, "I charge you before God and the Lord Jesus Christ and the elect angels that you observe these things without prejudice, doing nothing with partiality. Do not lay hands on anyone

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>314</sup> C. John Miller, *Outgrowing the Ingrown Church*, 141.

<sup>315</sup> MacNair, The Practices of a Healthy Church, 108.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>316</sup> 1 Corinthians 12:7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>317</sup> Ephesians 4:11-12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>318</sup> Miller, *Outgrowing the Ingrown* Church, 139.

hastily, nor share in other people's sins; keep yourself pure."<sup>319</sup> Richard Patterson comments that pastors' nurturing leadership ability affects the development of spiritual gifts. Patterson writes,

Using the nurturing and equipping of others as measuring tools of one's leadership ability was also a Pauline principle. Paul told Timothy that how well he developed others was a strong indication of how effective he was as a leader. Paul carefully explained that he must use great care in selecting, nurturing, and equipping each person he placed into church ministry."<sup>320</sup>

Patterson links spiritual gifts development with a pastor's effectiveness.

In Romans 12 Paul presents another set of gifts,

Having then gifts differing according to the grace that is given to us, let us use them: if prophecy, let us prophesy, in proportion to our faith... Or ministry, let us use it in our ministering; he who teaches, in teaching; He who exhorts, in exhortation, he who gives, with liberality; he who leads, with diligence; He who shows mercy, with cheerfulness.<sup>321</sup>

Paul recognizes differences in the manifestation of gifts. God gives different gifts to different individuals for the benefit and the advancement of the ministry. Paul urges those who have specific gifts to exercise them in accordance to the gifts that were given to them and not something else. In 1 Corinthians, Paul elaborates,

Now to each one the manifestation of the Spirit is given for the common good. To one is given through the Spirit a message of wisdom, to another is given through the Spirit a message of wisdom, to another a message of knowledge by means of the same Spirit, to another faith by the same Spirit, to another gifts of healing by that one Spirit, to another miraculous powers, to another prophecy, to another speaking in different kinds of tongues, and to still another the interpretation of tongues. All these are the work of one and the same Spirit, and he distributes them to each one, just as he determines.<sup>322</sup>

<sup>320</sup> Patterson, Effectively Leading, 52.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>319</sup> 1 Timothy 5:21-22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>321</sup> Romans 12:6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>322</sup> 1 Corinthians 12:7-11.

The apostle Paul describes what he believes to be additional gifts to the body for the developing, equipping, and perfecting of the congregants. He also differentiates between the given gifts even as the same Spirit distributes them.

In summary, Paul establishes the biblical framework that God is the one who gives gifts through Jesus Christ and the Spirit distributes the gifts. Congregants, for their part, must utilize their gifts according to the gifts that God has given them through the Holy Spirit's guidance. The scholars stated that senior pastors, in their nurturing ability, have a leadership responsibility to develop their congregants' gifts for spiritual renewal, growth, and effective ministry according to the biblical framework.

### **Summary of Literature Review**

This study has reviewed literary sources of books, journals, and magazine articles that reflect on recent scholarly discussions of how senior pastors develop their congregants through nurturing leadership for spiritual renewal and spiritual gifts development. It has also focused on a biblical understanding of nurturing leadership and gifts development. The next chapter discusses the methodology used in this study in order to seek answers to the question of how senior pastors develop their congregants through nurturing leadership for spiritual renewal and spiritual gifts development.

## **Chapter Three**

### Methodology

The purpose of this research study is to investigate how senior pastors develop their congregants through nurturing leadership. Specifically, this study seeks to discover the nurturing skills that senior pastors use to develop spiritual renewal and gifts. The assumption that learning takes place in the context of ministry guided this study. The literature explored four areas as the study's main focus: leadership, spiritual renewal, spiritual gifts-development and the biblical-theological framework. This chapter will discuss six areas of methodology: design of the study, sample selection, data collection, data analysis, researcher position, and research limitations.

#### **Research Questions**

The following research questions will be used to structure and guide this study:

- a. How do senior pastors develop their congregants in spiritual renewal?
- b. How do senior pastors develop their congregants' spiritual gifts?
- c. What are the challenges for senior pastors in developing their congregants through nurturing leadership?
- d. What are the benefits of congregants developing through senior pastors' nurturing leadership?

# **Design of the Study**

Sharan B. Merriam, professor of adult education at the University of Georgia, states, "A research design or a map is a logical plan for getting from here to there." <sup>323</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>323</sup> Sharan B. Merriam, *Qualitative Research: A guide to Design and Implementation* (San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 2009), 55.

This research design explains the plan that this research study follows to attain its goal.

This study was designed using qualitative research. There are several reasons a

qualitative research was used. As defined by Sharan B. Merriam,

Qualitative research is an umbrella concept covering an array of interpretive techniques which seek to describe, decode, translates, and otherwise come to terms with the meaning, not the frequency, of certain more or less naturally occurring phenomena in the social world. Basically, qualitative researchers are interested in understanding the meaning people have constructed, that is, how people make sense of their world and the experiences they have in the world. 324

Therefore, this qualitative study will help both the researcher and the readers to understand and learn the point of view of pastors from their experiences. Specifically, the study seeks to understand how senior pastors, as nurturing leaders, encourage spiritual renewal within their congregations, and how they help their congregants develop their spiritual gifts.

Merriam identifies four characteristics as keys to understanding qualitative research. She writes, "the focus is on process, understanding, and meaning; the researcher is the primary instrument of data collection and analysis; the process is inductive; and the product is richly descriptive." These characteristics are very significant in understanding how senior pastors develop their congregants. Senior pastors who have years of experiences in nurturing leadership can help other ministers becoming effective church leaders. Because one key factor is to understand the process and the meaning, this research study will help the researcher and the reader gain a richer and deeper understanding of the challenges that senior pastors face when using nurturing leadership. Because pastors have different approaches to their ministerial roles, the researcher

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>324</sup> Ibid., 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>325</sup> Ibid., 14.

expects the experiences of each pastor to vary depending on their context, skills, and visions. Because the researcher is the primary instrument of data collection and analysis, the researcher can quickly and easily adapt to varying responses and explore unusual/unanticipated responses during the interviews as data is being collected. As Merriam explains, "the researcher can expand his or her understanding through nonverbal as well as verbal communication, process information (data) immediately, clarify and summarize material, check with respondents for accuracy of interpretation, and explore unusual or unanticipated responses." Furthermore, the researcher will test the hypothesis inductively in order to investigate what is not yet known from the senior pastors.

In order to convey what the researcher has learned, Merriam states, "It is anticipated that words, quotes and field notes from these pastors of senior years will be very meaningful and instrumental to the content of this qualitative research study. In fact, it is these characteristics about qualitative research, which makes it vital to this research study."

# **Participant Sample Selection**

The participants in this research will be selected based on their ability to communicate effectively and deeply about how they develop their congregants. A purposeful sampling will be selected. According to Merriam, "purposely sampling is based on the assumption that the investigator wants to discover, understand, and gain

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>326</sup> Ibid., 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>327</sup> Ibid., 16.

Therefore, in order to collect meaningful data, the researcher will interview six to eight senior ministers that are currently active in ministry and have been in the senior pastorate for at least ten years. The participants will be chosen from different congregations within protestant denominations in order to discover different approaches and skills used by different pastors in different denominations. Due to limited resources for travel, the participants will be from the New York metro area. The participating pastors will also be selected from congregations of various sizes ranging from 70 to 2000 members. The purpose of this range is to better understand how well pastors develop their congregants from small to large congregations. The goal of qualitative research, according to Merriam, is to select information-rich cases (data) from which one can learn a great about issues of central importance." The researcher will ask senior pastors of congregations of varying sizes how they developed their congregants throughout their years in ministry.

To conduct the interviews, a list of potential participants has been developed.

Senior pastors will be invited to participate via an introductory letter or through email.

After a week, the researcher will contact potential participants by phone call to find out if they are interested participating.

#### **Data Collection**

This study will utilize a semi-structured interview format as the primary tool for data gathering. In this type of interview structure, Merriam states, "either all of the questions are more flexibly worded or the interview is a mix of more and less structured

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>328</sup> Ibid., 77.

<sup>329</sup> Ibid.

questions... This format allows the researcher to respond to the situation at hand, to the emerging worldview of the respondent, and to new ideas on the topic." This openended, semi-structure format benefits the researcher by giving flexibility to adapt and respond in order to gather more data. All interested participants will be given a written letter about the research study and a written consent form to participate in the research. Each participant will be asked to complete and sign the consent form. Participants will be asked about their main leadership focus, size of the congregation, number of years as senior pastor, number of churches pastored. The researcher will use the research questions as the main guide for the interview protocol questions.

### **Interview Questions**

The following research questions will be used to structure and guide this study:

- 1. How do senior pastors develop their congregants in spiritual renewal?
- 2. How do senior pastors develop their congregants' spiritual gifts?
- 3. What are the challenges for senior pastors in developing their congregants through nurturing leadership?
- 4. What are the benefits of congregants developing through senior pastors' nurturing leadership?

These next following questions will be used as interview protocol to gather data that will answer the research questions.

- 1) How do senior pastors develop their congregants in spiritual renewal?
  - a) Describe a time when focused on leading your congregants in spiritual renewal when you had to change your leadership style from an administrative approach to a nurturing approach.
  - b) How did you assess the need to develop your congregants to spiritual renewal?
  - c) What were some of the things you did to nurture your congregants to spiritual

. .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>330</sup> Ibid., 90.

- renewal? Please explain.
- d) How were you able to determine that your congregants were growing in spiritual renewal?
- 2) How do senior pastors develop their congregants' spiritual gifts?
  - a) What role did spiritual gifts play in the spiritual renewal of the congregants?
  - b) What did you do to help the congregants develop their spiritual gifts through spiritual renewal?
  - c) When did you know that the congregants' spiritual gifts were fully developed? Please explain.
- 3) What are the challenges for senior pastors in developing their congregants through nurturing leadership?
  - a) Describe some of the challenges you had experienced going through the process of nurturing your congregants?
  - b) How difficult it was for congregants to develop their spiritual gifts?
- 4) What are the benefits of congregants developing through senior pastors' nurturing leadership?
  - a) What are the benefits of spiritual renewal when developing the congregants?
  - b) How do spiritual gifts-development contribute to those benefits?

In order to conduct the interviews, the researcher will go to the participants' preferred sites. The interviews will be face-to-face, but participants will also be given the option to be interviewed by phone or through Skype. The interviews will be from one to one and half-hours each. An audio/digital voice recordings device will be the primary source of recording interview data and will later be transcribed to a word processing format for full data analysis.

### **Data Analysis**

As soon as the interviews are recorded, one after the other, the researcher will immediately transcribe them and study the transcription for comparison, using the

constant comparative method. Merriam describes how the constant comparative method "involves comparing one segment of data with another to determine similarities and differences." Merriam continues,

Data are grouped together on a similar dimension. The dimension is tentatively given a name; it then becomes a category. Coding and categorizing the data will be a continuing process between interviews to allow for understanding and critical analysis of the interview data. The overall object of this analysis is to identify patterns in the data. The researcher will look for common themes, patterns, similarities, concerns, and contrasting views among the participants that will be interviewed. These patterns are arranged in relationships to each other in the building of a grounded theory. 332

The constant comparative method will identify experiences of nurturing leadership skills that develop congregants. It will organize these experiences so that the researcher can identify a theory about nurturing leadership that will help other pastors develop their congregants with better and more effective leadership skills.

#### **Researcher Position**

The researcher as the primary instrument for data collection may cause others to challenge the worthiness of this qualitative research study or raise questions about its validity and reliability since researchers bring their own biases, assumptions, and worldviews into their analyses. Merriam addresses these issues when she advises, "Investigators need to explain their biases, dispositions, and assumptions regarding the research to be undertaken. This helps the reader to better understand how a... researcher might have arrived at the particular interpretation or data." With this theoretical

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>331</sup> Ibid., 30.

<sup>332</sup> Ibid.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>333</sup> Ibid., 219.

explanation by Merriam, the researcher understands his bias, worldview, and backgrounds are factors that can contribute to negative interpretation of the data.

The researcher is in a denomination where pastors are sent to a church to serve for four years. The pastors' leadership skills are more about the amount of tithes given and souls won every year than nurturing congregants for growth. The researcher, however, is not biased against his denomination's ways of doing business in the church, but he hopes to learn better ways to help all pastors, across the denominational spectrum, learn how to develop their congregants spirituality.

## **Limitations of the Study**

There are several limitations to this research study. Due to the limited resources of time and money, only six to eight senior pastors will be interviewed. The researcher is a pastor of two congregations, and a full time teacher. The researcher will not be able to travel to other states to interview other experienced senior pastors. Therefore, the conclusions drawn will not necessarily be universally applicable to every context.

### **Chapter Four**

### **Findings**

The purpose of this research study is to investigate how senior pastors develop their congregants through nurturing leadership. Specifically, this study was designed to discover the nurturing skills that senior pastors use to develop their congregants to spiritual renewal and spiritual gifts development for spiritual growth. This study was guided under the assumption that learning takes place in the context of ministry. In order to investigate the problem and come up with the best nurturing skills that senior pastors use to develop their congregants the following research questions were used:

- 1. How do senior pastors develop their congregants in spiritual renewal?
- 2. How do senior pastors develop their congregants' spiritual gifts?
- 3. What are the challenges for senior pastors in developing their congregants through nurturing leadership?
- 4. What are the benefits of congregants developing through senior pastors' nurturing leadership?

In answering these research questions, eight senior pastors who served ten years or more in the pastorate were interviewed. These senior pastors nurtured and developed their congregants to spiritual renewal and spiritual gifts development in their ministry. The interviews were analyzed, compared, and discussed.

### **Introductions to Participants and Context**

In order to protect the identity of the participants, their names and their church's names have been changed to pseudonyms. Understanding the pastors' context of ministry is paramount, and the following explains each participant's context.

Joshua is the senior pastor of Lebanon Baptist Church of the Southern Baptist denomination. His church is located in the borough of Brooklyn, NY. Joshua has been serving in the current church for nineteen years. The congregation has seventy-three members and worships with eighty-five to ninety people every Sunday. Joshua has nurtured and developed his congregants to spiritual renewal and spiritual gifts development. Pastor Joshua has a Master of Divinity from General Theological Seminary, a Master of Theological Studies from Union Theological Seminary, and a Doctorate from New York Theological Seminary. He taught high school for thirty-three years. Joshua currently teaches Greek and other subjects at the New York School of the Bible.

Jeremiah is the senior pastor of The Trinity Reform Church in Brooklyn, New York. He has been a pastor there for fifteen years. Reform Church is one of the founding congregations of the Reform Church in America of the Dutch Reform Church and has a membership of 200 congregants. Jeremiah grew up in a very warm, orthodox, Calvinist, Evangelical family. He studied at Calvin College in Grand Rapids, Michigan, graduated with his master's from New Brunswick Theological Seminary in New Jersey, and holds a PhD from Drew University. Pastor Jeremiah also served as a senior pastor in Ontario, Canada, and in Grand Rapids, Michigan.

A native of New York, Daniel is the senior pastor of The Zion Methodist Church, in Brooklyn, NY. He has been pasturing there for over six years. He has been a senior pastor since 1980. He has over thirty-six years of ministry experience. He has pastored different churches in different boroughs in New York. He graduated with a Master of Divinity degree at Johnson C. Smith Seminary as a Presbyterian student then joined the Methodist denomination. He then went to Garrett Evangelical Theological Seminary in Evanston where he graduated with a Doctor of Ministry degree in Biblical Preaching. Pastor Daniel has a vibrant congregation with over 804 members that he nurtures and develops. He has two services every Sunday.

Shadrach is the senior pastor of the Memorial Presbyterian Church of the PCUSA in the borough of Brooklyn, New York. He has been the pastor there for twenty-eight years, nurturing and developing them. Shadrach has a flourishing congregation of over 500 members. People from 30 different countries attend church at the two services on Sunday morning. After earning his bachelor's degree, pastor Shadrach acquired a Master of Divinity and a Master of Pastoral Care and Counseling from Princeton Theological Seminary. He then went to Drew University and completed a Doctorate in Divinity with an emphasis on Pastoral Care and Counseling.

Matthew is the senior pastor of the Canaan Seventh-day Adventist Church in Brooklyn, New York. He has been serving there for over seven years. The congregation has a membership of 575 members. The pastor nurtures and develops his congregation for transformation and renewal. Pastor Matthew completed his bachelor's degree at Southern Adventist University, a master's degree in Pastoral Ministry from Andrews University. He is currently a doctoral candidate at New York Theological Seminary in the

area of transformational leadership. He has over fifteen years of ministry experience as a senior pastor.

Mark is a senior pastor of the Golgotha Pentecostal church in Brooklyn, New York. He has been the pastor there for twenty-eight years, since 1989. He has forty years of pastoral ministry experience. The church currently has 250 members. Pastor Mark graduated with a bachelor's degree from Northeast Bible Institute, and a master's degree in counseling from Villanova University. He was an assistant pastor for seven years in Staten Island, New York, and at another church for seven and a half years, in Brooklyn, New York.

Timothy is the senior pastor of Redeemer Pentecostal Church in Brooklyn, New York. He has been a pastor for many years, first as an assistant pastor under his father's tutelage, then he became a full-time and senior pastor for the past eight years. Pastor Timothy holds different degrees, including a doctorate. He nurtures and develops a congregation of more than 200 members.

Peter is a senior pastor of the Bethel Alliance Church in America in Brooklyn, New York. He has been a senior pastor for over ten years. The congregation has about 125 members. Peter has a bachelor degree, and a Master of Divinity.

In summary, all the pastors interviewed are senior pastors who are currently serving in the ministry, have been pastors for over ten years at different capacities, and are of different denominational backgrounds. These pastors have nurtured and developed their congregants to spiritual renewal and spiritual gifts development.

#### The Findings

Below are the findings from the eight senior pastors' interviews. The findings are categorized in the order of the research questions and the major themes discussed in the interview questions.

How Do Senior Pastors Develop Their Congregants in Spiritual Renewal?

Many of the interviews revealed different methodologies for developing congregants. The following discusses four: nurturing relationships, preaching and teaching the word, prayer and counseling, and a vision for the church and community. Daniel, Joshua, and Shadrach emphasized nurturing relationships as an essential step in developing congregants. Mark, Jeremiah, Peter, and Matthew stated that renewal through preaching, teaching, prayer, and counseling helped them develop congregants. Timothy, Daniel, and Mathew emphasized the need to have a vision in order to develop the congregants.

#### **Nurturing Relationships**

On nurturing, Daniel emphasized the need to have relationships with the congregants when he stated,

It's very important to be in relationship. You have to be in relationships with your folk, and that may take some time. You don't get to know people overnight. To get to know people, to know their troubles and their joys, to just sit and talk, to work with people... I think you get into relationship with folk when you work with them, and those who don't do anything with the church, those are the folk I reach out to on a Sunday, the folk that just come to worship, but they're not involved. I want to get to know them because building relationships is one of the most important ways to understand how you can help people become whole persons.

When he was asked how he develops those relationships, he answered,

Visitation is important ... particularly people who are having troubles, who are not well... To visit where they live can tell you a whole lot about who they are, to see their home, to see the other members of their family who you may not see in

church, to understand the context and the world they live in. Visit somebody who is not well. Also, stand with people in their times of trouble; just the idea of going to court with somebody who may not have anybody else to go to court with. Very basic pastoral responsibilities, I think, show love. I have a family who live near me that was going to lose their house, and we help them. I think you show love in a very practical ways of supporting people and helping people.

Joshua discussed his early years in ministry and his misconceptions He stated how it is important to get involved in the lives of the congregants and build relationships with them, "I had certain preconception about ministry. I just thought that at first the only thing that was required was to go in and to preach and teach, but I soon learned that, that certainly was not enough, that you had to become actively involved in the lives of your members." When Joshua was asked for examples of his nurturing and caring ways, he stated,

We have that kind of caring. I personally make home visitations to our members just to see how they're doing...this is not just me, but the leadership of the church. Of course we visit the infirm. We visit our own who suffer bereavement, loss, those who are going through divorce, try to encourage them and to help them. We take some members out to dinners. Every third Sunday we have a family and friends fellowship. I call them on the phone if I haven't seen somebody in a couple of weeks... letting them know that we love them and that we're caring for them. Those who are bedridden, we commune. We go and have service with them... It shows that the pastor is concerned and cares about them.

In addition, on building relationships and showing care, Joshua stated, "I have to be circumspect in the way I respond to them and treat each one as if that is the most thing in the world for them."

Shadrach also emphasized the need to have relationships with the congregants as a way of developing and nurturing them,

Initially, my first and second year you want to be seen as a relational pastor. Where you are constantly in touch with the people, and getting to know their families and their interests, and their desires, their frustrations. Out of that intimate relationship, word got out that there's a pastor on the block who cared deeply about people. It

begins relationally. From then, once the relationships were cemented, then you move in the area of how can this start?

Shadrach was asked how he showed care, love, and nurture to his congregation. Shadrach responded,

I do different things. I do it from the pulpit. I do it personally. I do it by my phone calls. I do it by standing there every Sunday and greeting those persons and hugging those persons. It may be tiring, but you invest yourself. You do it by the way you address the concerns that people have. A good example... one of our members had a major fire. They lost everything. We prayed for them. We dig in our pockets and made an offering, give it to them to go buy some clothes, because they had no clothes, and people did. That's the best way to address the issue is to demonstrate it. Don't talk about it, just do it.

The pastors were asked, "how did you assess the need to develop your congregants to spiritual renewal?" Daniel responded, "Well, you know, over the years I have learned that congregations need to be stretched, I saw transformation in the many of the leadership." Joshua answered, "Congregation of hurting people, people being weak in faith, you feel compassionate and that they need nurturing... You interview folks individually and ask them... what kind of service do you think the church should be rendering to you?" Shadrach shared,

Part of being a leader is listening... You've got to listen to the people because your vision has to be tied into the needs of what have been coming from the community and the people. One best way to do it, we do what they call self-interest. What you do is, you go out to each member and you ask them about their families. Also, ask them, "If you had a chance to leave an impact on your church or something that can be used to improve the church what would that be?"

# Preaching and Teaching the Word, Prayer, and Counseling

Mark, Jeremiah, Peter, and Matthew shared that preaching and teaching the word, prayer, and counseling are ways to develop and transform the congregants to spiritual renewal.

In sharing his view on the role of preaching and teaching the word in developing and nurturing congregants to spiritual renewal, Mark stated, "Nurturing begins with a clear presentation of the gospel." He clarified that congregants may not be responding to pastors because "they have not had a definite or a clear conversion experience." He said, "If I have newborn Christians, they're all hungry. Nurturing is easy, I share the word and they feed on it... As they grow, then they begin to know what's good for them. They feed on the word of God. I continue to nurture them with a clear, holistic approach to the scripture... Nurturing and fellowship and encouragement and praying for one another."

Mark emphasizes preaching, teaching, and praying, and he also emphasizes with his leadership staff the need for counseling members. He stated,

I train them to be counselors... The next time a counseling session comes in, I bring one of my men in. If it is a woman, I have women that are trained in the church to counsel. They nurture. I just make sure that somebody is there to nurture and to love them, to take care of them... Sometimes, I say to somebody "I want you to be close to them. I want you to go take them into your small group. I want you to sit down and talk with them.

Jeremiah has a similar practice. He stated,

We meet weekly or monthly, We develop a prayer routine. We develop a study routine. We have something, however, else that we do that's quite been transformative, that has meant people changing their vocations, and even entering seminary, and that's called the catechumenate. It's an intensive 20 weeks, every Sunday night for 90 minutes. We simply read the gospel lesson every week in the lectionary readings, We pray, we read the gospel lesson, we use what's call the oral method of Bible study, sometimes called the African method of Bible study. We ask a series of questions and the final question every week is asking what is God's call on you through this passage?

Peter shared a similar view as he referenced those who were empty inside spiritually and needed God in their lives due to their lack of understanding of spiritual things. He stated, "They need God in their lives... Through the different years I spent time with them, prayed with them, studied the Bible with them. They will spend time

together; and pray for each other." To cultivate spiritual renewal, Peter stresses counseling as a way of developing and renewing the congregants. He shared,

There's a lot of counseling in terms of nurturing, it's like bringing God's truth in a way that they can understand into their life. That's why I am concerned, that's nurturing. It's not just telling them what there is in the Bible, but helping them interact with the Bible, to make the Bible theirs. Also, the most basic part of that is nowadays people are broken... their relationships are broken. Mostly families are very broken up and marriage is broken. A lot of people [are] just struggling to survive. [These are the] reasons why I think (counseling) is important.

Matthew discussed how important praying, preaching, and teaching are in the renewal life of the church. He stated,

We do believe in prayer, but we facilitate programs here at this church that help to enhance the church spiritually. We do have our days of prayer and fasting in the church. Certainly, the word of God is very, very important to us. We believe in the constant study of the word. They come out and they study the word every sabbath. Not only do we do that, we believe that the word is central. In divine hour, on any given sabbath, we focus heavily on God's word. The preaching of God's word is crucial and important to us. We also have a very vibrant Bible class. Our youth program has God's word in it. The young lead in teaching the doctrines here.

#### **Articulating a Vision**

Matthew, Timothy and Daniel expressed the importance of casting a vision in order to bring about spiritual renewal. Matthew shared,

I lay out a vision for my elders. I lay out a vision for my board. Then, from there, we lay out a vision for the congregation. We are in the process of putting a five year plan together for this church. We launched a massive revitalization program whereby we have taken the church to a point where they recognize the need. They recognize that there is a serious need for strong leadership, not only in the church, but strong leadership in our homes and our community.

Timothy added, "Our primary vision is what we stick to... this is a teaching and developing ministry church, that we are here to develop, to help you grow and to get to the place where God wants you to be. Not only to be, but to become leaders and fisherman for him."

Daniel also talked about vision, but collective vision. Thirty years before he arrived at the church, Daniel's congregation had a vision to build a sanctuary for God. Their vision became the pastor's vision, and it brought about spiritual renewal. Daniel explained,

They had talked some 30 years about building a church... They had a lot of disagreements, when I came, things fell in place, and we were able to start that building and finish that building. They also rallied around that goal, that vision that they had to achieve that... We had to focus. It wasn't just prayer. What are your spiritual objectives in building this building? For what purpose? What is the vision that the Lord wants us to have to build a building? What are we going to do with it?

Emphasizing the spiritual and renewal aspects of the vision, Daniel added,

When you begin to list those things, and we're not doing this for ourselves, we're doing this for higher objectives, and then you begin to focus on your spiritual walk as a congregation, sermons, worship, everything, when people meet to have prayers around that help you stick with the vision. We're not just here to take care of business. We're here to also accomplish... Everything we do is to accomplish this vision that God has given us. When it becomes a comprehensive effort, that's when things begin to happen for good.

How Do Senior Pastors Develop Their Congregants' Spiritual Gifts?

In exploring the second research question, the participants provided three major steps to develop congregants' spiritual gifts: identifying gifts, understanding gifts biblically, and training to use gifts well. Three pastors, Joshua, Daniel and Shadrach, emphasized identifying the gifts as an essential element in developing the gifts. Mark, Jeremiah, and Peter focused on the biblical understanding for the exercising of the gifts. Matthew, Timothy, and Shadrach focused their attention on training the congregants in order to develop their gifts.

# **Identifying Gifts**

Joshua talked about the identification of the gifts as a way to develop congregants. He explained,

What I do is to help people, well teach them steps on discovering what those spiritual gifts are that they have. Do an inventory. What is it that you have? What gift do you think God has given you? What do you excel at? What do you love doing, and how can you use that to further the ministry in the church?

In explaining how congregants react to this approach, Joshua continued, "Some people come to me and say, 'Well, I think I have this gift,' and of course as a leader with the help of others, we have to find ways in which to use that gift so we can help the entire congregation grow." Joshua explained how he identifies the gifts,

Another obligation I had is to observe people, see what particular things that they're good at, that they enjoy doing, because sometimes people may not see it, but you see it as a pastor. After a while, if my notions have been I believed confirmed, then I'll speak to the individual. Most of the time, thank God, I am right, and we go to pray about it.

Similar to Joshua, Daniel shared his approach in identifying the congregants' gifts, "I always find that it's very necessary to find out from people, What is your prior experience?... What have you done in the past? What are your goals? Why are you coming here? To learn about that so that that can be developed in ways." Daniel explained another way of seeing congregants' gifts,

At least I've learned when folk come to a church to join the church, you've got to give them time to get in, to become a part of the household, become a part of the family. Most people will move toward an area that they want to be involved in. Many come knowing what they want to do. That means that I'm going to be in conversation with you about, "What do you know about that area? This is what we can teach you about that area." You see, it's again a learning process.

Shadrach also revealed his approach to identifying gifts,

There's a formula, and there are several gift inventories you can use. James Dobson has one with Focus on the Family. Dobson is the method we use here. The Purpose Driven Life, Rick Warren, is another measurement that they use to measure people. We have used measurements over the years for people to take the examination and see where their gifs fall. They can Google it and get one to assess what their

spiritual gifts are. Once a person identifies what their gifts are, they say, "My gift is giving. My gift is visiting the sick."

In the process of identifying the gifts, Shadrach also explained,

When new members are being trained and they are going through a new membership class, we ask them what their gifts are. Sometimes we ask them but also sometimes we can identity what we think their gifts are. Once I share it with you, then I try to create opportunity for them to use their gifts.

# **Biblical Understanding**

Mark strongly believes that the gifts are only given by God and develop by the Spirit of God. He explained,

As far as the gifts are concerned, the church wants to say all of these gifts in play. I don't see it. I do see obviously, that God has given gifts that are still in play in the church, gifts of leadership, gifts of mercy, gifts of teaching. I am very concerned about them being under the control of the Holy Spirit. As they're under the control of the Holy Spirit, according to Ephesians 5:15-21, I see that they are going to be sensitive to what the spirit of God wants them to do with how he's gifted them.

To explain his biblical understanding of developing the gifts, Mark said, "When I have people out on the street in the middle of the battle, witnessing, appealing to people at an abortion clinic, handing out tracts, talking with people, if they are spirit controlled, they are going to be trained in that venue. They are going to experience development." However, Mark also believes that the correct biblical hermeneutic or interpretation of the gifts is important and is to be done by the pastor. He stated, "If you have a true gift from the Holy Spirit with teaching, all I have to do is make sure your hermeneutic is correct."

Jeremiah shared a similar view on his biblical understanding of the gifts,

I do know that my sermon series now are going to be on the work of the Holy Spirit... I want to explore what the Holy Spirit means in our lives. I go through a sermon series saying, "scripture speak to us," and I'll interpret for my people... I think people learn about their gifts when they confront God's word in their lives. That's what I believe. I don't think it's like, should I be a musician? No... I don't know. You ask the Lord Jesus how he judges me. I think it's Spirit led, because we

very much rely on God's speaking, and not on a prescribe program. Our whole orientation is how is God talking to you in scripture?

Peter also believes in a biblical understanding of developing the gifts through the

Spirit, but he also emphasizes a pastor's guidance through discovery and identification.

Peter explained,

My goal is not just to tell them understand what the Bible says. My goal is to help them to interact with the Bible so that it becomes something real in their life in the same way I approach spiritual gifts. Of course I tell them, in the Bible it talks about this, different kinds of gifts and so on. You might have some of it. Designed by God, given by God through the Spirit. It's something designed by God that when you use it then the body of Christ is being built up.

Peter gives pastoral guidance for gifts development. He said,

I say, "Everybody is important." I would say that everybody has something to offer, something very unique too. My approach is that I will give them the picture. I say, "So many people have all these needs, what can we do? Then some people would say, "I can do this one. They will begin to do things that they can do and what they can do well and then I'll say "okay." According to how I understand what they can do or at least guide them to that direction.

#### Gifts Training

Matthew believes that it is important to train the congregants in order to develop their gifts. He explained,

The way we develop their gifts is, to a large extent, training. Number one, we run a gift-based ministry. Our members do the gift-based inventory. It's a test that's done online. We also provide hard copy for them. After doing that test, we walk them through the process of helping them to serve in the area of their giftedness. We give them the necessary tools. We train them, we teach them, and we send them to work.

Matthew elaborated upon his training process,

Empowering leaders to make leaders. Like for instance, at the end of this year, I have three officers who are resigning, but they are going to stay within the department because they have already trained someone, a younger person who they are presenting to take over and lead. They make that selection and they say, "Pastor, we think this person is a good person to train." I evaluate the person, sit down, and talk with them. Then, my leader, if that's okay with myself and them, they train that person and prepare them to lead.

Matthew also stated that he places congregants according to their area of gifts strengths,

I individualize my consideration for each leader. My first elder works for the city and he is a tremendous organizer. My business is to help to enhance his skills. He is also an IT person. He is not only my first elder, he is also the elder who looks over our IT for the church because of his skills. I specifically assigned him. In fact, quite a number of my elders specialize in ministry, and they specialize in ministry based on their area of giftedness. That's how we get to lighten the work for everyone, and we get to hold people accountable.

Describing his responsibility as a leader he continued, "I, as the leader, have the responsibility to provide resources for them, to stimulate them intellectually in their area of their giftedness. I go out on my way to bring in workshops for them consistently, officer's workshops, and leadership symposiums. There are ongoing seminars and training, not just for the officers but for the church in general." Matthew continued,

Another area and factor that is very, very crucial is to make sure that the empowerment process takes place, meaning that if you ask someone to do something, we do not micromanage that individual. We guide and lead but we don't micromanage. There's accountability and the pastor will hold people accountable for what they're supposed to do but we empower leadership.

Timothy also believes in training congregants to develop their gifts. He provided his steps to do so,

The Lord gives ability, even when he gives gifts. If you're going to be a singer, and then you're a singer for the Lord, and where you sing, people's hearts are now developed, or they feel the presence of God through singing. When he gives the ability, not just for people just to come up and sing but through the teaching now and developing, now they're developing and they're transformed, and now when they sing, it's no longer in self.

Timothy also gives opportunity to congregants. He stated, "You give opportunity, you teach, you develop, how to become better. We give quite a few opportunity even on Sundays mornings and evenings, during midweek, we give ample and enough opportunity (to be developed and exercised the gifts)."

Shadrach also offered a very detailed way of training his congregants in spiritual gifts development,

All of us have the ability. God has put into each one of us spiritual gifts. Who he calls, he equips says the scripture. What happens sometimes in ministry is that people are watching other people use their gifts, and feel insecure about their gift that God has given to them. Everybody has a gift that can be used. Something that you know that if given the opportunity, you can do good or do well here, so whether it's the administrative gifts, whether it's the love gift, or the gift of giving, the gift of control, and the gift of nurturing. All of those are gifts that people have.

Shadrach then explained the steps he used to train congregants to develop their gifts and to become leaders,

There are people who come in, we have a six weeks new membership course that people who want to join the church would go through for six weeks. Going through that, one of the classes is on using your gifts. We talk about that. If a person can sing, we happen to have a chair for the choir. If a person loves to pray, we say, "Okay, we have a prayer ministry here. I recommend that you join the prayer ministry." A person here has the gift of friendliness, and smiling and hospitality. We plug them into hospitality, the usher ministry here. Here so while they're coming out of the new membership class, we are already thinking about places in the ministry where they can be plugged in.

Shadrach further talked about other biblical gifts that his church used,

The gift of teaching is big here. We are a teaching church. We are a biblical teaching church. We are a traditional Presbyterian in that kind of sense. We are a teaching ministry here. The gift of service, we try deeply to convey the importance that we are saved to serve. A lot of stuff we do here is about service. We have major pantry here at church. We give out about 500 food per week to the community here. It's just giving, giving, giving. Service is big. The gift of hospitality is big. Hospitality is other persons who have this tremendous gift of visiting the hospitality when people are sick. They tend to the needs of those that are sick and shut in at home. They cater twice a month a coffee hour for all the visitors to come and to hear about the ministry.

Sadrach also discussed the importance of discipleship and evangelism with regard to gifts development,

We have a discipleship and evangelism ministry in place. It's done from the time we see a person and it goes from first base, second base, third base concept. When a

person joins the church and they finish the membership class, they would go to the new members and would start to create steps of goals.

Shadrach discussed the different gifts and ministries, but he also provided other means of training and development for leadership. Shadrach described the leadership training, saying,

We have our leadership training that occurs here where we train potential leaders in an area of sub-development in terms of thinking, in terms of cognitive development, in terms of behavioral change. We have it maybe three or four times a year. We take all the leaders, all of these diverse ministries on a Saturday. We have a conversation with them, and do workshops, and conversation development, and also content information of what it means to be a leader in the 21<sup>st</sup> century. Then also, a part of that training is to paint the picture of where we think the church is heading. I share the vision with them during the leadership training so they can go back to their various ministries here and create goals that satisfy the bigger goal.

In entrusting leaders with shared responsibility and leadership position, Shadrach said,

In the Presbyterian church we have maybe three major levels of leadership. The pastor, and then you have the governing board called the session. The session is made up of what they call the elders. They are the ones who govern the everyday function of the church. The second is called the trustees. They are responsible for the building, the maintenance, and the needs of the building. Also, they have fiscal responsibility in terms of gathering and spending monies. The third layer of leadership is called deacons. They are the ones that reach out in the community that are sick, hungry, when there is a death in the family, sickness, and hospital. Each person has a responsibility to help another person grow and evolve. Accountability in ministry is important.

The participants were also asked to evaluate the congregants' gifts development by answering the question, "When did you know the gifts are fully developed?" Matthew answered,

I don't believe they're totally fully developed. I want to be careful not to say they are, because fully developed mean you have arrived but I've noticed that we have gotten into a good place in terms of their giftedness. I have noticed that over the past two years now, and especially this year based on the certain things I'm able to see the church do in terms of programs and ministry, based on some initiatives that we have had in this community.

Timothy responded similarly, "Well, I don't think anyone, in general, will ever get fully developed, because we all keep learning, but to a stage where they're getting stronger developed, developing, you see that over a series of time, a period of time, after some time, of course." Timothy gave an example of the disciples and their experience with the demons when they went to Jesus,

For example, Jesus sent his disciples out. When He sent them out and they came back, they said, "Well, listen, Lord they were subject to us. We prophesied. We spoke to them, and great things started to happen. Demon came out." He said, "Well, you're still missing out on something. Just rejoice that your name is written in the Book of Life. Don't excited over all this other stuff.

Timothy concluded, "We're never going to get to a place where we're fully developed or we're into a place that we have reached our pinnacle. There are always higher heights and deeper depths."

Shadrach shared,

The best way to assess that is usually when people have somebody they start to mentor. When they no longer want to hold onto the gift for themselves but they want to pass on the baton to somebody else to mentor and then to assume responsibility. They become team players more than solo individuals. The best way to assess this when a gift is developed is when a person is willing to share it, and to mentor somebody else.

What Are the Challenges for Senior Pastors in Developing Their Congregants through Nurturing Leadership?

Each of the participants described challenges that they encounter in their nurturing leadership. Joshua, Daniel, Shadrach, Matthew, and Peter discussed change as a human problem. Jeremiah, Mark, and Timothy named how a lack of interest was a challenge. Similarly, Timothy, Peter, and Shadrach said lack of Commitment and skills challenged them. The pastors also discussed how to meet these challenges.

## **Change As a Human Problem**

Joshua explained the challenges he faces,

I think whenever you get involved in the lives of people, that can always be a challenge. If you get involved, you're going to have some challenges because sometimes you get disappointed. I think the challenges that we have is resistance. I think these are common challenges that we all face as pastors, and that is that you have a natural tendency to resist. When I say resist, what I mean is that there are some folks who want to stay stagnant. Another challenge that you have is that sometimes people don't grow as fast as you would like them to grow.

Joshua elaborated on the words "resist change," and he continued, "Yeah, they resist change. I told you that some people have that exceptional religion, everybody except me, but when you get everybody with that attitude, then that does not help a church to grow. It keeps a church stagnant." When Joshua was asked if he thinks that prevents transformation, he responded, "Yes, yeah, absolutely."

Daniel shared similar challenges on resistance to change,

Entrenched members of the church who do not want to see things change... Folks don't always see what's happening to them. They don't see what's happening to their congregation. When you have a group of people or an individual or anybody who is not open to change, to doing things differently, not simply because it needs to change, not because you want it to change, but because we obviously are at a point where we need to do some things differently. When you have that problem, you've got a problem, stubbornness, control. Those can be big problems in a church. If you get a core of people saying, "This is the way we used to do it, we're not going to do it differently," you've got a problem there. You've got to work on that problem.

Shadrach also talked about the issue of effecting change in people as a constant problem,

You know there's constant challenges. The one thing with people is you are always going to have challenges. Otherwise, you don't understand the complexity of leadership. The hardest part of it is for people to buy into the idea of change. It's bigger thing for them to buy into an idea of change. People are mostly comfortable with the status quo, the way things are. Since the future is unknown, they are not very sure that what you are telling them is going to work. So to try and sell your

brand, trying to sell your content and your vision is a big challenge. All of us are people. We are resistant to change by nature especially in the church community.

Peter also shared his challenges regarding this human problem,

There is this interesting part in humans and people is that sometimes they resent help. They don't want to change for various reasons and so that will take a lot of time to overcome. If you ask what kind of gifts they have, that's not difficult to know. The difficult part will be about utilizing, using the gifts in such a meaningful way in their life. That's the hard part.

Matthew also experienced resistance to change as a challenge to developing congregants through nurturing leadership,

It was difficult and still sometimes a challenge because some of them feel that they have a life. They come from back home, how they have always done it, and we want to do it just the same way we've done it back home. They said, "Pastor, let's do it like how we did it back home." Often times, I have to remind some of my leaders that you are no longer in Jamaica, and Guyana, and Haiti, and some of the other countries.

#### Lack of Interest

Jeremiah described his congregants' lack of interest due a lack of understanding of denominational doctrinal way of nurturing and renewing people, "I think a challenge that we have is teaching the culture of my denomination since the Reformed Church in America is as deep, rich tradition with real established patterns." Explaining his challenges and how new congregants react to the denomination rich tradition patterns, Jeremiah shared his congregants' reaction, "They didn't join Old First to be in a Reformed Church. They joined Old First because this was the church in this location that had a Christ centered worship service that was open and progressive."

Mark shared the congregants' lack of interest due to being unsaved as a challenge in nurturing leadership, "Nurturing is easy... but it is a difficult thing to do it with false

converts. It's a very miserable existence. I work at trying to clarify for people: what is your relationship with God?"

Timothy also expressed how congregants lacked interest and were not hungry,

Then the next challenge is that there are some that are not hungry enough. They don't hunger and thirst after the gifting of the Lord. It's in them, and you want them to let it birth out. That's one of the main things that they get into place of complacency or lazy, slothful type of behavior where the Lord has given talents that are not being used. That's where that parable of the talents come into play where he says, "I gave you the talents." I gave it to you already. All you have to do is now use them. There is nothing that I can do to force them to not be lazy, to come out.

#### Lack of Commitment and Skills

Timothy described the lack of skills and time commitment as a major challenge for people to reach new heights in leadership,

People want to get to a higher height, but they don't want to go through the process. That's one of the challenges that we find quite often. In order to receive the understanding, the mind of Christ, in order to really get that teaching, you have to now apply yourself. There are many excuses that many will make. They will say that they've got school, they have work, they have family, and other things like that. Do they apply? Do they really read God's Word enough? Do they pray? Again, they don't apply themselves enough.

Peter also described long-term time commitment as a major challenge,

The one major challenge is long term. Our people (he said) love short-term things. For example, they write in Romans 12, "Offer yourself as the living sacrifice." They are thinking about, "When am I going to be released from this?" "Go home and take a break," and so on. Nurturing is a long-term thing, just like growing life from a baby all the way up. It takes a long time. The commitment takes a long time too. That's one of the hardest things. People are willing to help with projects, but when you are asking them to commit five years or ten years or their life in nurturing other people is one of the hardest.

Peter expounded upon other challenges, "maybe people just don't know what tomorrow will be like so they feel that they cannot commit. They are afraid that they might offer something that they cannot follow up with and so on." Peter, who understands the meaning of commitment, added, "The kind of pledge that we are making before God, yes,

I have to be very serious and try my best to whatever I offer." Peter also recounted the story, "There's a kid who did not have time to serve God because he needed time to spend with his friends, time to play ball, time to play with his computer. All these are perishable things." Peter asked,

Are they serving God? Yes, but there is something missing in there. Usually, I think this how people respond to God when he asks more from their lives and they will start reacting this way. Husband will try to save their personal space and time. The wife will try to protect the house, and thinking that it's going to fall apart if not. They have a hard time with really getting to the real point of giving God something because they are not thinking about giving God the particular things that God is asking from them.

Shadrach also expressed his view on the time commitment challenges when he stated, "People are busy. People are very, very busy in the city and do not have time commitment to make, to sustain ministry."

# Pastors' Ability to Meet the Challenges

In order to meet these challenges, Joshua believes in building relationships with congregants,

I firmly believe it now. I didn't believe it when I first started. I had to come to that in my ministry. Let me say it again, I felt that my job was to come teach and preach. Now I realize that I've been called to do more than just that, and that is to invest all that I have, my time and my effort, my energy in the lives of my congregants and that means getting personal with them and sitting down at their tables and becoming involved in a number of aspects of their lives. Sometimes they welcome that. Sometimes they put up guards to try to prevent that, but they eventually will let those guards down and they open up and they say, "You know what? We really trust you as a spiritual leader."

Daniel also makes the case for building relationships,

Relationship is important, it takes time to build that relationship. Once you build a relationship with the people, and you begin to help folk understand, "Look, this is what we're up against, and this where we are today..." Once you change the culture in the church, very often folk will change. People will change, and they will change some of the ones that have been the most obstinate, and can turn around to be the greatest advocates for what change needs to be.

Jeremiah, on the other hand, described his challenges as a shared leadership problem,

The challenges for me are to share my work with Silas and Timothy. It's easy for me to be the pull all because I'm excited to do it. I like to be in the people's lives. I want to see the person... I do a lot of face-to-face with my people. I have to let other people do some of that work, but I love to do it much. The challenge for me is sharing the work.

Peter expressed how dealing with the people's brokenness through renewal helps,

A lot of people have brokenness in their lives. We are talking about, not only healing that, overcoming that, breaking through, talking about a long process... I advise them to pray and ask God to help. Did God help you? Did God really answer your prayers? Is He real? Is He powerful enough to help you? With that they gather more that can help them to deal with the more difficult challenges... All of this takes a lot of spiritual growth, your spirituality as your change. God has to be very real in your life."

Shadrach offered his ways of dealing with the challenges of congregants refusing to change and having lack of commitment, "You have to do those three things. You've got to preach about it. You've got to pray about it. You have to talk about it until people start to hear it over and over again, and start to enter the system here." Shadrach also talked about investing time in people, being consistent, and giving them opportunity to grow as a way of meeting the challenges:

It is a good thing of being in the same location for a long time as the leader. I'm not perfect, because none of us are perfect, but if you tend to be consistent over time here, you can see people's gifts being developed in long term ministry. You have been here, you have been encouraging, you have been motivating, and so although there can be challenges, if you stay with the people and encourage them, and create opportunity for them to serve, they will blossom. Part of what a leader's job to do is to create opportunity for service.

Timothy also offered opportunity as a way to meet challenges: "Those who are hungry enough and are developing, again, when we give them the opportunity and they kept on developing and developing."

Mark expressed his challenges as a nurturing leader in understanding and conveying the gospel to the congregants for transformation and spiritual renewal when he stated,

The biggest problem I had was not understanding the gospel clearly. Then I came to the point where I said there's something more here. There's something more, but it's pretty close and began to continue to study. Then, I began to understand that in the evangelical movement, the law had been ripped out of the gospel. The use of the ten commandments. I began to see where the apostle Paul had a high regard for the use of the ten commandments in the witness where a person would be brought to a place where they were convicted of their sin.

#### Mark added,

When I began to apply that, that is when things I think in the church became a lot clearer and for people, their understanding of the gospel became a lot clearer at that point, where we front loaded the gospel with the law. It's freed up a lot of people in the church to be able to understand how to apply the gospel to people's lives.

Matthew shared a similar view with Mark, using the gospel to meet the challenges and also identifying key leaders to help effect change. He stated,

We must learn to package the gospel to fit the environment and the setting that we are called to serve at. I often time, remind them of that. I sing that, I preach that, I teach that. Preaching is very important in changing the concepts of people. Every opportunity I get from this pulpit, I teach my members... Not only I do that but every good soldier does groundwork. How do you do groundwork? You have to identify the key and influential leaders in your church and get those sold on the program.

# What Are the Benefits of Congregants Developing through Senior Pastors' Nurturing Leadership?

The participants shared the following benefits to their congregation from nurturing leadership. Joshua, Daniel, Shadrach, and Matthew shared how their congregants grow. Jeremiah, Peter, Shadrach, and Matthew named transformation as a benefit. Mark, Daniel, Matthew, Peter, Joshua, and Shadrach believe their congregations experiences better discipleship and service. Matthew, Shadrach, Timothy, and Joshua

said they exhibited better leadership. All the pastors experienced more effective leadership.

# Congregants Grow

Joshua explained the benefits to his congregation from nurturing leadership,

First of all, I think that is the catalyst of growth for the church. The church will grow not just in number but spiritually. I think our objectives shouldn't be more than just to see the church get larger so we can get more in the plate on Sunday, but we want to see our people grow in their appreciation and love for their church community and for Christ. They love the church more. They contribute more.

Daniel saw individual growth as a spiritual benefit of pastors' nurturing leadership,

Well, the benefits are first to the individual. I think that they begin to see themselves in a new light hopefully. When I go back to my young years when I became involved in the church, and they asked me to come be a part of certain things, it did something to me. It helped me think good of myself. I felt I was a part of something. I think when you ask people to come and be involved, there's a certain excitement that people have; they can be inspired by participating and being asked to participate.

Daniel emphasized this benefit by saying,

Always ask a basic question, "What do you want to see happen here in this church? What don't you come be a part of that?" For people to be inspired to inspire themselves. We inspire ourselves. Also, very practically, people need to develop their very practical. Some people can write. You have a church newsletter. Some people are wonderful writers. We have a woman who is a wonderful poet. She's not highly educated, but she writes beautiful poetry. That's a benefit. She's developing her literary talent, and we get the blessing of reading, hearing her work, you see... There are a lot of benefits.

Daniel elaborated upon how the congregants' spiritual gifts contribute to the benefits,

Well, when people are renewed spiritually and understand that they have a close relationship with God, with Jesus, then the church is going to very often grow because it's going to become a place that other people want to come to, When people are inspired and you walk in the doors, you can feel it. When the spirituality is high and heightened, I think that's very key. When you have a church that is aware of its spiritual, the spiritual presence is amongst them, you're going to have church growth. People are going to come to that church.

Shadrach shared the benefits in the area of growth, "One person who is nervous about praying in public because they are afraid being seen praying in public is so dramatic, to see that person begin to pray two or three sentences, and now they can pray on behalf of the people. Yeah so the benefits are tremendous here."

Matthew shared his view on the benefits in terms of financial growth and spiritual life transformation when he stated, "As we grow, then everything else will grow. For years now, we have invested. Actually, we are coming to the end a \$600,000 project in this church, building project. It's going to be transformed, but the transformation process right now has shifted really from transforming a building to transforming lives."

# **Transformation**

Jeremiah expressed how transformation was a spiritual benefit of congregants developing through pastors' nurturing leadership. He explained the state of transformation that takes place in a person,

My experience is that people are satisfied if they can have small, but real, God experiences in their lives. It can be as simple as seeing a friend's life change, or having the experience of hope after some despair, or that's what it means that Jesus became a human, that God became a human being. That's what it is. That kind of stuff carries people a long way. My experience is that when people see a little bit of spiritual transformation in their life, it doesn't take much if they're mature people. That gives meaning in their lives and they're willing to stand up for their faith. Having these God moments, and often they are not so much when it's loud, often when it's quiet... in silence or grief, or sharing with someone, or somebody reading a passage.

Jeremiah added, "When you are working within spiritual gifts... you are now feeling like you are within the kingdom of God." Jeremiah shared a story to describe the benefits of transformation,

We had one guy, this is great, he was giving his testimony and said, "You might ask, 'Why I spend all this time on all these committees?' You know I'm on a lot

of committees. 'Why do I spend all this time on the deacons board?' I'm on the committee that makes food CHIPS, the food ministry." He cooks every Saturday. "You know why I do this? Because when I'm doing it, I can see the kingdom of God," he said, "I can see the kingdom of God. That's what I want. I just want them to be able to see when they go through these experiences and these groups. I just want them to be able to see the kingdom of God.

Peter understands the first spiritual benefit of congregants developing through pastors' nurturing leadership is to be transformation. He stated,

I would say that the number one is that the congregants would be heading in the right direction in their lives. They will not stay as an audience, sitting there and just enjoy. I believe that somehow the loving one another mandate in the Bible will be lived out in the church. I believe that one of the characteristics of the church will be a caring church, a church that the people feel that they are welcome to go to, to join in.

Shadrach also expounded upon the benefits of transformation, "To look on people that you have spent time with pouring into, and to see how they have gotten excited about their faith, to pour into a young man as I see here all the time and to see that young man start to teach and preach. You sit back and you say, 'Wow, I'm so glad I made that investment...'"

Matthew understands that part of the spiritual benefits is transformation,

What happens is, it gets to a point where, just as the Bible says, the Bible encourages the edification of the church and the priesthood of all believers. All of these individuals, after they have found their gifts and they are stimulated spiritually and intellectually, because intellectual stimulation also breeds spiritual stimulation and growth... We always base that on the word. As individuals find their gifts and utilize it, they actually become the ones to actually empower each other... When you've transformed lives, they will transform other lives, and that group will transform other lives.

#### **Better Discipleship and Service**

Mark was asked what are the benefits of congregants developing through senior pastors' nurturing leadership, he responded by emphasizing discipleship as one of the benefits when he stated,

They show the world that we are disciples. Jesus said, "If you love one another, the world will know that you're my disciple." That's one of the things that people have told us. "We sense that you have love each other in this church, that you have a love for another. You enjoy one another. You like being around one another." That's important for people unsaved to see.

Daniel added discipleship as a benefit of spiritual gifts,

I think we all have some spiritual yearning that guides us to discipleship. When we've made up our mind to be disciples, then we go on to further spiritual development... The transformation process is when we are like Jesus we really entering onto a spiritual journey. It's not until we're transformed into discipleship that we then grow in terms of our spiritual gifts.

Matthew shared his benefits and mentioned discipleship and service:

I discovered that basically in my people's lives, and ministry, their passion and their desire to serve God, and to get involved in various evangelistic trust and ministry. One of the ways in which I really saw that this church was growing spiritually is when we had the hurricane some years ago. I saw this membership stood up with their pastor. We went over to Canarsie. We went over to places in Queens, et cetera. Late at nights we were there serving people. Early mornings, giving people food and clothing, et cetera. I saw so many of our members involved in that.

Matthew also said, "That's the indication that they have come to the place where they have grown spiritually and they realized that their existence is to serve God and to serve men. Those are indicators that people are growing spiritually when they are willing and ready to go and serve wherever they are called to serve." Matthew added, "We see also that it really, really benefits the church as it relates to soul winning because as they grow, and certainly, the people who come in the church will be able to grow with them.

Anybody who's growing won't want to leave there, they are growing because there's vested interest in being here."

Peter shared that discipleship and service are an important spiritual benefit. He stated, "Each individual will become a small pastor in that sense because they will be

practicing reaching out, evangelizing, and witnessing. They will be practicing nurturing one another. They will be practicing teaching one another."

Joshua talked about service in the context of spiritual growth benefits. He stated,

I think the key to service is through the gifts that God gives you. You can do it two ways. You can do it through your natural fleshly means which brings no honor and pleasure to God, or you can allow God to equip you, surrender yourself to him and let him use you. Then I think that has far more benefits than the other. It's what the apostle Paul said in Galatians 2 that, "I have been crucified with Christ. Nevertheless I live, but not I, but Christ liveth in me, and the life I live in the flesh I now live into the son of God who loved me and gave himself for me." That's what we want to see in every one of our congregants.

When it comes to their growth in the benefits of service Joshua added, "they render greater service. They serve not only admirably but with a willing heart."

Shadrach shared this point on the benefits of discipleship and service when he stated,

It's not about personal benefit, it's about God's kingdom benefits. The more the good news gets spread, the more the gifts are transmitted. The more transmission occurs, is more the kingdom of God is spread. The Bible talks about the people who sowed the seeds in different areas, different soils, how they grow based on where they were planted. When they are planted in the right soil, and it takes deep roots then it flourishes.

#### Better Leadership

Matthew thought nurturing leadership is better leadership. He stated,

The benefit is, definitely, for the congregation. We have better leaders... For our leaders, them personally, it helps them not only in their leadership capability at the church but it helps them to be stronger leaders in their home, and to be stronger leaders out in the job and in the community. Maxwell says, "Everything rise and falls with leadership."

When it comes to the benefits of congregants' contribution to the leadership of the church, Shadrach stated,

I think there are benefits in terms of confidence. The people gain confidence in themselves. They gain confidence in their gifts. They recognize it. Then they

develop it and they teach it to somebody else. Once a person gets confident, and the trickle down effect starts to happen across the board, horizontally but also vertically.

Shadrach gave an example of this kind of leadership, "To look at a young lady who was afraid to dance, or to lead worship, and to call on somebody important and encourage them, and now they are worshiping and leading with confidence."

Timothy talked about better leadership and unity among the congregants when he stated, "We become like a unit. We become unbroken, we fellowship together, we tabernacle together and we dwell together. We become alike. When that happens, that's when the Spirit of the Lord just moves on the place, like in the Day of Pentecost, because they were all in one accord."

When it comes to unity in the leadership, Joshua stated, "It's not a tug of war that goes on between you and your congregants."

## *More Effective Leadership*

Timothy was asked, "How does nurturing leadership make you a more effective pastor?" He described his duty and responsibility to be the leader chosen with the vision when he stated, "One of the main benefits is the Lord has given the vision to the main leader, such as myself, any leadership, you pass that down, now, to the congregants. The main vision is here, but everyone else, where the Lord speaks to them, they tie right back into the main vision."

Peter responded, "I will be in connection with my people. I will not be so far away from them. Also helping me to be humble, remembering that I'm one of the broken people too if God did not come and do all of this." Peter added, "My leadership structure is that the church is there to provide the opportunity for people to grow and for people to

realize themselves as a disciple and to disciple other people. That's the most important part. I do not separate that. Everything has to go back to that."

Daniel responded,

Because you get what you give. When you are trying to help someone grow, when you are nurturing them, when you are feeding them, then you go and eat a little bit yourself. As you teach, as you counsel, as you help people grow in terms of their spiritual understanding, you are certainly going to grow in terms of your own spiritual understanding. In teaching Bible study, for example, when any time I'm teaching a Bible class or even preparing for a sermon, I come across something and I say, "Gee, I've have been reading this for 40 years, but I see something different here that I never paid attention to before. In different ways, in the process of helping others grow spiritually, you find yourself growing spiritually.

Matthew responded similarly to Daniel when he said,

It makes me more effective in that I nurture and I am being nurtured also. Not only do I nurture my congregation, there are times when they nurture me. I've always held on to this motto and I still do, pastors don't make churches, churches make pastors. That's my motto. Every church that I've been to, they have made me a stronger pastor.

Jeremiah stated,

Nurturing ministry keeps a person focused as opposed to institution. It keeps his spirit focused as opposed to program. Nurturing ministry, I think, is more like the way the Lord Jesus is incarnational... To me, it feels more like the New Testament. That's the way Paul did his ministry and that's the way the Lord Jesus did his ministry. Yes, there is the giving of the word. Paul preached. He always preached to his people.

Mark responded to that question by stating, "Just being a responsible leader. I would say just be responsible for what God's called you to do." He elaborated,

If he's called us to handle the Word of God in a proper way, to hold people accountable with the Word of God. Shepherding, leading, lead people in a certain way. Yeah, that's what's I want to do, but it's not always something that they perceive as good until they allow that God word to effect in their lives. Yeah, nurturing. Growing.

Finally, Joshua shared his view on how nurturing leadership makes him a better pastor,

I think it makes me... Well of course, I'm reluctant to say a better pastor. I think a more effective pastor, more effective. The effectiveness of ministry should be determined by changed lives, not by any external thing like how much they put in the plate on Sunday, but their changed lives. I witnessed that over and over again throughout the years in my ministry. Not as much I would like it, but I witnessed it in a number of individuals, and I thank God for that.

Shadrach also shared his view on the effectiveness of nurturing leadership when he stated, "In a community anyone that uses their gifts to nurture, to develop, to achieve transformation is leaving a legacy on the lives of people who might be able to help them find themselves."

#### **Summary**

This chapter presented the data collected during the interview process. It explored how pastors develop their congregants through nurturing leadership and reported according to their findings. The final chapter of this dissertation will discuss these findings in light of the themes that have emerged from the literature review and provide recommendations for future research and practice.

# **Chapter Five**

#### **Discussion and Recommendations**

The purpose of this research study was to investigate how senior pastors develop their congregants through nurturing leadership. Specifically, this study was designed to discover the nurturing skills that senior pastors use to develop their congregants to spiritual renewal and gifts development for spiritual growth. The assumption that learning takes place in the context of ministry guided this study. In Chapter Two, the review of the literature, explored the theoretical aspect of nurturing leadership as an important skill to develop congregants. The following research questions guided the exploration of how senior pastors use nurturing skills to develop their congregants:

- 1. How do senior pastors develop their congregants in spiritual renewal?
- 2. How do senior pastors develop their congregants' spiritual gifts?
- 3. What are the challenges for senior pastors in developing their congregants through nurturing leadership?
- 4. What are the benefits of congregants developing through senior pastors' nurturing leadership?

# **Summary of the Study and Findings**

This study examined the nurturing leadership skills that pastors can use when developing congregants for growth. Both the literature and the interviews revealed the need for pastors to use nurturing leadership in order to develop their congregants for spiritual renewal and gifts development. In Chapter Two, the literature review had four areas of focus: leadership, spiritual renewal, spiritual gifts-development and biblical-theological framework. The biblical theological framework discussed how pastors and

church leaders develop and grow their congregants for spiritual maturity and transformation. Chapter Three provided a detail description of the methodology used for this qualitative research study. In searching for answers to the research questions, eight senior pastors with ten or more years of pastoral experience were interviewed. The research questions served as the interview protocol. Chapter Four presented and analyzed the data from the interviews. The findings show that these senior pastors nurtured and developed their congregants to spiritual renewal and spiritual gifts development in their ministry.

Chapter Five will discuss the findings, each according to their category in order to offer a coherent view in light of data from the literature review and the interviews.

Chapter Five will also provide recommendations for future research and practice.

# **Discussion of Findings**

The findings of this research study confirmed the assumption that learning takes place in the context of ministry. The participants shared their experiences about developing congregants through nurturing leadership in their ministry context. As the findings show, there are different nurturing leadership skills that pastors must have in order to nurture their congregants in spiritual renewal and spiritual gifts development. The following discussion is based on the findings for each of the research questions.

Senior Pastors Developing Their Congregants in Spiritual Renewal

The first research question explored how the senior pastors developed their congregants for spiritual renewal. The literature and interviews revealed helpful practices that promoted spiritual renewal: nurturing relationships, pursuing gospel-centered

ministry, assessing the community's needs, worshipping as a body, and articulating clear vision. The following section explores these findings.

#### **Nurturing Relationships**

When it comes to nurturing relationships, the literature review and the interview participants espoused similar views. Scholars and participants talked about the importance of leaders building relationships with their followers. As Kouzes and Posner state, "Leadership is a relationship between those who aspire to lead and those who choose to follow." Nohria and Khurana also express similar understanding when they write.

Since leading is all about the relationship between leaders and followers, ...followers want to identify psychologically with the leader. The more they want the emotional connection, the more attracted they may be to a leader who relies strongly on charisma as source of his or her influence.<sup>335</sup>

Maxwell also emphasizes on the need for relationship and liking people when he writes,

Relationships are a major key to success...Building relationships develops a foundation for effectively leading others. The more... relationships deepen, the broader the foundation for leading people becomes. When people feel liked, cared for, included, valued, and trusted, they begin to work together with their leader and each other. 336

Daniel shares Maxwell's view on relationships. Daniel emphasized the need to have relationships with the congregants when he stated,

Well, it's very important to be in relationship. You have to be in relationships with your folk, and that may take some time. You don't get to know people overnight. To get to know people, to know their troubles and their joys, to just sit and talk, to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>334</sup> Kouzes, and Posner, *The Leadership Challenge*, 30.

<sup>335</sup> Nohria and Khurana, Handbook of Leadership Theory and Practice, 422.

<sup>336</sup> Maxwell, How Successful People Lead, 46.

work with people... I think you get into relationship with folk when you work with them, and those who don't do anything with the church, those are the folk I reach out to on a Sunday, the folk that just come to worship, but they're not involved. I want to get to know them because building relationships is one of the most important ways to understand how you can help people become whole persons.

When asked how he develops those relationships, Daniel answered,

Well, visitation is important, to visit people... It's important to visit, particularly people who are having troubles, who are not well. To visit is very important...Visit somebody who is not well; also, stand with people in their times of trouble; just the idea of going to court with somebody who may not have anybody else to go to court with. Very basic pastoral responsibilities, I think, show love.

The literature review also emphasizes love and care as essential elements of relationships. Lummis conducted a survey regarding what congregations need of pastors. The survey shows,

Regional leaders interviewed across denominations cited the pastor's ability to show members of the congregation that he or she loves and will care for them, as an almost essential clergy quality that search committees try to find when choosing a new pastor. Regional leaders from five denominations explain: Congregations want to be loved and cared for, loved and lifted up. If that is done, the congregation is happy. 337

McNair also emphasizes the nurturing relationship of pastors' love and care for the congregants when he writes, "Caring, loving, equipping – these words express the essence of Christ's lesson about shepherding. A good shepherd is one whose care for the sheep drives him to equip them for doing what sheep do best, even at the cost of his own life." When pastors show love and care, they are exercising a leadership that nurtures and develops congregants to spiritual renewal.

Joshua, who has been pasturing his congregants for nineteen years, did not understand the importance of relationships when he first entered ministry, and he had to

<sup>337</sup> Lummis, "What Do Lay People Want in Pastors?" 13.

<sup>338</sup> MacNair, The Practices of a Healthy Church, 139.

learn quickly how to prioritize relationships and how to get involved in the people's lives. Joshua stated, "I had certain preconception about ministry. I just thought that at first the only thing that was required was to go in and to preach and teach, but I soon learned that, that certainly was not enough. You have to become actively involved in the lives of your members." Joshua shared some of the caring ways that he shows love in order to lead and nurture his congregants,

We have that kind of caring. I personally make home visitations to our members just to see how they're doing...this is not just me, but the leadership of the church. Of course we visit the infirm. We visit our own who suffer bereavement, loss, those who are going through divorce, try to encourage them and to help them. We take some members out to dinners. Every third Sunday, we have a family and friends fellowship. I call them on the phone if I haven't seen somebody in a couple of weeks... letting them know that we love them and that we're caring for them. Those who are bedridden, we commune. We go and have service with them... It shows that the pastor is concerned and cares about them.

Joshua emphasized that nurturing involves not just the pastor but also the leadership.

In addition to building relationships and showing care, Joshua stated, "I have to be circumspect in the way I respond to them and treat each one as if that is the most important thing in the world for them." Joshua and Peter White share a similar perspective on treating everyone as the most important person in the world. White shares about the importance of showing interest in people, "The work of caring springs out of three underlying values, our knowledge of our people, our love for them and the kingdom of God." He continues, "He will take an interest in each person. He will particularly watch out for change in people. He will keep notes so as to remember the important things about them." Bob Chapman and Raj Sisodia similarly state, "Our people

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>339</sup> White, *The Effective Pastor*, 97.

<sup>340</sup> Ibid

matter... when we say our people matter but we don't actually care for them, it can shatter trust and create a culture of paranoia, cynicism, and self-interest."<sup>341</sup> I believe that it is important for pastors to show each congregant that they matter and that they are important. It is almost impossible to nurture and care for people if you do not show them they are important. It is imperative for pastors to show that they care about their congregations.

# **Pursuing Gospel-Centered Ministry**

According to Weems, "Congregational renewal...means a renewal of the people's ability to notice and experience God in their midst, a renewal of the congregation's desire to partner with God in achieving God's aim for the world." In other words, the call to renewal is a call to transformation. In Romans 12:2 Paul seems to command this direct message of renewal to the Romans for total transformation when he writes, "And do not be conformed to this world, but be transformed by the renewing of your mind, that you may prove what is that good, and acceptable, and perfect, will of God." There are many ways to renew and transform congregants spiritually. The literature review and the interviews provide a better understanding of the pastors nurturing renewal ability to help congregants through the word-based ministry of preaching, teaching, praying, and counseling.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>341</sup> Chapman and Sisodia, *Everybody Matters*, ix.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>342</sup> Ibid., 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>343</sup> Romans 12:2.

Timothy Z. Witmer notes, "A fundamental responsibility of any and every shepherd is to assure that the sheep are well nourished." The nurturing pastors will make sure that their congregants are well fed and have a balanced spiritual diet in order to experience transformation and renewal. The participants support what many scholars state in their varying views. Mark sees spiritual renewal in light of experiencing the gospel message. He stated, "Nurturing begins with a clear presentation of the gospel." He also stated clearly that congregants are not responding to pastors because "they have not had a definite or a clear conversion experience." Mark explained, "If I have newborn Christians, they're all hungry. Nurturing is easy, I share the Word and they feed on it... As they grow, then they begin to know what's good for them. They feed on the Word of God. I continue to nurture them with a clear, holistic approach to the scripture...

Nurturing and fellowship and encouragement and praying for one another."

Bruce McRae also expresses the idea of a gospel presentation as an essential element for renewal when he writes, "The gospel of grace is the basis for individual renewal. The gospel is about Jesus who died on the cross and the Spirit according to Galatians 3:1-14 and 5:13-26. Dr. McRae also writes, with gospel resources, we fight the battle against...the flesh (Colossians 3:5-17), the world (I John 2:15-17), and the devil (Ephesians 6:10-20)."<sup>345</sup>

The gospel of Jesus Christ must be at the center of renewal in order for transformation to take place. Through the gospel, people can fight against fleshly and worldly desire in order to cultivate their affections for God. Richard F. Lovelace says,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>344</sup> Witmer, *The Shepherd Leader*, 141.

<sup>345</sup> McRae, "Church Revitalization: Individual and Corporate Renewal."

"The preconditions of renewal are: Awareness of the holiness of God; Awareness of the depth of sin." Timothy Keller also expresses that, "Personal gospel renewal means the gospel doctrines of sin and grace are actually experienced, not just known intellectually." Sins, in all its form, are to be eradicated from the lives of the congregants and the love and the grace of God must abound and felt among God's people for transformation to become a reality. Jonathan Edwards asks, "Love is an affection, but will any Christian say, men ought not to love God and Jesus-Christ in a high degree? And will any say, we ought not to have a very great hatred of sin, and a very deep sorrow for it?... Or that we should not have very great and strong desires after God holiness?" The answer to these questions is yes. John Calvin says, "We must be holy, because 'God is holy'? (Lev 19:1; 1 Pet 1:16)."

Lovelace writes about two primary "essential elements of renewal: Justification and sanctification... Justification: You are accepted; Sanctification: You are free from bondage of sin." In order to be free from the bondage of sins, people need transformation and affections for God's holiness. Preaching, praying, and studying God's word help establish renewal routines. Jeremiah explained how he does this for his congregants when he stated,

We meet weekly or monthly, we develop a prayer routine. We develop a study routine. We have something, however, else that we do that's quite been transformative, that has meant people changing their vocations, and even entering

<sup>346</sup> Lovelace, *Dynamics of Spiritual Life*, 75.

<sup>347</sup> Keller, Center Church, 54.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>348</sup> Edwards, A Treatise Concerning Religious Affections, 39, 142.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>349</sup> Calvin, *Institute of The Christian Religions*, 446.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>350</sup> Lovelace, Dynamics of Spiritual Life, 74-75.

seminary, and that's called the catechumenate. It's an intensive 20 weeks, every Sunday night for 90 minutes. We simply read the gospel lesson every week in the lectionary readings, We pray, we read the gospel lesson, we use what's call the oral method of Bible study, sometimes called the African method of Bible study. We ask a series of questions and the final question every week is asking what is God's call on you through this passage?

Similarly, Peter shared how his congregants were in the depth of sin and human brokenness; they were empty inside spiritually and needed renewal. Peter spent time with them, praying and studying the Bible, "They need God in their lives... Through the different years I spent time with them, prayed with them, studied the Bible with them. They will spend time together; and pray for each other." Matthew also confirmed the importance of praying, studying the word, and preaching for renewal when he stated, "We facilitate programs here at this church that help to enhance the church spiritually. We do have our days of prayer and fasting in the church. Certainly, the word of God is very, very important to us. We believe in the constant study of the word. They come out and they study the word every sabbath. Not only do we do that, we believe that the word is central...The preaching of God's word is crucial and important to us."

Renewal can take place only when God's people are immersed into the word of God, as Lovelace says, "The beginning place for personal renewal in most congregations is a preaching and teaching ministry which emphasizes primary elements of spiritual dynamics: depth proclamation of the gospel." Tom Ehrich states, "Whether they say it or not, ...most people come to churches on a spiritual quest... the heart of their quest... is a hunger for God." Michael Slaughter states, "Scriptural truth is the primary source for what we believe and do. Biblical preaching, speaking with the authority of the Word of

<sup>351</sup> Lovelace, Dynamics of Spiritual Life, 210.

<sup>352</sup> Ehrich, Church Wellness, 83.

God, for transformation and (not) information only."<sup>353</sup> He continues, "Renewal broke out at our church when the people began to actively do what we had been reading in God's Word."<sup>354</sup> Larry Kreider agrees, "Teach them the Word of God either one on one or in a small-group setting."<sup>355</sup> Gregg Ogden says, "The Written Word that points to Jesus-Christ is central to both formal and informal gatherings of God's people. Formally, it is right to make provision for people to "sit under" the teaching and proclamation of the Word."<sup>356</sup>

Lovelace also adds prayer as an essential element when he states, "The act of prayer is one of the closest approaches to the experience of redemption we can have before the eternal state... If all regenerate church members in Western Christendom were to intercede daily simply for the most obvious spiritual concerns... The transformation, which would result, would be incalculable." Andrew Murray adds both prayer and fasting when he says, "And prayer needs fasting for its full growth... Prayer is the one hand with which we grasp the invisible; fasting, the other, with which we let loose and cast away the visible." I firmly believe, as these authors and participants have expressed, that praying, teaching, and the preaching the word are central for renewal and transformation within a congregation.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>353</sup> Slaughter, Spiritual Entrepreneurs, 46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>354</sup> Ibid., 56.

<sup>355</sup> Kreider, Authentic Spiritual Spiritual Mentoring, 55-56.

<sup>356</sup> Ogden, The New Reformation, 112-113.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>357</sup> Lovelace. *Dynamics of Spiritual Life*. 158-160.

<sup>358</sup> Murray, With Christ in the School of Prayer, 84-85.

Besides praying, teaching, and preaching of the word, some of the interviewees also stated counseling is an important elements of renewal. Lovelace suggests a similar idea when he says, "A fully developed counseling ministry is normally essential to the renewal of the local congregation." Mark believes that teaching and preaching are important elements for renewal, but he also emphasized the need for counseling. He stated,

I train them to be counselors... The next time a counseling session comes in, I bring one of my men in. If it is a woman, I have women that are trained in the church to counsel. They nurture. I just make sure that somebody is there to nurture and to love them, to take care of them... Sometimes, I say to somebody "I want you to be close to them. I want you to go take them into your small group. I want you to sit down and talk with them."

Peter also believes counseling to be important means of spiritual renewal,

There's a lot of counseling in terms of nurturing, it's like bringing God's truth in a way that they can understand into their life. That's why I am concerned, that's nurturing. It's not just telling them what there is in the Bible, but helping them interact with the Bible, to make the Bible theirs. Also, The most basic part of that is nowadays people are broken... their relationships are broken. Mostly families are very broken up and marriage is broken. A lot of people [are]... just struggling to survive. [Those are] reasons why I think [counseling] is important.

I believe that broken people need more than prayer, teaching, and preaching, but one-on-one counseling sessions can help people understand their condition and need for renewal. Counseling can also bring justification and sanctification in their lives as Lovelace says, "Therefore, counseling ... brings spiritual release and renewal explore (the full armor of justifying and sanctifying righteousness and with vital dependence on the Spirit)."<sup>360</sup>

Gospel-centered ministry is an important nurturing leadership skill. The literature and participant pursued nurturing, renewing, and transforming congregants for

-

<sup>359</sup> Lovelace, Dynamics of Spiritual Life, 146.

<sup>360</sup> Ibid

development and development and growth through preaching, teaching, praying, and counseling. They also pursued spiritual growth through assessing their congregants' needs.

### **Assessing the Needs**

Daniel explained how he assesses his congregants' need for spiritual renewal:

"Well, you know, over the years I have learned that congregations need to be stretched, I saw transformation in the many of the leadership." Daniel statement supports the authors Daniel P. Smith and Mary K. Sallon. They said, "As spiritual leaders of the congregation, pastors often initiate renewal and are among the first to sense God's longings for the people."

Joshua affirmed the pastoral sense and longing for renewal within a congregation. He explained how he sees a "Congregation of hurting people, people being weak in faith, [and] you feel compassionate that they need nurturing... You interview folks individually and ask them... what kind of service do you think the church should be rendering to you?" Joshua's way of assessing is in line with Smith and Sellon who state, "Assess the current state of the congregation and its impact on its members and the surrounding community in relation to that purpose and aim." "362

Interviewing is an important tool in the early phase of renewal for assessing needs. Smith and Sellon express, "Renewal begins simply, with two or three people having conversations about what might be possible." Conversations and interviews are a good way of assessing congregants' spiritual renewal needs, and those can be between pastors

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>361</sup> Smith and Sallon, *The Pathway to Renewal*, 84.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>362</sup> Ibid., 69.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>363</sup> Ibid., 59.

and congregants, between congregants and congregants, or between a team of people, as Smith and Sellon say, in the form of "renewal task force." <sup>364</sup>

### Renewal through Worship

Worship is a vital component in the nurturing and renewal process of a congregation. The literature and interview participants indicated that it is paramount to have worship if true renewal is to take place. Robert Schnase, says,

God uses worship to transform lives, heal wounded souls, renew hope, shape decisions, provoke change, inspire compassion, and bind people to one another. God through Christ actively seeks relationship to us through worship...God in Christ changes people's lives through Passionate Worship. Worship stirs people's souls, inspires them, and strengthens them. They find such help and courage and belonging and care that they cannot help but talk about the sermons, ideas, stories, music, and prayers during the week.<sup>365</sup>

Here according to Schnase, worship is at the heart of the renewal process, and this is understandable because it is on the weekend that people come together to worship and to be renewed. Jeremiah shared how this takes place in the life of his congregants,

What I try to do is develop a small community of prayer and meditation. It's 20 weeks, and it's based on the church year epiphany, lent, Easter, Pentecost. We celebrate this in the worship service, so every participant is recognized. We have a ritual of welcome. Then on the first Sunday of lent we have the ritual of the cross. We put the sign of the cross on people. Easter vigil, the night before Easter we confirm them, and we've had baptism. On Pentecost season they have to make a testimony. The Easter season they make their personal testimonies in church. On Pentecost, they all stand up they say, "God, I believe that God is calling me to do so and so."

Jeremiah shared how worship takes place in his congregation, and he also shared how worship has been transformative in the lives of his people. He explained, "The first year we had it, we had two calls to the ministry. Two guys said, 'I'm being called to the

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>364</sup> Ibid., 66.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>365</sup> Schnase, Five Practices of Fruitful Congregations, 34, 53.

ministry...' One those guys called to the ministry, was also baptized." Jeremiah added, "This has been transformative in people." As in the case of Jeremiah, transformation of the people should be one of the main objectives of worship, for them to experience God in the most intimate way possible.

Joshua also talked about the transformation and renewal that took place through worship for his congregants and the community when he took his congregation to worship outside instead of inside. He stated, "We decided to have a little set up and get the little portable electric keyboards and things like that and have service right outside here on our lawn. Because the lawn is big enough for the whole service, but we got more chairs and we just put them out there. The community benefited from it. Now the community knows we're here." Joshua's new way of doing worship gives support to Slaughter's third principle of renewal, which is "The Liturgical Principle: discovery of new worship forms." Slaughter says, "Renewal gives birth to new forms of worship."<sup>367</sup> The need for renewal necessitates new forms of worship. Slaughter shared his experience at a church where he pastored: "We assemble worship team comprised of people who play synthesizers, guitars, flutes, horns, cellos, drums, and a variety of other instruments. Not only does this better reflect the music of our contemporary culture, but it gives many more people an opportunity to participate in worship in by using their gifts and talents."368

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>366</sup> Slaughter, Spiritual Entrepreneurs, 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>367</sup> Ibid., 59.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>368</sup> Ibid., 63.

At times, it is critical that congregational worship changes in order to meet new renewal needs. Daniel contrasted his congregation's new worship style and practices with their old ways:

In every generation there's something new for us to embrace, when you can accept that and appreciate that and look forward to that, then you're really in a spiritual journey because you're going to go somewhere. What existed yesterday is not the only way I can see God. My relationship with God 40 years ago is not the end of it. What is my relationship with God now? How do I worship the Lord today? The things we sang 40 years ago, we're singing different songs now.

Pastors should consider being open to new worship practices if they want to renew their congregants. The new regenerations sometimes have to be given something new, doing things in a whole new way in order for them to be connected spiritually with God.

# **Articulating a Vision**

If the church is to be successful in renewal, pastors and congregants are to have a vision. This vision has to be coined by the pastor as the principal leader and then shared with the leadership team and then presented to the congregants. The congregants in turn have to buy into the vision. However, as the literature review and the participants show, at times pastors will have to buy into the congregants' vision that was already at work. The vision allows the pastor and the leadership to determine what is needed for where the church is headed. Weems says, "It is impossible to lead without vision and values." He adds, "Leaders with a passion for renewal will put bells back in the steeples and ring out a clear and sure message of faith and hope." A vision of faith and hope will mobilize the congregants and captivate them.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>369</sup> Weems, Church Leadership, 34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>370</sup> Ibid., 135.

Slaughter paints a helpful picture of how vision can help shape a community: "Church renewal consists of people in community with one another, dreaming God's vision, believing Christ's victory, and living out the Spirit's work. The evidence of renewal will be seen in transformed lives."<sup>371</sup> Matthew explained how he lay out his vision to his congregants for renewal:

I lay out a vision for my elders. I lay out a vision for my board. Then, from there, we lay out a vision for the congregation. We are in the process of putting a five year plan together for this church. We launched a massive revitalization program whereby we have taken the church to a point where they recognize the need. They recognize that there is a serious need for strong leadership, not only in the church, but strong leadership in our homes and our community.

Timothy also shared his way of presenting his vision: "Our primary vision is what we stick to. The primary vision is, this is a teaching and developing ministry church, that we are here to develop, to help you grow and to get to the place where God wants you to be. Not only to be, but to become leaders and fisherman for him." According to Timothy, the vision can be anything that the church decides it needs to be. For Timothy's church, they prioritize a teaching ministry.

Daniel also talked about a collective vision—the people's vision to build a sanctuary for God from 30 years before he arrived at the church. In Daniel's case, their vision became the pastor's vision, and it brought about spiritual renewal. Daniel stated,

They had talked some 30 years about building a church... They had a lot of disagreements. When I came, things fell in place, and we were able to start that building and finish that building. They also rallied around that goal, that vision that they had to achieve that... We had to focus. It wasn't just prayer. What are your spiritual objectives in building this building? For what purpose? What is the vision that the Lord wants us to have to build a building? What are we going to do with it?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>371</sup>Slaughter, Spiritual Entrepreneurs, 19.

Emphasizing the spiritual and renewal aspects of the vision, Daniel added,

When you begin to list those things, and we're not doing this for ourselves, we're doing this for higher objectives, and then you begin to focus on your spiritual walk as a congregation, sermons, worship, everything, when people meet to have prayers around that help you stick with the vision. We're not just here to take care of business. We're here to also accomplish... Everything we do is to accomplish this vision that God has given us. When it becomes a comprehensive effort, that's when things begin to happen for good.

The objective of any church vision should be a spiritual objective, one that transforms and changes the spiritual walk of the congregation. As the interview participants and the literature review emphasize, it is imperative that pastors have renewal leadership skills in order to nurture, renew, and transform their congregants. Pastors can then move to their congregations to the next level of spiritual development and growth as they are ready to be trained, and to use their spiritual gifts for the advancement of God's kingdom in their home, their church, their surroundings, and their community. Jim Herrington, R. Robert Creech and Trisha Taylor state, "To the degree that we are personally being transformed, we are able to lead the way as our congregations change, so that they will be available to God for the transformation of their community." This is in reality the goal of congregants' transformation to be better equipped and it is to serve both the church and the community.

#### **Spiritual Gifts Development**

Developing congregants' spiritual gifts will enable them to grow spiritually and use their gifts for service and mission. Pastors have an enormous obligation to develop their congregants' spiritual gifts to their full spiritual potential and God-given ability.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>372</sup> Herrington, Creech, and Taylor, *The Leader's Journey*, 14-15.

Brian Hall says, "Leadership, as we shall use the term, denotes the exercise of a particular set of gifts where a person finds him or herself called to a position of influence over a community of persons." The job of any spiritual leader is to encourage the exercise of a particular set of gifts. This is how effective leadership works: it cares for and develops its people for service in their Christian walk. Hall shares this view when he writes, "The Christian traditions have always been aware that the spiritual life is a journey—it is a developmental process from conversion to the higher experience of living day to day in conscious awareness of our Lord." Pastors must make all their effort to take their congregants to that spiritual life developmental journey. However, in order to develop the congregants' gifts pastors must be able to identify their gifts.

# Identifying Gifts

Bob Burns, Tasha D. Chapman, and Donald C. Gutrie, state, "when ministry leaders fail to develop others and then turn responsibility over to them, they actually harm their own effectiveness. They also curtail the growth and maturity of their system by making everything depend upon them...It's important to recognize the gifts of others and enjoy seeing others exercise their gifts rather than being threatened by them." <sup>375</sup> I believe that pastors have a solemn responsibility to develop and encourage the gifts of their congregants in order to be effective. In addition, pastors must recognize the gifts of the congregants and help them use their gifts for effective ministry and leadership. John Zechariah states, "A great leader inspires his/her followers to reach higher levels of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>373</sup> Hall, "Leadership Development and Spiritual Growth," 100.

<sup>374</sup> Ibid

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>375</sup> Burns, Chapman, and Guthrie, Resilient Ministry, 240.

excellence."<sup>376</sup> Congregants need inspiration to help them reach their spiritual heights, and pastors can help. Pastors are developing congregants for ministry excellence and effectiveness. Pastors can inspire people by helping them identifying their God-given gifts and talents.

Chapman and Sisodia write about identifying people's gifts: "Our responsibility as leaders, be it business, the military, in government, or in education, is to create an environment where people can discover their gifts, develop their gifts, share their gifts, and be recognized and appreciated for doing so-which creates an opportunity for them to have a more meaningful life, a life of purpose." Chapman and Sisodia clarify the leaders' responsibility: help people identify and discover their gifts. Chapman and Sisodia also recognize, "People come into this world with gifts and talents, full of possibilities and unrealized potential. Our responsibility as leaders is to help them realize those possibilities by looking for the talents and goodness that exist in them and inspiring them to become what they are meant to be." Peter Wagner says, "The most basic step that you as a Christian need to take in order to define God's will for your life – knowing your spiritual gift." The pastors' responsibility is two-fold. First, pastors must recognize that people are born with gifts whether in the spiritual or in the physical whelm. Second, leaders' must help their followers identify those gifts.

Kouzes and Posner in their book, *Christian Reflections on Leadership Challenge*, further clarify the steps for identifying gifts:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>376</sup> Zechariah, In Search of Christian Leadership Character, 27.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>377</sup> Chapman and Sisodia, *Everybody Matters*, 68.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>378</sup> Ibid., 68.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>379</sup> Wagner, Your Spiritual Gifts, 22.

Developing is called talent radar... (they continue) As a leader, learn what areas of strength each person on your team possesses (you may have heard these referred to in the church as spiritual gifts). Everybody is good at something. Become a talent expert. Be on the lookout for clues by the way people respond to a situation. They are giving you information about what they're good at...Do whatever it takes to get educated in spotting individual strengths in others: take classes, read books, attend seminars.<sup>380</sup>

Similarly to Kouzes and Posner, Joshua stated how he identifies the gifts in congregants as he develops them: "What I do is to help people, well teach them steps on discovering what those spiritual gifts are that they have. Do an inventory. What is it that you have? What gift do you think God has given you? What do you excel at? What do you love doing, and how can you use that to further the ministry in the church?" Joshua explained that congregants react to his approach. People come to him and say, "Well, I think I have this gift." Joshua explained, "of course as a leader with the help of others, we have to find ways in which to use that gift so we can help the entire congregation grow." Joshua added, "Another obligation I had is to observe people, see what particular things that they're good at, that they enjoy doing, because sometimes people may not see it, but you see it as a pastor. After a while, if my notions have been I believed confirmed, then I'll speak to the individual. Most of the time thank God I am right and we go to pray about it."

Confirming Kouzes and Posner, Daniel stated, "I always find that it's very necessary to find out from people, 'What is your prior experience? ... What have you done in the past? What are your goals? Why are you coming here?' To learn about that so that that can be developed in ways." When Daniel was asked if there is any other way of seeing their gifts? He answered,

. .

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>380</sup> Kouzes, and Posner, Christian Reflections on Leadership Challenge, 93.

At least I've learned when folk come to a church to join the church, you've got to give them time to get in, to become a part of the household, become a part of the family. Most people will move toward an area that they want to be involved in. Many come knowing what they want to do. That means that I'm going to be in conversation with you about, "What do you know about that area? This is what we can teach you about that area," you see it's again a learning process.

Shadrach also revealed his approach in identifying gifts: "There's a formula and there are several gift inventories you can use... James Dobson has one with Focus on the Family." Shadrach added, "When new members are being trained and they are going through a new membership class, we ask them what their gifts are. Sometimes we ask them but also sometimes we can identity what we think their gifts are. Once I share it with you, then I try to create opportunity for them to use their gifts."

It is impossible to develop congregants without knowing what their gifts or talents are. Reflecting on the early church's experience, Albert Winseman, Donald Clifton, and Curt Liesveld, state, "Early believers were encouraged to find their place in the new community and to discover their gifts in order to be truly fulfilled as followers of Jesus." Pastors who skip the step of identifying their congregants' gifts skip a key component in their congregants' spiritual developmental process.

### Develop Gifts Through Biblical Understanding

The literature and research participants agree, God the Holy Spirit gives people their spiritual gifts. Peter White writes, "The New Testament word for these gifts, Charismata, indicates that they are given by God's mere kindness." In addition, the

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>381</sup> Winseman, Clifton, and Liesveld, *Living Your Strength*, 195.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>382</sup> White, *The Effective Pastor*, 128.

apostle Paul writes, regarding Christ, "Therefore He says: 'When He ascended on high, He led captivity captive, and gave gifts to men.'" <sup>383</sup>

Peter Wagner defines spiritual gifts, writing, "A spiritual gift is a special attribute given by the Holy Spirit to every member of the Body of Christ, according to God's grace, for use within the context of the Body." Wagner also identifies and provides a list of the spiritual gifts, based on the three New Testament books, "The great majority of the spiritual gifts mentioned in the Bible are found in three key chapters: Romans 12, 1 Corinthians 12 and Ephesians 4." See Spiritual gifts are found in three key chapters: Romans 12, 1

While the Holy Spirit gives the gifts, scholars and the interview participants understand that pastors and leaders can help congregants develop their spiritual gifts. The interview participants were in disagreement about how much influence pastors have to develop spiritual gifts among their congregants. Mark strongly believes that God gives the gifts. Mark also believes that the gifts are develop by the Spirit of God when he stated,

I do see obviously, that God has given gifts that are still in play in the church, gifts of leadership, gifts of mercy, gifts of teaching. I am very concerned about them being under the control of the Holy Spirit. As they're under the control of the Holy Spirit, according to Ephesians 5:15-21, I see that they are going to be sensitive to what the spirit of God wants them to do with how he's gifted them.

Mark understands that the Spirit develops the gifts as he stated, "When I have people out on the street in the middle of the battle, witnessing, appealing to people at an abortion clinic, out handling out tracts, talking with people, if they are spirit controlled, they are

384 \*\*\*

<sup>383</sup> Ephesians 4:8.

<sup>384</sup> Wagner, Your Spiritual Gifts, 33.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>385</sup> Ibid., 53.

going to be trained in that venue. They are going to experience development." However, Mark also believes that the interpretation of the gifts is important and pastors help their congregants develop their gifts. Mark stated, "If you have a true gift from the Holy Spirit with teaching, all I have to do is make sure your hermeneutic is correct."

Jeremiah shared a similar view on his biblical understanding of the gifts,

I think people learn about their gifts when they confront God's word in their lives. That's what I believe. I don't think it's like, should I be a musician? No... I don't know. You ask the Lord Jesus how he judges me. I think it's Spirit led, because we very much rely on God's speaking, and not on a prescribe program. Our whole orientation is how is God talking to you in scripture?

Several interview participants explained their understanding that the development of the gifts are done by the direct influence of the Holy Spirit and not through human intervention.

Like Wagner and the participants, I also believe that the gifts are given by God through the Holy Spirit, but unlike some of the interview participants, I believe that through the Holy Spirit God has given pastors and leaders ability to help others develop their spiritual gifts. Peter expressed a similar understanding, "Of course I tell them, in the Bible it talks about this, different kinds of gifts and so on. You might have some of it. Designed by God, given by God through the Spirit. It's something designed by God that when you use it then the body of Christ is being built up." Concerning pastoral guidance, Peter said,

I say, "Everybody is important." I would say that everybody has something to offer, something very unique too. My approach is that I will give them the picture. I say, "So many people have all these needs, what can we do? Then some people would say, "I can do this one. They will begin to do things that they can do and what they can do well and then I'll say "okay." According to how I understand what they can do or at least guide them to that direction.

Chapman stresses the need to "recognize the gifts of others." Peter also wants all pastors to understand that every congregant in the church is important. In addition, pastors must recognize the role that the Holy Spirit plays in the distribution of the gifts to the church and to each congregant. Pastors must understand their role and responsibility to help the congregants develop their gifts in accordance to the biblical teaching of the word of God. They must understand that the Spirit has his part in distributing the gifts to the believers, but pastors and church leaders have the responsibility of helping the congregants develop those gifts in order to grow and edify the church, as Paul says in Ephesian 4, "And He Himself gave some to be apostles, some prophets, some evangelists, and some pastors and teachers, for the equipping of the saints for the work of ministry, for the edifying of the body of Christ." Page 18.

# Develop Gifts Through Training

Jason M. Newcomer, Sandra Kolberg, and Jon M. Corey, on their case study on *Leadership Development*, found, "The top 5 percent of companies with effective leadership practices dedicate twice as much effort as other businesses to leadership development, a clear indication that the latter is a factor in organizational success." This study finding points pastors to the importance of training and developing their staff and their congregants as a whole. Pastors can develop their congregants for success. Richard Patterson says, "Nurture is that aspect of church ministry which focuses upon developing individual believers to discover, claim, and be all that their Creator designed

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>386</sup> Burns, Chapman, and Guthrie, Resilient Ministry, 240.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>387</sup> Ephesians 4:11-12.

<sup>388</sup> Newcomer, Kolberg, and Corey, "Leadership Development."

His people to be."<sup>389</sup> Bruce P. Powers offers an example of how this developing should be done: "Teachers and leaders in a local church require an effective Christian education program of training."<sup>390</sup> Powers adds, "A minister is expected to be a spiritual leader (etc)... Another major responsibility is that providing training for the laity."<sup>391</sup> Pastors should not leave the training of the laity to the laity. The pastors' first job is to train and equip the laity to become leaders that will train others. Powers states that clearly, "A primary purpose for a church training is to equip leaders for effective service."<sup>392</sup> Matthew agrees with Powers and believes that it is important to train the congregants in order to develop their gifts and in order to better equipped them. He stated,

The way we develop their gifts is, to a large extent, training. Number one, we run a gift-based ministry. Our members do the gift-based inventory. It's a test that's done online. We also provide hard copy for them. After doing that test, we walk them through the process of helping them to serve in the area of their giftedness. We give them the necessary tools. We train them, we teach them, and we send them to work.

Peter Wagner also proposes a gift-based inventory in order to identify gifts, match them with needs, and train people in their area of giftedness. Wagner explains, "A starting point is to look around and see what needs you can identify. Then try to do something to meet a need. Look for the need of other people. Look for the needs of the church." He continues,

Motivate the congregation from the pulpit, study the biblical teaching on gifts, help adults discover their gifts, set a schedule for accountability and continue the experience indefinitely, meaning, the experience should be a permanent part of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>389</sup> Patterson, Effectively Leading, 53.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>390</sup> Powers, Christian Education Handbook, 225.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>391</sup> Ibid., 226-227.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>392</sup> Ibid., 231.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>393</sup> Wagner, Your Spiritual Gifts, 117-122.

the lifestyle of the congregation. It needs to be stimulated with books, sermons, (Bible study) lessons, and task-oriented groups that help people put their gifts to use.<sup>394</sup>

Wagner also says, "Use the gifts inventories, the Wagner-Modified Houts Questionnaire, to determine which gifts to experiment with first. Examine your feelings. God does, in fact, match our spiritual gifts to our temperament so that we will enjoy using them." These proposed steps by both scholars and interview participants provide pastors a system, which can be used to effectively identify, train, and develop their congregants' spiritual gifts.

Matthew stated, "Empowering leaders to make leaders" as another way to train people wherein the more experienced leaders take time to train the younger ones.

Matthew described the training process: "They make that selection and they say, 'Pastor, we think this person is a good person to train.' I evaluate the person, sit down, and talk with them. Then, my leader, if that's okay with myself and them, they train that person and prepare them to lead." Matthew shows that he practices a shared and joint leadership. Smith and Sallon state, "In a healthy congregation clergy and laity exercise leadership jointly. Both take responsibility for developing individuals as disciples of Christ and the organization as the Body of Christ...The continual surfacing and development of new leaders is key to the ongoing transformation of the congregation."<sup>396</sup>

Robert G. Duch states, "Empowering means love= knowing, caring, respecting, and responding. When people are being given a share in power, they no longer feel

<sup>395</sup> Ibid., 117-122.

<sup>396</sup> Smith and Sallon, *The Pathway to Renewal*, 130-131.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>394</sup> Ibid., 239-242.

powerless...They will feel confident that their contributions in successful ventures will encourage their leaders to ask them again to share their talents (gifts)."<sup>397</sup> Matthew practices a shared leadership that empowers others, and he understands what his responsibility is when training his congregants. He stated, "I, as the leader, have the responsibility to provide resources for them, to stimulate them intellectually in their area of their giftedness. I go out on my way to bring in workshops for them consistently, officer's workshops and leadership symposiums. There are ongoing seminars and training, not just for the officers but for the church in general."

As Matthew empowers his congregants, he also makes them accountable. He explained, "There's accountability and the pastor will hold people accountable for what they're supposed to do but we empower leadership." Matthew's approach shows that he understands and shares Maxwell's view when it comes to the leaders responsibility. He said,

Giving responsibility without resources is ridiculous... It is important to provide developmental tools. Spend time mentoring people in specific areas of need. Be willing to spend money on things like books, tapes, seminars, and professional conferences. Be creative in providing tools. It will keep your people growing and equip to do the job well.<sup>398</sup>

Timothy provided his process for training his congregants to develop their gifts,

The Lord gives ability, even when he gives gifts. If you're going to be a singer, and then you're a singer for the Lord, and where you sing, people's hearts are now developed, or they feel the presence of God through singing. When he gives the ability, not just for people just to come up and sing but through the teaching now and developing, now they're developing and they're transformed, and now when they sing, it's no longer in self.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>397</sup> Duch, Successful Parish Leadership, 106-108.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>398</sup> Maxwell. *How Successful People Lead*. 101.

Timothy develops congregants through teaching, and he also gives opportunity for them to serve. He stated, "You give opportunity, you teach, you develop, how to become better." Timothy's attitude toward his congregants in giving them opportunity while in training is that of an includer as Winseman, Clifton, and Liesveld state, "Stretch the circle wider... You want to include people and make them feel part of the group." Including everyone should also be every pastor's attitude toward congregants that they are developing.

Shadrach also detailed his method of training congregants: by looking for the best in people. Tom Rath states, "Seek roles in which your primary responsibilities include facilitating growth...naturally look for the best in people." Shadrach explained,

All of us have the ability. God has put into each one of us spiritual gifts. Who he calls, he equips says the scripture. What happens sometimes in ministry is that people are watching other people use their gifts, and feel insecure about their gift that God has given to them. Everybody has a gift that can be used. Something that you know that if given the opportunity, you can do good or do well here, so whether it's the administrative gifts, whether it's the love gift, or the gift of giving, the gift of control, and the gift of nurturing. All of those are gifts that people have.

Shadrach explained, "all of us have gifts and God-given ability. But all of us must be trained in order to remove fear and insecurity in using the gifts." Tom Ehrich, who believes in training leaders, says, "Engage clergy directly in the leadership development process, with a direct role in identifying promising leaders, recruiting them and training them. Require all leaders to participate in training programs that are appropriate to their

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>399</sup> Winseman, Clifton, and Liesveld, *Living Your Strength*, 63.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>400</sup> Rath, Strengths Finder 2.0, 151.

duties and to their level of responsibility.",401 Shadrach confirmed what Ehrich advised. Shadrach described,

We have a discipleship and evangelism ministry in place. It's done from the time we see a person and it goes from first base, second base, third base concept... We have our leadership training that occurs here where we train potential leaders in an area of sub-development in terms of thinking, in terms of cognitive development, in terms of behavioral change. We have it maybe three or four times a year. We take all the leaders, all of these diverse ministries on a Saturday. We have a conversation with them, and do workshops, and conversation development, and also content information of what it means to be a leader in the 21<sup>st</sup> century.

Shadrach described how people have different gifts and abilities that can be developed if given opportunity. Many times, people's gifts are not developed because first, they do not know what they are, and second, they have not been given the opportunity to practice their gifts. Timothy and Shadrach understand the importance of giving people opportunity to exercise their gifts in order to develop them.

Shadrach explained the importance of placing people in the area of their giftedness,

People who want to join the church would go through for six weeks. Going through that, one of the classes is on using your gifts. We talk about that. If a person can sing, we happen to have a chair for the choir. If a person loves to pray, we say, "Okay, we have a prayer ministry here. I recommend that you join the prayer ministry." A person here has the gift of friendliness, and smiling and hospitality. We plug them into hospitality, the usher ministry here. Here so while they're coming out of the new membership class, we are already thinking about places in the ministry where they can be plugged in.

Shadrach emphasized the need for people to exercise their strengths as Albert Winseman, Donald Clifton, and Curt Liesveld state, "When people serve in roles that fit their talents and gifts, God does marvelous things." Paul W. Abramowitz expresses a similar view, "It has been my experience in all types of labor markets that an effective leader must

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>401</sup> Ehrich. Church Wellness. 42.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>402</sup> Winseman, Clifton, and Liesveld, *Living Your Strength*, 199.

work very hard to match workers' strengths with appropriate job responsibilities."<sup>403</sup>
According to these authors and Shadrach, pastors are advised to encourage the development and the use of talents and the gifts of the congregants, but also to have people serve in the area of their gifts according to their strength. Church leaders have the tendency to choose anybody to perform a function or a duty without knowing the person's gifts or abilities. This study, however, suggest pastors take a different approach.

The participants were also asked to evaluate when their congregants' gifts were fully developed. The majority of the participants shared how they do not believe that the gifts will ever be fully developed. Matthew stated, "I don't believe they're totally fully developed. I want to be careful not to say they are, because fully developed mean you have arrived but I've noticed that we have gotten into a good place in terms of their giftedness." Timothy responded in a similar way, "Well, I don't think anyone, in general, will ever get fully developed, because we all keep learning, but to a stage where they're getting stronger developed, developing... There are always higher heights and deeper depths." Shadrach stated,

The best way to assess that is usually when people have somebody they start to mentor. When they no longer want to hold onto the gift for themselves but they want to pass on the baton to somebody else to mentor and then to assume responsibility. They become team players more than solo individuals. The best way to assess this when a gift is developed is when a person is willing to share it, and to mentor somebody else.

Identifying, training, and equipping congregants are paramount for pastors who want to develop their congregants to spiritual growth. In Wagner's words, pastors have an enormous responsibility of unwrapping the spiritual gifts of their congregants by,

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>403</sup> Abramowitz, "Nurturing Relationships: An Essential Ingredient of Leadership."

motivate the congregation from the pulpit, study the biblical teaching on gifts, help adults discover their gifts, set a schedule for accountability and continue the experience indefinitely, meaning, the experience should be a permanent part of the lifestyle of the congregation. It needs to be stimulated with books, sermons, (Bible study) lessons, and task-oriented groups that help people put their gifts to use.

It is indeed an enormous responsibility, but it is also a humble responsibility given by God to the pastors as the chosen leaders of their congregations. However, this responsibility of developing congregants' gifts must be done in accordance to the biblical teaching on spiritual gifts as instructed by God through the Holy Spirit.

# **Challenges of Nurturing Leadership**

Pastoral leadership is a challenge, especially when it comes to nurturing leadership. However, the literature offers strong encouragement to those who feel challenged in their current ministry. Lovett H. Weems states, "It is in this current, challenging situation that the church calls its pastors to exercise effective leadership." He continues, "The failure... to take charge and give active leadership... can be as devastating to an organization as frankly autocratic leadership." On the other hand, Michael J. Quick reported on a 2003 survey conducted by George Barna that discover, "92 percent of pastors considered themselves as leaders and 94 percent of the congregants agreed." With that understanding, pastors have the responsibility to lead, even when they are faced with challenges.

<sup>404</sup> Wagner, Your Spiritual Gifts, 241-242.

<sup>405</sup> Weems, Church Leadership, 15.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>406</sup> Ibid., 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>407</sup> Quick, *360-Degree Leadership*, 34.

### Change Is a Human Problem

When asked what the challenges are for senior pastors in developing their congregants through nurturing leadership, Joshua stated, "I think whenever you get involved in the lives of people that can always be a challenge. If you get involved, you're going to have some challenges because sometimes you get disappointed. I think the challenge that we have is resistance." For Joshua, this resistance affects things that need change but also people who need transformation. When asked if human resistance to change affects transformation, he responded, "Yes, yeah, absolutely."

Daniel shared similar challenges on the human dilemma on resistance to change when he said,

Entrenched members of the church who do not want to see things change... Folks don't always see what's happening to them. They don't see what's happening to their congregation. When you have a group of people or an individual or anybody who is not open to change, to doing things differently... you've got a problem there. You've got to work on that problem.

Shadrach shared, "The one thing with people is you are always going to have challenges. Otherwise, you don't understand the complexity of leadership... People are mostly comfortable with the status quo, the way things are." Matthew stated, "It was difficult and still sometimes a challenge because some of them feel that they have a life." Change in reality is a complex human problem and most organizational leaders can relate to this challenge of resistance and refusal to change. It affects all levels of organizations including the church.

#### Lack of Interest

Lack of interest is another challenge pastors face. Peter Wagner shares, "Ignorance of spiritual gifts may be a chief cause of retarded church growth today. It also

may be at the root of much of the discouragement, insecurity, frustration and guilt that plague many Christians and curtail their total effectiveness for God."<sup>408</sup> The lack of interest by church members in using their gifts often stems from the fact that they do not know what the spiritual gifts are. Lack of interest can come from lack of understanding of the biblical truth and church doctrine.

Jeremiah explained this dilemma well, "I think a challenge that we have is teaching the culture of my denomination since the Reform Church in America is as deep, rich tradition with real established patterns." Jeremiah said, "They didn't join [this church] to be in a Reformed Church. They joined [this church] because this was the church in this location that had a Christ centered worship service that was open and progressive." Shepherding so many expectations would be a challenge for any pastor. Convincing someone of the biblical truth, doctrinal truth is difficult, but also to convince them to be transformed and to use their spiritual gifts for their spiritual growth is even more challenging.

Mark also shared about lack of interest in his congregants because they were not converted. He stated, "Nurturing is easy... but it is a difficult thing to do it with false converts. It's a very miserable existence. I work at trying to clarify for people what is your relationship with God? When people are not true to themselves and when they do not want to be transformed there is nothing that you will do that will interest them. They're just not connected." Timothy added another reason: when congregants are not converted, they are not hungry. Timothy said, "They don't hunger and thirst after the gifting of the Lord. It's in them, and you want them to let it birth out. That's one of the

<sup>408</sup> Wagner, Your Spiritual Gifts, 21.

main things that they get into place of complacency or lazy... It is very hard to change their attitude of complacency." These interview participants helpfully describe the challenges for nurturing leadership in the lack of interest in congregants who refuse to be spiritually transformed and utilize their God-given potential. Their lack of interest is also a part of their lack in spirituality and zeal.

# Lack of Commitment and Skills

Timothy described his congregation's lack of commitment,

People want to get to a higher height, but they don't want to go through the process. There are many excuses that many will make. They will say that they've got school, they have work, they have family, and other things like that. Do they apply? Do they really read God's Word enough? Do they pray? Again, they don't apply themselves enough.

Peter described long-term time commitment as one of the major challenges, "The one major challenge is long term. Our people love short-term things... people just don't know what tomorrow will be like so they feel that they cannot commit. They are afraid that they might offer something that they cannot follow up with and so on." Shadrach also shared Peter's dilemma, "People are busy. People are very, very busy in the city and do not have time commitment to make, to sustain ministry."

Gregg Ogden, who understands people's lack of commitment to spiritual things and to God, says,

When we respond to Christ, we enter a lifelong process of change... the call to transformation is a call to inward development. We are to overcome those obstacles in ourselves which hold us back and keep us from growing up into the full stature of Christ...The general call to Christ, community, and transformation places a priority on the inner life of being that undergirds and gives direction to the outer life of doing. 409

.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>409</sup> Ogden, The New Reformation, 193-195.

Slaughter states,

Renewal involves commitment to the integrity of membership... When a church gets serious about renewal, it begins to ask new questions about the responsibilities of membership... It costs something to be a follower of Jesus Christ. In times of renewal, the Church rediscovers this important principle. The integrity of membership cannot be divorced from the cost of discipleship. 410

Pastors can teach people to prioritize their spiritual life in order to remove obstacles that prevent them from having a life of transformation and a life of commitment to God and Christ. When people prioritize their spiritual lives, renewal will take place.

Pastors' Ability to Meet the Challenges

Merton P. Strommen states,

A pastor's attitude, words, and actions establish an atmosphere in a congregation that is conducive to or resistant to affecting needed change. The relationship you establish with your members is all-important...When a pastor's style of leadership includes a commitment to needed change, an affirming attitude toward members, and an openness to experimentation and new ideas, the atmosphere is warmed and becomes freeing.<sup>411</sup>

Strommen describes a pastor's effective leadership skills: the pastors' way of talking about change and highlighting the need for change has a direct effect on the congregants' response to that need. All of the interview participants shared the different leadership approaches that they have used in order to affect change in their congregations despite the challenges that they encountered.

In order to meet the challenges of resistance, Joshua believes more in building relationships with the congregants as opposed to more preaching and teaching in order to meet with their resistance. He stated,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>410</sup> Slaughter, *Spiritual Entrepreneurs*, 69, 71-80.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>411</sup>Strommen. *The Innovative Church*, 61.

I firmly believe it now... and that is to invest all that I have, my time and my effort, my energy in the lives of my congregants and that means getting personal with them and sitting down at their tables and becoming involved in a number of aspects of their lives. Sometimes they welcome that. Sometimes they put up guards to try to prevent that, but they eventually will let those guards down and they open up and they say, "You know what? We really trust you as a spiritual leader."

When pastors want to change their congregants, they have to be mindful of their connection with the people. They have to know the people first. Daniel also makes the case for building relationships when it comes to meet challenges with the congregants:

Relationship is important, it takes time to build that relationship. Once you build a relationship with the people, and you begin to help folk understand, "Look, this is what we're up against, and this where we are today..." Once you change the culture in the church, very often folk will change. People will change, and they will change some of the ones that have been the most obstinate, and can turn around to be the greatest advocates for what change needs to be.

Nohria and Khurana explore relationships as a means of meeting leadership challenges. They state,

Since leading is all about the relationship between leaders and followers, ...followers want to identify psychologically with the leader. The more they want is emotional connection, the more attracted they may be to a leader who relies strongly on charisma as source of his or her influence.<sup>412</sup>

Relationships take time to build, but they are worth the time and effort. Pastors should never rush to change a congregation without first knowing their congregants and or establishing a relationship with them. The only way people will trust their leaders is when they have already built trust through relationships.

Delegating is one way to form trust and relationships among congregants. Jeremiah described his personal challenge to delegate responsibility, "The challenges for me are to share my work with Silas and Timothy. It's easy for me to be the pull all because I'm excited to do it. I like to be in the people's lives. I want to see the person... I do a lot of

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>412</sup> Nohria and Khurana. *Handbook of Leadership Theory and Practice*, 422.

face-to-face with my people. I have to let other people do some of that work, but I love to do it much. The challenge for me is sharing the work." Jeremiah exemplifies why it is important for pastors to delegate responsibility to their leadership staff in order to avoid leadership conflicts and challenges. Pastors should do all that is in their power to be aware of their limitations and compensate as needed. According to Berlin and Weems, "The ability to delegate tasks while retaining responsibility is critical to fruitful leadership." Berlin and Weems add, "Delegation is more than just assigning work. You maintain a role as leader, but it is no longer to do everything yourself. You continue to give oversight because you cannot shed the ultimate responsibility." Pastors' willingness to delegate responsibility to congregants is paramount if congregants are to exercise and develop their gifts. Pastors' effectiveness depends on how they train, equip, and delegate responsibilities according to their members' gifts.

Peter expressed the challenges of dealing with the people's brokenness through renewal,

A lot of people have brokenness in their lives. We are talking about, not only healing that, overcoming that, breaking through, talking about a long process... I advise them to pray and ask God to help. Did God help you? Did God really answer your prayers? Is He real? Is He powerful enough to help you? With that they gather more that can help them to deal with the more difficult challenges... All of this takes a lot of spiritual growth, your spirituality as you change. God has to be very real in your life.

Dealing with people brokenness requires preaching the gospel for renewal and transformation. One of the biggest problems with church-goers is that of brokenness due to lack of conversion. The solution is preaching the gospel and the law. Mark stated that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>413</sup> Berlin and Weems, *High Yield*, 88-89.

<sup>414</sup> Ibid.

he used the gospel with the law as a vital weapon to deal with these challenges. He shared,

I began to see where the apostle Paul had a high regard for the use of the Ten Commandments in the witness where a person would be brought to a place where they were convicted of their sin. When I began to apply that, that is when things I think in the church became a lot clearer and for people, their understanding of the gospel became a lot clearer at that point, where we front-loaded the gospel with the law. It's freed up a lot of people in the church to be able to understand how to apply the gospel to people's lives.

Matthew shared a similar view with Mark. He spoke about using the gospel to identify key leaders to help affect change. Matthew stated, "We must learn to package the gospel to fit the environment and the setting that we are called to serve at... Not only I do that but, every good soldier does groundwork. How do you do groundwork? You have to identify the key and influential leaders in your church and get those sold on the program." Mark and Matthew preach the gospel and the law to meet the challenges of unconverted church members. Timothy Keller also recommends this approach for spiritual renewal, "Personal gospel renewal means the gospel doctrines of sin and grace are actually experienced, not just known intellectually...corporate gospel renewal also called a 'revival,' a season in which a whole body of believers experience personal gospel renewal together." The preaching of the gospel of law and grace is key to bring people to Jesus' feet to repent of their sins and to experience conversion and spiritual transformation. It is also important for pastors to have other church leaders who have already gone through that spiritual transformation to help in the new renewal process.

Shadrach explained how he deals with congregants who refuse to change and to commit. He stated, "You always have to preach about your vision, pray about it, and talk

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>415</sup> Keller, Center Church, 54.

about it...You have to talk about it until people start to hear it over and over again, and start to enter the system here." Shadrach also said, "If you tend to be consistent over time, ... you can see people's gifts being developed in long term ministry... if you stay with the people and encourage them, and create opportunity for them to serve, they will blossom."

Timothy shared Shadrach's view, "Those who are hungry enough and are developing, again, when we give them the opportunity and they kept on developing and developing." Pastors who want to be successful in bringing change must have a vision. Pastors must share the vision with their staff and preach about it to the entire congregation so that the congregants can embrace the vision for change. Doing so gives people the opportunity to develop and use their gifts in the process.

Strommen advises that pastors to cast a vision when they propose change to a congregation: "First, establish in people's minds the need for a change, and then present this innovation as an approach that will enhance the mission of the congregation. Tie the innovation to the congregation's mission, and meaningfully involve all whose support is sought for the innovation. <sup>416</sup> Duch similarly states, "We must form the future of our parishes (churches) by dreaming of what can be, by revitalizing our own spirit, by empowering each person to help develop workable plans of action for on-going reorganization development and continuing self renewal." Weems adds, "Leadership for renewal will be characterized by a passion that can come only from a compelling message and an essential mission-that treasure passed on to us in clay jars... Leaders with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>416</sup> Strommen, *The Innovative Church*, 54.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>417</sup> Duch, Successful Parish Leadership, 2.

a passion for renewal will put bells back in the steeples and ring out a clear and sure message of faith and hope 418

It is important for pastors who want to bring about change of spiritual renewal to their congregants to be clear and precise in their message. As shown in the findings and the literature review, the vision must be accompanied with well-formed relationships and a plan to empower congregants to participate in the vision. The message must show that they have a detail and descriptive plan to bring about spiritual renewal for transformation and growth.

### **Benefits of Nurturing Leadership**

The literature and interview participants named many benefits that flow from nurturing leadership. These benefits include congregational growth and transformation, improvement in worship and discipleship, and pastoral leadership improvement.

## Congregants Grow

Powers examines gifts development programs and concludes, "Each program has the responsibility for tasks that give shape to some aspect of Christian growth and development." Rightly so, growth is in fact one of the benefits of congregants developing through pastors' nurturing leadership. Whatever programs pastors do in the church must have the objective of bringing spiritual growth to their congregants for their development and spiritual transformation.

Wagner shares some of the benefits for developing spiritual gifts: "The individual grows, which means, you will be a better Christian and better able to allow God to make

<sup>418</sup> Weems, Church Leadership, 132.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>419</sup> Powers, Christian Education Handbook, 275.

your life count for Him. People who know their gifts have a handle on their spiritual job description. They find their place in the church with more ease."<sup>420</sup> Wagner emphasizes individual growth as a benefit. He understands that as congregants develop their gifts personally, they also enjoy the corporate benefits of growing in Christ's church. It is indeed a spiritual endeavor to be desired. Wagner shares a second benefit: "The whole Body grows. Not only does knowing about spiritual gifts help individual Christians, but it also helps the Church as a whole. Ephesians 4 tells us that when spiritual gifts are in operation, the whole Body matures. It helps the Body to gain 'the measure of the stature of the fullness of Christ' (v. 13)."<sup>421</sup>

Both spiritual growth and membership growth are good for the church. The scholars understand the value of spiritual and numeric growth, and the interview participants experienced firsthand this growth benefit. Similar to Wagner, Joshua explained the growth benefits of nurturing leadership:

First of all, I think that is the catalyst of growth for the church. The church will grow not just in number, but spiritually. I think our objectives shouldn't be more than just to see the church get larger so we can get more in the plate on Sunday, but we want to see our people grow in their appreciation and love for their church community and for Christ. They love the church more. They contribute more.

Joshua added, "We even increased our membership a little."

Daniel sees individual growth when it comes to the spiritual benefits of congregants developing through pastors' nurturing leadership. He stated, "Well, the benefits are first to the individual. I think that they begin to see themselves in a new light hopefully... I think when you ask people to come and be involved, there's a certain

<sup>420</sup> Wagner, Your Spiritual Gifts, 41-42.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>421</sup> Ibid., 43-44.

excitement that people have; they can be inspired by participating and being asked to participate." Daniel also emphasized this benefit with an example, "We have a woman who is a wonderful poet. She's not highly educated, but she writes beautiful poetry. That's a benefit. She's developing her literary talent, and we get the blessing of reading, hearing her work, you see... There are a lot of benefits." What Daniel shared above is exactly what Wagner means when he said, "People who know their gifts have a handle on their spiritual job description. They find their place in the church with more ease."422

When Daniel was asked how do congregants' spiritual gifts contribute to the benefits? He responded, "Well, when people are renewed spiritually and understand that they have a close relationship with God, with Jesus then the church is going to very often grow because it's going to become a place that other people want to come to." Shadrach shared the benefits in the area of growth, "One person who is nervous about praying in public because they are afraid being seen praying in public is so dramatic, to see that person begin to pray two or three sentences, and now they can pray on behalf of the people. Yeah so the benefits are tremendous here."

Matthew shared about financial growth and spiritual life transformation: "As we grow, then everything else will grow. For years now, we have invested. Actually, we are coming to the end a \$600,000 project in this church, building project. It's going to be transformed, but the transformation process right now has shifted really from transforming a building to transforming lives." Congregants who are nurtured and developed will experience growth both spiritually and numerically, but the ideal is spiritual growth and transformation.

<sup>422</sup> Ibids., 41-42.

## **Transformation**

Jeremiah shared the spiritual benefits of nurturing leadership that he observed. He expressed the state of transformation that takes place in a person, saying,

My experience is that people are satisfied if they can have small, but real, God experiences in their lives. It can be as simple as seeing a friend's life change, or having the experience of hope after some despair... My experience is that when people see a little bit of spiritual transformation in their life, it doesn't take much if they're mature people. That gives meaning in their lives and they're willing to stand up for their faith. Having these God moments, and often they are not so much when it's loud, often when it's quiet.

Jeremiah elaborated upon how this believer, who was involved in these different committees, explained his involvement to others who did not understand, "You know why I do this? Because when I'm doing it, I can see the kingdom of God," he said, "I can see the kingdom of God."

Shadrach said, "To look on people that you have spent time with pouring into, and to see how they have gotten excited about their faith, to pour into a young man as I see here all the time and to see that young man start to teach and preach. You sit back and you say, 'Wow, I'm so glad I made that investment." Matthew stated, "As individuals find their gifts and utilize it, they actually become the ones to actually empower each other... When you've transformed lives, they will transform other lives, and that group will transform other lives." Transformation is what all pastors should want for their congregants. The main objective of spiritual renewal is transformation: to change lives into the image of Christ for the growth of the kingdom.

### Better Worship

McNair says, "Worship, must in all circumstances be preserved and continually deepened." Patterson says, "Worship is a relationship with God." He also says, "Worshipping is looking from ourselves to God, focusing on Him and presenting praise, adoration, love, submission, – worthship – from the believer to God...the benefits of worship... are the very means for developing true believers." There is no question that worship is central to the renewal and development of congregants. Equally, better worship is a sign of renewal, transformation, and growth.

Daniel explained how inspiration in worship is a means of spiritual growth. He said, "When people are inspired and you walk in the doors, you can feel it. When the spirituality is high and heightened, I think that's very key. When you have a church that is aware of its spiritual, the spiritual presence is amongst them, you're going to have church growth. People are going to come to that church." Jeremiah also emphasized the benefits of worship, "People are very involved in the worship. A lot happens in our worship service. I do the preaching. Our elders celebrate. I think that's probably the most important thing that we do for spiritual transformation and spiritual nurturing."

## Better Discipleship and Service

Ehrich states, "Also known as mission and servanthood, 'service' means giving one's life for the good of another person. It is the acting out of 'love your neighbor.'," Charles R. Swindoll says, "Christian service means invading a battleground, not a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>423</sup> MacNair, The Practices of a Healthy Church, 39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>424</sup> Patterson, Effectively Leading, 46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>425</sup> Ibid., 46-47.

<sup>426</sup> Ehrich, Church Wellness, 89.

playground, and you and I are the weapons God uses to attack and defeat the enemy."<sup>427</sup> Discipleship embodies both service and mission. When believers serve one another, they fulfill the mission of love to their neighbor. Gregg Ogden says, "All service is honorable to the Lord."<sup>428</sup> Ehrich also adds, "Service includes... doing work, making sacrifices, joining hands with others to build a house or did a trench or fight for justice. The personal dimension of service its what truly transforms both giver and receiver...Mission work matters."<sup>429</sup>

Mark explained how service has benefitted his congregation's witness to non-Christians,

They show the world that we are disciples. Jesus said "If you love one another, the world will know that you're my disciple." That's one of the things that people have told us. "We sense that you have love each other in this church, that you have a love for another. You enjoy one another. You like being around one another." That's important for people unsaved to see.

For Mark, joining hands together and being together is part of discipleship, for it is the manifestation of love among believers. Love characterizes true discipleship. Daniel says, "When we've made up our mind to be disciples, then we go on to further spiritual development... The transformation process is when we are like Jesus we really entering onto a spiritual journey. It's not until we're transformed into discipleship that we then grow in terms of our spiritual gifts."

Witmer agrees that service and discipleship fuel evangelism. He understands discipleship as a way of "Leading the people and equipping them to share the gospel of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>427</sup> Swindoll, *The Church Awakening*, 103.

<sup>428</sup> Ogden, The New Reformation, 178.

<sup>429</sup> Swindoll, The Church Awakening, 103.

Jesus-Christ with their friends and neighbors as well as supporting the cause of the advancement of his kingdom in the world."430 Matthew shared a similar experience, saying, "I discovered that basically in my people's lives, and ministry, their passion and their desire to serve God, and to get involved in various evangelistic trust and ministry." Matthew's congregants were motivated to serve after Hurricane Sandy. Matthew's description illustrates Wagner's assertion that, "God is glorified as first Peter 4:10-11 advises.",431 God is glorified through discipleship and mission as congregants show their spiritual growth through acts of service and love. Matthew continued, "That's the indication that they have come to the place where they have grown spiritually and they realized that their existence is to serve God and to serve men. Those are indicators that people are growing spiritually when they are willing and ready to go and serve wherever they are called to serve." Matthew also added, "We see also that it really, really benefits the church as it relates to soul winning because as they grow, and certainly, the people who come in the church will be able to grow with them. Anybody who's growing won't want to leave there, they are growing because there's vested interest in being here."

Peter shared how discipleship and service have spiritually benefitted his congregation. He stated, "Each individual will become a small pastor in that sense because they will be practicing reaching out, evangelizing, and witnessing. They will be practicing nurturing one another."

Joshua emphasized how service must honor God, saying, "I think the key to service is through the gifts that God gives you. You can do it two ways. You can do it

<sup>430</sup> Witmer, The Shepherd Leader, 157.

<sup>431</sup> Wagner, Your Spiritual Gifts, 43-44.

through your natural fleshly means, which brings no honor and pleasure to God, or you can allow God to equip you, surrender yourself to him and let him use you. Then I think that has far more benefits than the other." Shadrach added, "It's not about personal benefit, it's about God's kingdom benefits. The more the good news gets spread, the more the gifts are transmitted. The more transmission occurs, is more the kingdom of God is spread." God's kingdom benefits are what transformation is all about: growing, transforming and renewing ourselves for better service to others and to God. Truly transformed congregants will not and cannot help but to be true disciples of Christ and to do service to others by helping and sharing Christ's love with others in their church and community.

### Better Leadership

Better leadership is certainly a great spiritual benefit to the church. When churches have good leaders, they can realize their vision. Berlin and Weems state, "It is critical to take time to cultivate key leaders, individuals without whom the vision cannot be realized...Key leaders have to possess spiritual depth and hold a faithful and sound theology if they are to serve the church."

Matthew emphasized how better leadership benefits the church as a whole, "The benefit is, definitely, for the congregation. We have better leaders... For our leaders, them personally, it helps them not only in their leadership capability at the church but it helps them to be stronger leaders in their home, and to be stronger leaders out in the job and in the community."

-

<sup>432</sup> Berlin and Weems, *High Yield*, 78.

Shadrach described the benefits in terms of confidence. He said, "The people gain confidence in themselves. They gain confidence in their gifts. They recognize it. Then they develop it and they teach it to somebody else. Once a person gets confident, and the trickle down effect starts to happen across the board, horizontally but also vertically." Shadrach gave an example, "To look at a young lady who was afraid to dance, or to lead worship, and to call on somebody important and encourage them, and now they are worshiping and leading with confidence." Shadrach's description typifies confidence but also exemplifies delegating responsibility to others in order to make them better.

Timothy talked about better leadership and unity among the congregants. He stated, "We become like a unit. We become unbroken, we fellowship together, we tabernacle together and we dwell together. We become alike." Joshua stated, "It's not a tug of war that goes on between you and your congregants." This common understanding and bond makes leadership more effective and enhances the relationships between the leaders and the congregants. Winseman, Clifton, and Liesveld encourage pastors to recognize and celebrate others' talents and the gifts. They reference Paul's letter to the Corinthians in 1 Corinthians 12:12-27, saying, "If the Church was to be true to the purpose for which God intended it, Paul asserted, then individual talents and gifts needed to not only recognized, but celebrated... When we recognize, celebrate, and develop the diversity of talents that live among us, we are fulfilling God's purpose not just for our individual lives, but also for the church."

Berlin and Weems add,

There are many benefits to effective delegation. You maximize your time for the tasks only you can do. You can utilize the gifts of those with knowledge you do

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>433</sup> Winseman, Clifton, and Liesveld, *Living Your Strength*, 201, 203.

not have. You help others develop new skills and knowledge. You motivate others as you trust them with important tasks. You increase chances for success through more involvement.<sup>434</sup>

# More Effective Pastoral Leadership

As the literature review explored, Peter White explains that nurturing leadership is caring leadership. White states,

The fifth service that caring renders is to lead. A spiritual shepherd leads them out... The responsibility to include leading as part of pastoral care (nurturing) is present whenever scripture covers the subject. The pastor gives a lead whether he likes it or not. The mind-set and progress of a congregation is more influenced by the leadership than by any other single factor. 435

I understand that leadership is precisely called caring. Effective leadership is nurturing leadership. Barbara J. Bloodgett writes, "effective congregations are led by effective ministers." As part of the pastors' effective leadership, Woodruf says, "Pastors are also expected to set the vision for the church as part of the leadership ability and responsibility."

Timothy explained how nurturing leadership made him a more effective pastor, and his response overlaps with Woodruf's stance. Timothy stated, "One of the main benefits is the Lord has given the vision to the main leader, such as myself, any leadership, you pass that down, now, to the congregants. The main vision is here, but everyone else, where the Lord speaks to them, they tie right back into the main vision." Timothy confirmed what Keith Lamdin states, "it is the leader's task to craft the vision

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>434</sup> Berlin and Weems, *High Yield*, 89.

<sup>435</sup> White, The Effective Pastor, 102.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>436</sup> Bloodgett, *Becoming The Pastor You Hope to Be*, 3.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>437</sup> Woodruf, "Executive Pastors' Perception of Leadership and Management Competencies Needed for Local Church Administration."

and explain it and keep it ever before the minds of those with whom the leader works."<sup>438</sup> Pastors, as nurturing spiritual leaders, must make a commitment to lead their congregants for effective ministry through vision.

Peter shared, "I will be in connection with my people. I will not be so far away from them. Also helping me to be humble, remembering that I'm one of the broken people too if God did not come and do all of this." Peter experienced the benefit of effective leadership in terms of his relationship with congregants. Paul W. Abramowitz discusses the importance of having nurturing relationship. He states, "Over time I realized that, while these attributes are important, the most motivated and productive members of my staff were often those who had strong relationships with others with whom or for whom they worked." Abramowitz continued, "As I matured as a manager, I realized that my time spent developing, maintaining, and cultivating these relationships was time well spent." For Peter, growing through meaningful relationships epitomized effective leadership.

Daniel shared how nurturing leadership helped him grow. He said,

Because you get what you give. When you are trying to help someone grow, when you are nurturing them, when you are feeding them, then you go and eat a little bit yourself. As you teach, as you counsel, as you help people grow in terms of their spiritual understanding, you are certainly going to grow in terms of your own spiritual understanding.

Matthew responded similarly, "It makes me more effective in that I nurture and I am being nurtured also. Not only do I nurture my congregation, there are times when they

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>438</sup> Lamdin, Finding Your Leadership Style, 19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>439</sup> Abramowitz "Nurturing Relationships: An Essential Ingredient of Leadership."

<sup>440</sup> Ibid

nurture me. Every church that I've been to, they have made me a stronger pastor." These participants' experiences indicate that there are great benefits in growing others. Leaders who grow others also grow in the process. Pastors should do their best to utilize the best nurturing leadership skills when growing congregants for it is one of the best ways for them to be effective and grow. Jeremiah stated,

Nurturing ministry keeps a person focused as opposed to institution. It keeps his spirit focused as opposed to program. Nurturing ministry, I think, is more like the way the Lord Jesus is incarnational... To me, it feels more like the New Testament. That's the way Paul did his ministry and that's the way the Lord Jesus did his ministry. Yes, there is the giving of the word. Paul preached. He always preached to his people.

Mark responded,

Just being a responsible leader. I would say just be responsible for what God's called you to do. If he's called us to handle the Word of God in a proper way, to hold people accountable with the Word of God. Shepherding, leading, lead people in a certain way. Yeah, that's what's I want to do, but it's not always something that they perceive as good until they allow that God word to effect in their lives. Yeah, nurturing. Growing.

Similar to Jeremiah and Mark, Richard Patterson explains the benefits of nurturing leadership, writing,

Using the nurturing and equipping of others as measuring tools of one's leadership ability was also a Pauline principle. Paul told Timothy that how well he developed others was a strong indication of how effective he was as a leader. Paul carefully explained that he must use great care in selecting, nurturing, and equipping each person he placed into church ministry.<sup>441</sup>

Nurturing leadership, in order to be effective, must be scriptural in following Christ's and Paul's example of shepherding, leading, equipping, and caring for God's flock.

Joshua shared how nurturing leadership makes him a better pastor,

I think it makes me... Well of course, I'm reluctant to say a better pastor. I think a more effective pastor, more effective. The effectiveness of ministry should be

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>441</sup> Patterson, *Effectively Leading*, 52.

determined by changed lives, not by any external thing like how much they put in the plate on Sunday, but their changed lives. I witnessed that over and over again throughout the years in my ministry. Not as much I would like it, but I witnessed it in a number of individuals, and I thank God for that.

Shadrach also shared his view on the effectiveness of nurturing leadership, "In a community anyone that uses their gifts to nurture, to develop, to achieve transformation is leaving a legacy on the lives of people who might be able to help them find themselves."

Patterson says, "in order to be effective, each leader needs to be: a person of vision, action, steadfastness, servanthood, and dependence. Effective church leaders are not born – they are developed... to be an effective leader requires that these God-given leadership characteristics be developed." I would add, effective leadership must show nurturing leadership ability. It is the ability to renew and develop congregants for transformation and growth.

Overall, the literature review and interviews revealed that there is a need for nurturing leadership in the pastorate. Nurture is interconnected with leadership ability, caring, development, renewal, transformation, and growth. This knowledge and the understanding of this critical ministry skill is paramount to the transformation and growth of the congregants in the church.

### **Recommendations for Practice**

In light of these findings, I offer recommendation that may help ministry practitioners who want to develop their congregants.

First, it is important to know that this research can be used across all denominations for effective nurturing leadership practice. This research was conducted

<sup>442</sup> Patterson. Effectively Leading, 8.

with the intent to be used for any church, regardless of the denominations, groups, or ministries.

Second, pastors are advised to familiarize themselves with the term nurturing and to make it the common language of their congregants. Nurturing will not take place in a vacuum. Pastors and congregants alike need to make it the vocabulary of the people.

Third, make renewal a continuous cycle and constant practice. Similar to the history of the church, congregants go through a cyclical pattern and must be renewed on a constant basis. Growth is often possible when there is renewal.

Fourth, pray, teach, and preach about the spiritual gifts. Teach the gifts according to the biblical understanding of what they are. Make a chart and create a list of what the gifts are, and post them in visible locations in the church building. Encourage and require people to become familiarize with the gifts. Help them discover their own gifts.

Fifth, since the gifts can never be fully developed, as the findings revealed, continue to grow. There should be a common practice among pastors to make it a priority to continue leading their congregants to spiritual growth in their giftedness.

Sixth, the findings reveal that all churches do not all use the same gifts. It is recommended that pastors and congregants use the gifts that are mostly relevant and appropriate to their ministry context.

Seventh, pastors should identify other hidden gifts other than the spiritual gifts described in the Bible and to have the congregants use those gifts to better the church and the community in which they serve.

#### **Recommendations for Further Research**

This study focused on how senior pastors develop their congregants through nurturing leadership. As with any study, there are limitations as to how extensive the focus can be. Therefore, the following areas of study are recommended.

First, more research and more books are needed in the area of nurturing leadership as it relates to spiritual renewal and spiritual gifts development. Pastors should have access to more literature in the area of nurturing leadership in order to have better skills to develop their congregants. Second, the findings reveal that gifts can never be fully developed. A more in-depth research study is needed to find out if there is an alternative to that conclusion.

Last, but not least, I would like to propose the following books for the reader who want to explore more on the topics of nurturing, renewal and spiritual gifts development: Church Wellness: A Best Practices Guide to Nurturing Healthy Congregations by Tom Ehrich, Dynamics of Spiritual Life: An Evangelical Theology of Renewal by Richard F. Lovelace, Effectively Leading: A Guide For All Church Leaders by Richard Patterson, Spiritual Entrepreneurs: 6 Principles For Risking Renewal by Michael Slaughter, Pathway to Renewal: Practical Steps for Congregations by Daniel P. Smith and Mary K. Sellon, Your Spiritual Gifts: Can Help Your Church Grow by Peter C. Wagner, The Shepherd Leader: Achieving Effective Shepherding in Your Church by Timothy Z. Witmer, The Effective Pastor by Peter White. These eight books will be very instrumental to anyone in their pursuit of learning more about nurturing leadership.

#### Conclusion

This qualitative research study has confirmed that pastors need nurturing leadership skills in order to develop congregants in spiritual renewal. The findings show what many of the scholars have suggested and proposed in the different literatures about nurturing leadership. When I set to research on the topic of nurturing leadership, I knew the findings would be very instrumental to various ministry leaders. Though there have been separate studies done on nurturing, renewal, and spiritual gifts development, this research study specifically focused upon nurturing leadership as a way of helping congregants to develop through spiritual renewal and spiritual gifts development.

This study shows that nurturing and spiritual renewal are critical to the development of congregants, and their spiritual gifts. It also shows that through the utilization of the gifts more and more spiritual growth takes place. In that context, this research study provides ministry leaders tools to better equip pastors for more successful and effective leadership in their ministry practice. In light of what the scholars have said and what this research study finds, it is paramount that pastors prioritize developing and growing their congregants through a nurturing leadership in order to be effective in their ministry.

In conclusion, the researcher hopes this study with its findings will enable pastors and researchers alike to have a better tool to develop congregants through nurturing leadership. It is also the hope of the researcher that this study will further equip pastors to be more effective nurturing leaders as they develop their congregants.

# **Bibliography**

- Abramowitz, Paul W. "Nurturing Relationships: An Essential Ingredient of Leadership." American Journal of Health-System Pharmacy 58 (March 2001): 479-484.
- Agan, Jimmy. *The Imitation of Christ in the Gospel of Luke, Growing in Christlike Love for God and Neighbor*. Phillipsburg, NJ: P&R Publishing Company, 2014.
- Ayer, Jim and Janene Ayer. *Your Journey to Transformation: A 12-Week Study Guide.* Hagerstown, MD: Review and Herald Publishing Association, 2013.
- Barrett, Frank J. Yes to The Mess: Surprising Leadership Lessons From Jazz. Boston: Harvard Business Review Press, 2012.
- Berkley, James D. *Leadership Handbook of Management and Administration*. Grand Rapids, MI: Baker Books, 2007.
- Berlin, Tom, and Lovett H. Weems Jr. *High Yield, Seven Disciplines of the Fruitful Leader*. Nashville: Abingdon Press, 2014.
- Bloodgett, Barbara J. *Becoming The Pastor You Hope to Be: Four Practices for Improving Ministry*. Herndon, VA: Alban Institute, 2011.
- Boa, Kenneth. Conformed to His Image, Biblical and Practical Approach to Spiritual Formation. Grand Rapids, MI: Zondervan, 2001.
- Burns, Bob, Tasha D. Chapman, and Donald C. Guthrie. *Resilient Ministry*. Downers Grove, IL: Intervarsity Press, 2013.
- Carroll, Jackson W. "The More Things Change...": Pastoral Leadership for the 21<sup>st</sup> Century. www.pulpitandpew.org. Accessed August 31, 2016. http://pulpitandpew.org/sites/all/themes/pulpitandpew/files/Claremont.pdf.
- Carson, D. A., Mark Ashton, Kent Hughes, and Timothy Keller. *Worship by the Book*. Grand Rapids, MI: Zondervan, 2002.
- Chapman, Bob, and Raj Sisodia. Everybody Matters: The Extraordinary Power of Caring For Your People Like Family. New York: Portfolio/Penguin, 2015.
- Coutts, John. "A Theological Approach to Pastoral Leadership Today." www.ministrymagazine.org. November 2008. Accessed September 1, 2016. https://www.ministrymagazine.org/archive/2008/11/a-theological-approach-to-pastoral-leadership-today.html.

- Damazio, Frank. *Life Changing Leadership: Identifying and Developing Your Team Full Potential.* Ventura, CA: Regal From Gospel Light, 2013.
- Doriani, Daniel M. *Putting the Truth to Work: The Theory and Practice of Biblical Application*. Phillipsburg, NJ: P&R Publishing Company, 2001.
- Douglass, Philip. "Emmanuel-Renewal." PowerPoint Presentation, Covenant Theological Seminary, St. Louis, July 2014.
- \_\_\_\_\_\_. "Training Lay-leaders." PowerPoint Presentation, Covenant Theological Seminary, St. Louis, August 2014.
- Duch, Robert G. Successful Parish Leadership: Nurturing the Animated Parish. Kansas City: Sheed & Ward, 1990.
- Ehrich, Tom. *Church Wellness: A Best Practices Guide to Nurturing Healthy Congregations*. New York: Church Publishing Incorporated, 2008.
- Fitzgerald, Meghan M., and Rachel Theilheimer. "Moving Toward Teamwork Through Professional Development Activities." *Early Childhood Educational Journal* 41, no. 2 (Mar 2013): 103-113.
- Friedman, Edwin H. *A Failure of Nerve: Leadership in Age of Quick Fix.* New York: Seabury Books, 2007.
- Goheen, Michael W. *Introducing Christian Today: Scripture, History and Issues*. Downers Grove, IL: Inter Varsity Press, 2014.
- Hall, Brian. "Leadership Development and Spiritual Growth," *Anglican Theological Review* (June 1984): 100-121.
- Hall, John. "Don't Silence Your Team: Nurture Your Employees to Become Thought Leaders." www.forbes.com. September 2015. Accessed October 25, 2016. http://www.forbes.com/sites/Johnhall/2015/09/27/dont-silence-your-team-nurture-your-employees-to-become-thought-leaders/#7410130f497c.
- Harnish, James A. *You Only Have To Die: Leading Your Congregation to New Life.* Nashville: Abingdon Press, 2004.
- Herrington, Jim R., Robert Creech, and Trisha Taylor. *The Leader's Journey: Accepting The Call to Personal and Congregational Transformation*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 2003.
- Hinkle, James A. Developing Church Leaders: Understanding and Nurturing Leadership In The Local Church. Grand Rapids, MI: Zondervan, 2011.

- Hung, David, Der-Thanq 'Victor' Chen, and Thiam Seng Koh. "The Process of Nurturing a Community of Practice." *Educational Media International* 43, no. 4 (December 2006): 269-270.
- Kallestead, Walt. *Turn Your Church Inside Out: Building A Community For Others*. Minneapolis: Augsburg Press, 2001.
- Keller, Timothy. Center Church: Doing Balanced, Gospel-Centered Ministry in Your City. Grand Rapids, MI: Zondervan, 2012.
- Kohn, Dan. The Resilient Pastor: Maintaining "Bounce" through Balance & Boundaries in Faithful Ministry and Marriage. New York: W W Press, 2003.
- Kouzes, James M., and Barry Z. Posner. *Christian Reflections on Leadership Challenge*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 2004.
- Kreider, Larry. Authentic Spiritual Mentoring: Nurturing Younger Believers Toward Spiritual Maturity. Ventura, CA: Regal From Gospel Light, 2008.
- Lamdin, Keith. *Finding Your Leadership Style: A Guide For Ministers*. London: Society For Promoting Christian Knowledge, 2012.
- Lovelace, Richard F. *Dynamics of Spiritual Life: An Evangelical Theology of Renewal.*Downers Grove, IL: Intervarsity, 1979.
- Lummis, Adair T. "What Do Lay People Want in Pastors," *Pulpit &Pew*, no. 3 (Spring 2003): 1-39.
- MacNair, Donald J. *The Practices of a Healthy Church: Biblical Strategies for Vibrant Church Life and Ministry.* Phillipsburg, NJ: P&R Publishing, 1999.
- McRae, Bruce. *Church Revitalization, Individual and Corporate Renewal*, PowerPoint Presentation. Covenant Theological Seminary. St. Louis. July 31, 2014.
- Marshall, Howard. *Beyond the Bible, Moving From Scripture to Theology*. Grand Rapids, MI: Baker Academic Publishing Group, 2004.
- Maxwell, John C. *How Successful People Lead*. New York: Hachette Book Group, Inc. 2013.
- \_\_\_\_\_. Developing the Leaders Around You: How to Help Others Reach Their Full Potential. Nashville: Thomas Nelson Inc., 1995.
- Merriam, Sharan B. *Qualitative Research: A Guide to Design and Implementation*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass, 2009.

- Miller, C. John. *Outgrowing the Ingrown Church*. Grand Rapids, MI: Zondervan, 1999.
- Mulholland, M. Robert, Jr., *Invitation to a Journey: A Road Map for Spiritual Formation*. Downers Grove, IL: Inter Varsity Press, 1993.
- Murray, Andrew. *With Christ in the School of Prayer*. Middletown, DE: Merchant Books, 2013.
- Newcomer, Jason M, Sandra Kolberg, and Jon M. Corey. "Leadership Development." *Air & Space Power Journal* 28, no. 5 (September 2014): 73-90.
- Nohria, Nitin, and Rakesh Khurana. *Handbook of Leadership Theory and Practice*. Boston: Harvard Business Press, 2010.
- Ogden, Greg. *The New Reformation: Returning the Ministry to the People*. Grand Rapids, MI: Zondervan, 1990.
- \_\_\_\_\_. *Transforming Discipleship: Making Disciples a Few at a Time*. Downers Groove, IL: Intervarsity Press, 2003.
- Patterson, Richard. *Effectively Leading: A Guide For All Church Leaders*. Wheaton, IL: Evangelical Training Association, 1992.
- Powers, Bruce C. *Christian Education Handbook*. Nashville: Broadman & Holman Publishers, 1996.
- Puccio, Gerard J., Marie Mance, and Mary C. Murdock. *Creative Leadership: Skills That Drive Change*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc., 2011.
- Quick, Michael J., 360-Degree Leadership: Preaching to Transform Congregations. Grand Rapids, MI: Baker Books, 2006.
- Rardin, Richard. The Servant's Guide To Leadership. Winnipeg: Selah Publishing, 2001.
- Rex, Edward D. "The Pastor as Church Administrator." *Ministry Internal Journal for Pastors* (November 1975): 1-3.
- Rath, Tom. Strengths Finder 2.0. New York: Gallup Press, 2007.
- Richards, Lawrence O., and Clyde Hoeldtke. *A Theology of Church Leadershi*p. Grand Rapids, MI: Zondervan Publishing House, 1980.
- Schnase, Robert. *Five Practices of Fruitful Congregations*. Nashville: Abingdon Press, 2007.
- Sherman, Amy L. *Kingdom Calling: Vocational Stewardship for the Common Good.*Downer Grove, IL: Intervarsity Press, 2011.

- Slaughter, Michael. *Spiritual Entrepreneurs: 6 Principles For Risking Renewal.*Nashville: Abingdon Press, 1995.
- Smith, Daniel P., and Mary K. Sellon. *Pathway to Renewal: Practical Steps for Congregations*. Herndon, VA: The Alban Institute, 2008.
- Smith, James Bryan. A Spiritual Formation Workbook: Small-Group Resources For Nurturing Christian Growth. A Renovare Resource For Spiritual Renewal. Englewood, CO: Harper Collins Publisher, 1993.
- Storms, Sam. Signs of the Spirit: An Interpretation of Jonathan Edwards' Religious Affections. Wheaton, IL: Crossway, 2007.
- Strommen, Merton P. *The Innovative Church: Seven Steps to Positive Change in our Congregation*. Minneapolis: Augburg Fortress, 1997.
- Swindoll, Charles R. *The Church Awakening: An Urgent Call to Renewal*. New York: FaithWords Hachettes Book Group, 2010.
- Wagner, Peter C. *Your Spiritual Gifts: Can Help Your Church Grow.* Ventura, CA: Regal Books From Gospel Light, 2005.
- Weems, Lovett H. Jr., *Church Leadership: Vision, Team Culture and Integrity.* Nashville: Abingdon Press, 1993.
- . Church Leadership: Vision, Team Culture and Integrity. Revised Edition. Nashville: Abingdon Press, 2010.
- White, Peter. *The Effective Pastor: Get the Tools to Upgrade Your Ministry*. London: Christian Focus Publications, 2002.
- Willard, Dallas. *The Spirit of the Disciplines: Understanding How God Changes Lives.* New York: Harper Collins Publishers, 1988.
- Winseman, Albert L., Donald O. Clifton, Curt Liesveld. *Living Your Strengths: Discover Your God-given Talents and Inspire Your Community.* New York: Gallup Press, 2004.
- Witmer, Timothy Z. *The Shepherd Leader: Achieving Effective Shepherding in Your Church.* Philipsburg, NJ: P&R Publishing.
- Woodruf, Tim. "Executive Pastors' Perception of Leadership and Management Competencies Needed for Local Church Administration." www.xpastor.org. December 2012. Accessed August 31, 2016. https://www.xpastor.org/new-xp/church-business/executive-pastors-perception-of-leadership-and-management-competencies-needed-for-local-church-administration/.

- Wright, Christopher J. H. *The Mission of God's People: A Biblical Theology of the Churches Mission*. Grand Rapids, MI: Zondervan, 2010.
- Zachariah, John. *In Search of Christian Leadership Character*. Vol. 1. Kashmere Gate, Delhi: Saurabh Printers, 2014.